



# System Functions User Manual

Copyright © 2023 by Samco Software Inc. Revised 6/20/2023

PROPRIETARY RIGHTS NOTICE: All rights reserved. No part of this material may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, or otherwise, including photocopying and recording or in connection with any information storage or retrieval system, without the permission in writing from SAMCO Software Inc.

SAMCO Software Inc. ("SAMCO") has taken reasonable preventative measure to ensure the accuracy of the information contained in this manual. However, SAMCO makes no warranties or representations with respect to the information contained herein; and SAMCO shall not be liable for damages resulting from any errors or omissions herein or from the use of the information contained in this manual.

SAMCO is a registered trademark of SAMCO Software Inc., 8661 - 201<sup>st</sup> Street, 2<sup>nd</sup> Floor, Langley, BC V2Y 0G9, Canada. Telephone (604) 597-4211 <u>http://www.samco.com</u>

Other product and company names are trademarks of their respective corporations





## **Table of Contents**

System Functions
User Manual
Table of Contentsi
Chapter 1 Getting Started
Quick Start
Detailed Set Up
Samco Support
Chapter 2 General Rules
Chapter 3 Starting Up7
Chapter 4 Jump (F3) 10
Chapter 5 System Information (F4)
Chapter 6 Extended Functions Window
1. System Gateway 15
2. Calculator
3. Personal Notepad17
4. System Notepad 19
5. Calendar
6. View User Activity
7. Phone Book
8. Messages
A. Find Valid Accounts
C. Find Customers
E. Find Employees
F. Fax Memo
G. Find GL Accounts
I. Find Items
J. Find Orders
K. Find Item Keyword
L. Item labels
P. PO Information
Q. Quick Customer Labels
R. Unit Conversion Table
S. Scheduler
V. Find Vendors
W. Warehouse detail

System Functions Samco Power Accounting Table of Contents i

Alarms	. 50
Chapter 7 Find (?)	. 52
Chapter 8 System Functions Menu	. 55
Chapter 9 Reports from Disk	. 56
Printing a list of disk reports	. 56
Reports for Which Company	. 57
Reports for Which Module	
Show Only Stacked Reports?	. 57
Stacking reports for printing	. 57
Reports for Which Company	. 58
Reports for Which Module	. 58
Printing stacked reports	. 59
Printing a report log	. 59
Chapter 10 Company Data	. 61
To Begin	. 61
Document Management	. 65
Printing to the X Printer:	. 69
User Interface	
Account Number Structure	. 73
Modules to Display	. 75
Chapter 11 Valid Sections	. 76
What is an account section?	
What is a validated section?	. 76
Chapter 12 Note Types	. 77
Chapter 13 Taxes	
Tax Types	
Taxable Codes	. 79
Tax Groups	. 79
Taxable Codes	
Tax Group Related Codes	
Warehouse Related Codes	
Ship-to tax groups	. 83
Chapter 14 Conversion Codes	. 85
Chapter 15 Color Schemes	. 86
Linux / UNIX / AIX Set Up	. 86
Chapter 16 Users	. 87
Upgrading the password security method	. 87
Entering users	. 89
Printing a User List	
Chapter 17 Stations	
Entering stations	
Printing a station list	. 98
Chapter 18 Multiple Companies	100
Chapter 19 Printers	101
Printers Features Types	102
Printing a features type list	
Printers Types	102
PostScript Printers	
Entering Control Codes	103

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

ii

Table of Contents

PostScript Printer Definitions	106
Print a printer type list	110
eSend formats	110
System Printers	110
Print system printers list	110
Local Printers	
Local Printers vs. System Printers	110
Print local printers list	110
Chapter 20 File Utilities	111
Exporting a data file	111
Restoring an exported file	114
Rebuilding a file	
Chapter 21 Change Company Number	118
Chapter 22 Update Programs	
Chapter 23 Update Licensed Users	
Chapter 24 View/Print License Agreement	
Chapter 25 Create Demo Company	
Chapter 26 Serialize Modules	123
Chapter 27 Customization	
Chapter 28 Run Special Programs	125
Chapter 29 Close Period by Module	
Chapter 30 Workstation Setup	
For Windows and Thin Client installations:	
Chapter 31 SAMCO Automated Manuals (SAM)	
How SAM is structured	
Navigating through SAM	
Searching for information	
Appendix "A" Technical Information	
Error handling	
Configuration File: Technical Data	
File Name Assignments and Search Paths	
Accessing Printers	
Other Configuration File Entries	
Terminal Manager for Linux / UNIX, VMS, and AOS/VS	
Defining Terminals in a_termcap	
File Utility Programs	
Appendix "B" Handling Taxes	
Alberta Taxes (GST Only)	
GST + Provincial Sales Tax	
Multiple Provinces	
Multiple Warehouses	
Environmental Taxes (Unit or Piece Taxes)	
Reporting Taxes	169

Table of Contents





## **Chapter 1 Getting Started**

This guide is designed to assist you in understanding the global (common) functions available to you in all the SAMCO Power Accounting software modules. As well, if you are a first-time user of SAMCO Power Accounting business applications software, this guide will provide you with the steps necessary to set up your system.

## Keywords

Following are definitions of key words used in this manual.

#### Field

A "field" (sometimes called a "data field") is a collection of one or more characters representing a single piece of data. For example, a name, a date, and a dollar amount are all fields.

### Record

A "record" is a collection of one or more related fields. For example, the fields representing a customer's name address, and account balance could be grouped together into a record called the "customer record".

#### Data files

A "data file" is a collection of one or more related records. It is often referred to simply as a "file" (without the word "data").

The Employee file is an example of a data file. Such a file could be made up of several records, each of which contained the name, address, social insurance number, birth date, marital status, pay rate, etc., for one employee.

Each file is kept separately from other information on the hard disk. (There are other types of files in addition to data files. For example, programs are stored on the disk as "program files". However, references to "file" in this User Manual mean "data file" unless specifically stated otherwise.)

### Alphanumeric

When this manual refers to an "alphanumeric" entry, it means that the entry can be letters of the alphabet, numerals (numbers), special symbols (\*, &, %, \$, etc.) or any combination of all three

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

1.1

kinds. In contrast, if an entry is specified as "numeric" (or stated as "5 digits", for example"), only numbers can be used.

## **Multi- Company**

"Multi- Company" refers to the capability to do accounting functions for multiple companies with the same software modules. A user who wants to do accounting functions for more than one company on Power Accounting can select the "multi- company" option.

## **Password protection**

You have the option to specify that passwords are required. A password is a unique code you assign to each individual user. When passwords are required, each potential user must first enter a valid password before he or she will be allowed to continue. The password assigned to each individual controls that person's access to the functions listed on the main menu of any module, as well as the *Extended Functions* window.

## **Quick Start**

For the more advanced user, here is a quick rundown of the steps necessary to set up the system:

- 1. Start up the software using the *MENU* command.
- 2. From the *System Functions* menu select *Multi-companies* and set up the companies for which you will be working with.
- 3. For each company you set up in step 2 above, do the rest of the steps below.
- 4. From the *System Functions* menu select *Company data* and set up the company information and create data files for the modules you have installed.
- 5. From the *System Functions* menu setup the selections below that apply to your installation:
  - Printers
  - Users
  - Stations
  - · Passwords
  - · Color schemes
  - Taxes

All of the information set up in these functions will apply to <u>all</u> companies you created in 2 steps above.

- 6. From the *System Functions* menu select *Valid sections* and set up the section values for validated GL account sections (if applicable).
- 7. From the *System Functions* menu select *Valid GL accounts* and set up your valid GL accounts list (if using the General Ledger module, this step can be skipped and automated using the GL *Set up procedures*).

8.

If you require assistance with any of the steps outlined above, you may want to refer to the *Detailed Set Up* section in this chapter for further explanation.

## **Detailed Set Up**

By this point, SAMCO Power Accounting should have been installed on your server or workstation.

This section will provide you with step-by-step instructions on setting up your SAMCO applications software.

## Step 1: Starting Up

To start SAMCO Power Accounting system, change to the directory where you installed your SAMCO applications software (i.e. C:\SSI, /usr/ssi (Linux) etc.). Next, type the following command:

### MENU

If you are on a multi-user system, be sure that you are logged in as a user with the necessary privileges to run the software (not the root user or system administrator).

You will now see the System Functions menu and you are now ready to begin adding companies and setting up the system.

### **Step 2: Multi-companies**

Set up company ID's for each company you will be keeping accounting data for. For instructions on this function please refer to the chapter titled *Multi-Company Data* in this guide.

We highly recommend that you set up a specific company ID for your accounting data even if you are planning on running only one company -- this will allow you to set up separate company data for testing and experimenting without interfering with your regular data.

### **Step 3: Printers**

Printers must be: Laser - PCL5 and Postscript compatible

Using the *System printers* function; (under the *Printers* menu selection), set up all of the printers which will be accessible to <u>all</u> users on the system. As well, if you have a specialty printer which is not listed in the *Printer types* function, you can use this function to set it up.

UNIX, XENIX and Linux users can also set up local printers attached to terminals through the *Local printers* function (under the *Printers* menu selection).

In addition to the above, you may also want to incorporate special printing features (such as fonts). This is initially set up using the *Printer feature types* and then adjusted for each printer using the *Printer types* function. These functions can be found under the *Printers* menu selection in *System Functions*.

Refer to the chapters titled *System Printers*, *Local Printers*, *Printer feature types* and *Printer Types* in this guide for detailed instructions on setting up your printers.

## **Step 4: Color Schemes**

If you have a computer or terminal that supports color display, you may want to set up the colors you prefer displayed. The system comes with some default color schemes for you to choose from to speed up the set up process.

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

1.3

Refer to the chapter titled *Color Schemes* in this guide for detailed instructions.

#### **Step 5: Company Specific Information**

Repeat the next 5 steps for setting up your company ID's that were set up in **Step 2: Multi-companies**. When you are finished, go to step 11 to complete the initial set up.

### **Step 6: Change Company Numbers**

From the *System Functions* menu displayed, select *Change company ID*, and enter the next company ID you want to set up.

### Step 7: Company Data

In this step we will be setting up company information, initializing data files, determining our GL account structure, and giving the system a few hints about how you want things done.

From the menu displayed select *Company data*. Please refer now to the chapter titled <u>*Company Data*</u> for detailed instructions on setting up your company file.

#### Step 8: Users, Stations, Passwords

Now that your company information is entered, and your data files prepared for use, you can now begin setting up the users who will be on the system, the stations they work at (if applicable), the passwords they use, and their level of security.

Please refer now to the chapters below in the order they appear and follow their instructions:

- Users
- Stations
- <u>Passwords</u>

Note, if you are not using stations, users, or passwords you can skip this step.

### Step 9: Valid Sections & GL Accounts

Once your users are set up you can now set up your valid sections and the GL accounts that will be shared by the sub-ledgers (inventory, payables, receivables, payroll etc.) in that order. If you are using General Ledger you can skip past setting up the valid GL accounts file as there is a special routine in the GL module which allows you to create your valid GL accounts file from your chart of accounts file.

Also, if you are not validating section values (as set up in your company file), you do not have to set up the valid sections file.

Please refer now to the following chapters in the order they appear below:

- Valid Sections
- Valid GL Accounts

## Step 10: Taxes

Depending on the modules you have installed, you will need to set up how your company deals with sales taxes. Obviously, if you are using only the GL module, sales taxes do apply and this step can be skipped.

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

1.4

Refer to the chapter titled *Taxes* in this guide for detailed instructions.

## Step 11: That's It!

You can now return to **Step 6: Change Company Numbers** and repeat these steps for each company you set up in **Step 2: Multi-companies**.

If you have finished setting up your companies you can now begin setting up each SAMCO module installed. We highly recommend that you review the first few chapters of each application to gain a basic overview of which modules should be set up first.

If you are using the General Ledger module, you should set your *Chart of Accounts* first before anything else, and then creating your valid GL accounts from this file.

## Samco Support

The user manuals are designed to allow you to use Samco's Power Accounting application software without any additional help. However, if you encounter problems you cannot resolve by referring to these manuals, you may want to get additional assistance. Your supplier should be able to provide such assistance, or he may be able to recommend an independent source.

### Samco Help Desk

8661 – 201st Street, 2nd Floor Langley, BC V2Y 0G9 Canada Phone:(604) 597 4211 E-mail: support@samco.com Web: <u>http://www.samco.com</u>

Samco provides support on **a fee-for-service basis.** Please ensure that you have the software release, serial number(s), media type, payment information (Visa or MasterCard) and other related information available when you call.

For a detailed description of Samco's support and Customer services, please check out our web site at http://www.samco.com.

You may go to your own dealer for training; however, if your dealer does not offer training, call Samco at (800) 663-2080, for information and cost.

System Functions Samco Power Accounting





## **Chapter 2 General Rules**

This chapter contains a description of the rules that apply throughout the functions in the SAMCO modules. Areas covered include the menu styles, data entry conventions, the usage of various keys, and certain guidelines to follow when using the software.

### Menus

A "menu" is a list of things from which something can be selected. Nearly all of the functions of the SAMCO modules are shown on their menu, which is displayed when you start the module. SAMCO provides you with five different menu types to choose from:

- Pull Down
- Overlay
- Pop Up
- Menu Select
- Original

To change to a different type of menu, press [F1] while at any menu and select a different style.

General Rules





## **Chapter 3 Starting Up**

This chapter provides you with instructions on starting the SAMCO Power Accounting software application and accessing the main menu. The main menu displays the modules (General Ledger, Accounts Receivable etc.) available for your use.

The menu displayed on your screen depends on the SAMCO modules you have installed or which one of the modules you are using to perform your tasks.

## Step 1: Start Up

## If you're running Power Accounting under Windows:

Click on Start » Programs » SAMCO Power Accounting » SAMCO Power Accounting.

## If you're running Linux, XENIX, UNIX, AIX, HP/UX, DG/UX etc.:

You must change directories to the directory where you installed your software by typing:

cd /usr/ssi

(Or whatever top level directory you are using). This changes the current directory to "/usr/ssi", where the module is installed.

Next, type:

## MENU

If you are logged in as the "root" user, replace the above command with ./MENU to access the SAMCO applications software.

Additionally; UNIX/XENIX- understand the difference between upper and lower case, so be certain that MENU is upper-case.

A copyright screen appears. If you agree with the terms of the copyright, continue on by pressing **[Enter]** and move on to **Step 2**.

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

3.7

Starting Up

## Step 2: Company ID

If you are using the multi- company feature of Power Accounting (see the chapter titled *Multiple Companies*), you will next be asked to enter the Company-ID. This is a 2-character code specifying the company you want to process.

**NOTE:** This code should previously be set up in the Multi- Company file as described later on in this guide.

Enter the code, press **[Enter]**. You are then asked "RIGHT COMPANY?" If it is, press **[Enter]** to default to **Y**; if not, answer **N** and enter the Company-ID of the right company.

If you do not know the number of the company you wish to process, you may enter a [?] at the company number prompt. The system will then bring up a window containing those companies which have been set up through multiple companies.

## Step 3: Login

Before you can use the application you will be asked to enter your user id and password. If you enter the wrong password, an error message will display, and you'll be given another chance to enter the correct password. You may exit at this point by pressing **[Tab]**.

If you are using an older version of SAMCO Power Accounting this process may begin by asking for your password and then your user id/initials. If you enter a user id for a user not set up in Users, you may be prompted "User not defined, do you wish to override?" answer  $\mathbf{Y}$  to continue or enter  $\mathbf{N}$  to re-enter your initials. If you are using this older access control method it is highly recommended that you update your Samco Power Accounting security, this process is outlined in the chapter titled *Users*.

## **Step 5: Station**

You may now be prompted to enter the station you are working at. Enter the code for the station you are working at or press **[F1]** for the "main" station (if you're not asked for a station, go on to the next step).

## Step 6: Main Menu

The SAMCO main menu is displayed (depending on the menu style and modules you have installed, your menu may appear slightly different to the example below).

M 33:5F-Samcomain menu Bie Edit AR IC OE SA AP PC GL FA IC PO BR ♥ S S S S = ≠ √ St → ↑ ♦   C C C = 0   1		- 0 🞫
SAMCO Power Accounting	Your Company Nam	e Here.
Please selec	ct 📕	
1. Accounts Receivable	15. Point of Sale	
2. Inventory Management	16. Report Writer	
3. Billing	17. Time and Attendance	
4. Sales Analysis	18. Trucking Manager	
5. Accounts Payable	19. Equity Manager	
6. Payroll	20. Personnel Manager	
7. General Ledger	21. Service Manager	
8. Fixed Assets	22. Purchasing	
9. Job Cost	23. Global/DX	
10. Purchase Order	24. Scheduler	
11. Bank Reconciliation	25. Multi-site	
12. Professional Invoicing	26. MenuPoint	
13. Custom Labels	27. Contact Manager	
14. FishPro	*28. System Functions	
Make a selection, or F11 for help at a	any time	
Make a selection, or F11 for help at a	any time	

## Where to next?

If you are new to SAMCO Power Accounting, we recommend that you read this guide first before working with any of the applications modules. This will give you a good idea about how the system works, where programs reside, and the keys used in various functions.





## Chapter 4 Jump (F3)

The *Jump* function allows you to freely move from one module to another without exiting out of the <u>menu</u> or <u>sub-menu</u> currently displayed on your screen. If wanted to jump to General Ledger you could do this by pressing the *Jump* key, **[F3]** and entering **GL**, the General Ledger menu would appear. Note that you must be at a menu or sub-menu in order to use this function.

The following is a list of valid options:

Code	Module Name	Code	Module Name
GL	General Ledger	AP	Accounts Payable
AR	Accounts Receivable	IC	Inventory Management
OE/BI	Billing	PS	Point of Sale
SF	System Functions	SA	Sales Analysis
PC	Payroll	PE	Personnel Manager
EQ	Equity Manager	FP	FishPro
BR	Bank Reconciliation	ТА	Time and Attendance
ТМ	Trucking Manager	XR	Crossroads
CL	Custom Labels	DX	Global/DX
MS	Multi Site	PI	Professional Invoicing
РО	Purchase Order	JC	Job Cost
PA	Purchasing	SM	Service Manager

<u>System Functions</u> Samco Power Accounting MP

FA

Fixed Assets

SR Scheduler

MenuPoint

<u>System Functions</u> Samco Power Accounting

Jump





## **Chapter 5 System Information (F4)**

The System Information **[F4]** function allows you to see some basic information about your current session of SAMCO application software. This function uses information provided by both your operating system and the SAMCO applications software.

The information displayed includes:

- · Current company ID you are in.
- · Current release date of your SAMCO applications.
- The operating system you are using.
- Your current user ID.
- Your system's date and time.
- Number of licensed users.
- · Number of users currently logged in.
- Lists all custom ID's turned on.

## **To Begin**

Press the [F4] key from a menu or sub-menu. A window similar to the one below is displayed.

System Information

Local Diversion		[ar]	1	. [64]	
Compa	any id	35	0/5		nin)
Build	14.0	07.35	.080	Jul 2	4 2019
User id	1				
Machir	ne [	al line			
Date	8/00	5/15	Time	14	:06
# curre	ent us	ers	4		
Custor	m id	1018	1053	1119	1164
1190	1214	1233	1243	1292	1302
1344	1377	1398	1475	1482	1494
1495	1506	1527	1671	1722	1740
1763	1822	1829	1835	1837	1838
1843	1845	1846	1847	1864	1886
F1=Ne:	xt TAE	B=Exit			

<u>System Functions</u> Samco Power Accounting

System Information





## **Chapter 6 Extended Functions Window**

The extended functions window gives you quick and easy access to various functions, each of which is outlined below.

To access the Extended Functions window, at any point in the software just press [F8]:



To choose one of the *Extended Functions* menu options, you can either press the character or number beside the selection, or use **[Up Arrow]** or **[Down Arrow]**, **[Left Arrow]** or **[Right Arrow]** to highlight the selection and press **[Enter]**.

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

6.14

To terminate the use of the *Extended Functions* window, press **[Tab]** and you will be returned to the function and prompt that you were previously at.

## Access control

When using access control in the Users setup you can limit user access to each menu selection.

## 1. System Gateway

**NOTE:** This function is designed for the intermediate to advanced computer user. If you do not feel comfortable operating from the operating system prompt, we do not recommend you use this feature.

Selecting this option allows you to leave, temporarily, the SAMCO application software and run other programs. To return to the SAMCO applications at the same point you left, simply type **exit** at the operating system prompt.

When this function is selected, a window similar to the one below is displayed:

Please select	
1. Accounts Receivable	15. Point of Sale
2. Inventory Management	16. Report Writer
3. Billing	17. Time and Attendance
4. Sales Analysis	18. Trucking Manager
5. Accounts Payable 6.  § System Command (server)	19. Equity Manager
9. F2=run on client 10. Lando Gradi 11. Bank Reconciliation	25. Multi-site
12. Professional Invoicing	26. MenuPoint
13. Custom Labels	27. Contact Manager
14. FishPro	28. System Functions

## 2. Calculator

Use this function just as you would use a pocket calculator with six memory locations.

Also, while at any numeric entry field (such as entering a dollar figure), entering a [?] will bring this calculator up. From there you can make any calculations necessary and paste the resulting value into your field or discard the calculation all together by pressing [**Tab**].

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

To start the Calculator, select option 2. A screen similar to the following appears:

O Power Accounting			Your C			
Memory			Calc	ulat	or	
MI						
					0.	
M2						
		^	/	*	-	
		7	8	9	+	
M4		4	5	6	E	
					n	
M5		1	2	3	t	
<b>**</b>		0			r	
M6	v			v		v
	cle	ar	clea	En	try	Men

You may use your computer's numeric key pad to operate the calculator. The current figure entered appears on the calculator's "screen", the formulas and totals display on the "tape".

The following key strokes can be used for the calculator's functions:

/ Divide

\* Multiply

- **C** Clears all figures from the calculator or memory register
- **E** Clears only the last figure entered on the calculator

[Enter] Calculate

- [F4] Paste contents from calculator or memory register into field
- M Enter memory register mode
- + / Add and subtract
- **R** Read memory register into calculator

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

6.16

[Up Arrow] Move tape up (works similar to paper feed)

### **Memory Registers**

The SAMCO calculator function offers you the availability of 6 memory registers. These work the same as the memory register on a regular calculator except that you have 6 to choose from and not just 1.

The following keys apply to memory registers:

- M Enter memory register mode
- [F4] Paste contents from memory register into field
  - + Add value to memory register
  - Clear memory register
  - **R** Read memory register into calculator

[Up Arrow] or [Down Arrow] Move up or down between memory registers

#### **Pasting from Calculator**

One of the advantages of the calculator function is that it gives you the ability to paste from the contents in the calculator, or one of its memory registers, into a field if you used the [?] in the numeric field.

For example, if you are at a field requiring the entry of a dollar figure, pressing the [?] key will bring up the calculator. You could then copy the contents of the calculator, or one of its memory registers, into the numeric field by pressing the [F4] key.

### 3. Personal Notepad

The Personal Notepad function allows you to maintain notes which can be accessed by other users. Each note must have a unique name (up to 8 characters in length), can be up to 99 pages long (each page is 40 characters wide by 16 lines), and can be printed.

To start the Personal Notepad from the *Extended Functions* window, select the option. The following screen is displayed:

AMCO Power Accounting		Your Company Name Her
	User Notepad	
Please select	Flenaroe	
	rwnote/	
1. Accounts Receivable		
2. Inventory Management		
3. Billing		
4. Sales Analysis		
5. Accounts Payable		
6. Payroll		
7. General Ledger		
8. Fixed Assets		
9. Job Cost		
10. Purchase Order		
11. Bank Reconciliation		
12. Professional Invoicing		
13. Custom Labels		
14. FishPro		
	Page: 01	F1 = menu)

At the File: prompt, enter the name of an existing note you wish to edit, or press **[Enter]** to start a new note.

**NOTE:** If you were editing a *Personal note* previously, that note is automatically displayed the next time you bring up the Personal Notepad function as long as you saved the note to a file.

## Editing

While you are editing a note, the following keys can be used:

[Del] Deletes the character the cursor is on

[Backspace] Deletes the character behind the cursor

[INS] Enter "insert" mode

[PgUp] Move to the previous page of the note

[PgDn] Move to the next page of the note

## **Menu Functions**

To access the notepad's menu, press [F1]. A menu appears with the following options:

- **Exit** Exit out of the *Personal Notepad* function. If the note has not been saved you will be prompted to enter a file name.
- Load Prompts you to enter the name of a file to begin editing.

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

6.18

- **Save** Saves the current note being edited. If the note has never been saved you will be prompted to enter a file name to save the note to.
- **Date** Enters the current system date and time into the note being edited. The date format is MM/DD/YY.

To exit the [F1] menu, press [Tab] before making a selection.

### Exiting

There are two ways to exit the *Personal Notepad*. The first is through the **[F1]** menu facility. The second is by pressing **[Tab]** while editing, followed by **[Enter]** when prompted for the *File*: The latter will exit out without saving the contents of the current note.

**NOTE:** Please note that while there is no specific security on the personal notepad files, all notepads are maintained in the "ssi" directory.

## 4. System Notepad

The System Notepad is used to maintain up to 99 pages of notes for specific customers, vendors, employees, items, and GL accounts (known as **master file records**).

There are three ways of accessing the notes on a master file record. We will discuss only two methods in this section. The third method is described in the *Find* sections for customers, vendors, items, employees and GL accounts.

The first method of accessing notes for a master file record is by calling it up directly through this function. To start the *System Notepad* from the *Extended Functions* window, select option **4**. The following screen is displayed:

MCO Power Accounting		Your Company Name Here
	Context notes	
Please select		
1. Accounts Receivable		
2. Inventory Management		
3. Billing		
4. Sales Analysis	Enter system	
5. Accounts Payable		
6. Payroll		
7. General Ledger		
8. Fixed Assets		
9. Job Cost		
0. Purchase Order		
1. Bank Reconciliation	AR = customers	AP = vendors
2. Professional Invoicing	MP = Items	GL = accounts
3. Custom Labels	IC = items	PC = employees
4. FishPro		
		and the second second
	Page: 01	F1=menu, F3=del-In)

At the *Enter system:* prompt, enter the two character code for the master file record type you wish to edit notes for; **AR** for a customer, **AP** for a vendor, for an inventory item, **GL** for a GL account, or **PC** for an employee.

Next, you are prompted to "*Enter key*:" Enter the customer number, vendor number, item number, GL account number or employee number you wish to edit a note for. Or, enter a [?] to use the *Find* window to search for the appropriate record.

For example, if you want to enter a note for customer **ABC100**, you would enter **AR** when prompted to *Enter system:* and **ABC100** when prompted to *Enter Customer key:* 

Once the system is provided this information, you can begin entering new notes, or editing the existing notes.

## Editing

While you are editing a note, the following keys can be used:

[F3] Deletes the l	ine you are currently on
--------------------	--------------------------

[Backspace] Deletes the character behind the cursor

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

[INS]	Enter "insert" mode
[PgUp]	Move to the previous page of the note
[PgDn]	Move to the next page of the note

Since the notepad's editing automatically word wraps (moves to the next line if a word is too long for the current sentence), there is no need to press **[Enter]** after each sentence.

Also, for your convenience, the bottom of the notepad box displays the page number of the note you are currently editing.

## **Menu Functions**

To access the notepad's menu, press [F1]. A menu appears with the following options:

- **Exit** Exit out of the *Personal Notepad* function. If the note has not been saved you will be prompted to enter a file name.
- Load Prompts you to enter the name of a file to begin editing.
- Save Saves the current note being edited. If the note has never been saved you will be prompted to enter a file name to save the note to.
- Date Enters the current system date and time into the note being edited.

The date format is MM/DD/YY. To exit the **[F1]** menu, press **[Tab]** before making a selection.

## Exiting

There are two ways to exit the *Personal Notepad*. The first is through the **[F1]** menu facility. The second is by pressing **[Tab]** while editing, followed by **[Enter]** when prompted for the *File*. The latter will exit out without saving the contents of the current note.

#### **Alterative Load Method**

When you are already in an application and have entered a general ledger account, customer account, etc. in the maintenance functions for that application this notepad becomes a "context sensitive" notepad. The "context sensitive" notepad available to all users for specific general ledger accounts, customers, vendors, items or employees.

Once the record is displayed, press the **[F8]** key, and the Extended Functions menu will appear. Note that beside the menu option 4 System Notepad has now become 'Notepad for...' where ... is the selected account number, customer number, vendor number, item number or employee number.

Select 4, and the notepad window will open for that master file record.

**NOTE:** The System Notepad is only available for those applications which you are using for each company. In other words, if you do not have a module set up for a company you cannot keep notes for that module's master file records.

5. Calendar

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

6.21

This option will bring up a perpetual calendar on screen. You may move forward or backward through time by using the **[PgDn]** or **[F1]** to move forward one month, and **[PgUp]** or **[F2]** to move backwards one month.

To start the Calendar from the *Extended Functions* window, select option **5**. The following screen is displayed:

Ple	ase se	lect	10						
	alendai	loci							
1. Accounts Receivable						Augus	t 2015		
2. Inventory Manageme									
3. Billing	Sun	Mon	Tue	Wed	Thu	Fri	Sat	,	
4. Sales Analysis									
5. Accounts Payable							1		
6. Payroll	-		-		-	-			
7. General Ledger	2	3	4	5	6	7	8		
8. Fixed Assets									
9. Job Cost	9	10	11	12	13	14	15		
10. Purchase Order	16	1.7	18	10	20	22	[22]		
11. Bank Reconciliation	10	17	18	19	20	21	22		
12. Professional Invoicin	23	[24]	25	26	27	28	29		
13. Custom Labels	23	24	20	20	21	20	29		
14. FishPro	30	31							
	F1 ShF	=1=nxt	prv, F	3=code	s				

The calendar can also be displayed by pressing [?] in a date field. You can then move around the calendar and press [F4] to copy a date into the date entry field.

When the calendar is displayed from a date entry field you can also press **[F3]** to view the available date entry codes, and press **[F4]** to copy one back in. (See the *Date Codes* section in the chapter titled *General Rules*.)

## 6. View User Activity

View user activity will show you a log of who is in the software, and the function of the software that they are using. The information is created and updated automatically.

This information can be invaluable if you attempt to use a function of the software and find that you are unable to, or that the "record is in use at another station". This allows you to quickly identify who is using the "locked" record.

**For Linux users**, functionality has been added for locating the user having a particular file open. This is especially useful when posting cannot occur because another user has a file open. Press

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

6.22

the **[F4]** key and type in the company ID (alphabetic ID's are always CAPS) followed by the name of the file. Example OO/AROPEN.DAT

Use F2 » FILE UTILITIES » EXPORT A FILE in the same module as the 'error' to find out the file name in question as most often the file in question belongs in the same module. Sometimes, a file open in a different module can interfere. For example, if CONTRA processing is turned on, having Accounts Receivable files open can affect Accounts Payable and vice versa. If there is a continued problem with a file conflict, please contact Support Services at <a href="mailto:support@samco.com">support@samco.com</a> for assistance.

View user activity User name dale	Station	select		]		
User name		ID C				
dale			ompar	v Time	Pack	kage/Program
	at30264	KCP	GH	- 17 C		Order Entry menu
dale	at31446	SSI	AM	12:17	O/E	Orders, Enter
dale	at31760			11:48	SYS	Change company
barry	at31911	SSI	CN	12:45	I/C	Inventory Control menu
kyle	at32178	KS	35	15:02	SYS	Samco main menu
TAB =exit, F4=fil						
14. FishPro				* 2	8. Sy	stem Functions

Press [Tab] to exit the screen displayed

## 7. Phone Book

The Phone Book function provides you a method of quickly:

- Viewing existing customer, vendor, and employee address and phone information from a single screen
- View customer and vendor website, primary contact, secondary contact, and email addresses

- Add the names and addresses of businesses or individuals that you or others may need (phone numbers can be flagged as private making them available only to your user ID [initials]).
- · Print address labels.

To start the Phone Book from the *Extended Functions* window, select option **7**. The following screen is displayed:

AMCO Power Accounting	Phone b Nam	
Please select	St-1 St-2	
1. Accounts Receivable	15. Po City	
2. Inventory Management	16. Re Prov	
3. Billing	17. Tir Cus	-Con 100 Sip 1
4. Sales Analysis	10. 110	st type
5. Accounts Payable	19. Eq Web	b
6. Payroll	20. Pe	
7. General Ledger	21. Se Rem	n.
8. Fixed Assets	22. Pu	
9. Job Cost	23. Gk	
10. Purchase Order	24. Sc Des	
11. Bank Reconciliation	25. Mu Cus	Acme Wedding Planners
12. Professional Invoicing	26. Me	
13. Custom Labels	27. Co	
14. FishPro	* 28. Sy	
		next rec, ShF1=prev,F2=add for label

## Searching

Once you have chosen Phone Book from the *Extended Functions* window, you may look up by using **[F1]** to view the next record on file, or you may key in as much of the name as you remember. This function is **case-sensitive** so if you typed the name in upper case, it will show matching entries based on what you type.

As you continue to type, the search becomes more specific. In other words, typing an S shows the first record starting with an upper case "S". Then typing an M shows the first record starting with "SM", and so forth.

## Add

To add a new record to the phone book, press **[F2]** from the Phone Book screen. You will be allowed to type in the name, address, city, province, postal code, a group, four (4) lines of comment and up to four (4) telephone numbers and descriptions for this record.

In addition to the information just mentioned, you are asked if this record is private. If this is a phone number that you wish no one else to have access to, then you should reply  $\mathbf{Y}$  to this question.

## Modify

To modify / change a Phone Book entry which was added through this function (not a contact, employee or vendor record), bring up the record to be changed, and press **[Enter]**. You can now make any necessary changes to the record.

## Delete

To delete a Phone Book entry which was added (not a contact, employee or vendor record), bring up the record to be deleted, and press **[Enter]** to modify. Next press **[F3]** to delete the record.

### Print

To print a Phone Book entry, bring up the entry you want printed and press [F4]. The printer select window appears for you to choose which printer to send the document to.

## End

To exit out of the Phone Book function, simply press [Tab].

**NOTE:** The line underneath the Postal Code (Post) shows you where the information came from. The possibilities are Customer (AR), Vendor (AP), Employee (PC) or Private (indicating it was keyed is manually). If the record came from AP, AR, or PC, you may **NOT** make any changes to the information. This information is read-only.

## 8. Messages

Use this function to view or print messages sent from other users, or to send messages to other users of the SAMCO accounting system.

During the course of daily use, messages sent to you by other users will be automatically displayed on your screen.

To start the Messages function from the *Extended Functions* window, select option **8**. The following screen is displayed:

AMCO Power Accounting	Your Company Name Her
Please sele	
1. Accounts Receivable	Messages - New
2. Inventory Management	
3. Billing	**** No more on file ****
4. Sales Analysis	
5. Accounts Payable	
6. Payroll	
7. General Ledger	
8. Fixed Assets	
9. Job Cost	
10. Purchase Order	
11. Bank Reconciliation	
12. Professional Invoicing	
13. Custom Labels	
14. FishPro	
and a second	F1-Next F2-Prev F3-Del F4-Send F5-Print
	New 0 Read 0 Sent 0 Wait 0 Ack 0

## Folders

The Messages function maintains five folders for you to conveniently store messages:

- New.... Messages received but not yet read.
- Read....Messages received and read.
- Sent.... Messages sent to other users.
- Wait.... Messages marked for acknowledgement and sent to other users which have not been read yet.
- · Ack......Messages marked for acknowledgement and read by the destined user.

The number of messages stored in each folder is displayed at the bottom of the window and automatically updated as messages are received, acknowledged, and deleted.

To change your current folder, (displayed in the top of the *Messages* box) press the letter corresponding to the folder:

- N New messages
- **R** Old messages
- S Logged messages

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

6.26

- W Waiting acknowledgement
- A Acknowledged messages

Any messages stored in the folder are displayed. From the list displayed you use the following keys:

[Up Arrow	] or [Down Arrow]	to highlight the next message from the list
[Enter]	To view the currently highl	ighted message
[F1]	Next page of messages	
[F2]	Previous page of messages	
[F3]	Delete highlighted message	
[F4]	Send a message	
[F5]	Print messages menu	

## Viewing a message

From the *Folder* list displayed use the **[Up Arrow]** or **[Down Arrow]** keys to highlight the message you want to view and press **[Enter]**. The following keys are available while viewing a message:

[F1]	View next message
[F2]	View previous message
[F3]	Delete message
[F4]	Send a message
[F5]	Print messages menu
[PgUp]	If there are more lines of message than can be displayed,
[PgDn]	these keys allow you to scroll up and down through the message text.
[Tab]	Return back to list of messages

## Sending a Message

To send a message to another user (or even to yourself) press **[F4]** from the *Messages* window. The following screen is displayed:

AMCO Power Accounting			Your Company	Name Her
Please sel	ect			
1. Accounts Receivable	Messages - New		(animation)	
2. Inventory Management	To KS		8/07/15	3:11pm
3. Billing		ustomer Service		-
4. Sales Analysis		amco	Sent by	KS
5. Accounts Payable	Phone	604-597-4211		_
6. Payroll				
7. General Ledger				
8. Fixed Assets				
9. Job Cost				
10. Purchase Order				
11. Bank Reconciliation				
12. Professional Invoicing				
13. Custom Labels				
14. FishPro	Option			
and a second	F1=Exit	F2=Insert F3=Delete		
	Up/Dn, P	gUp/PgDn	Line: 7	<u></u>
				100
	1			

Enter the following data:

To:

Enter the user id of the user to send the message to, or press **[F1]** to send a message to yourself. If you do not know the ID of the user you want to send the message to, enter a **[?]** to select from a list displayed.

## From:

Enter up to 2 lines of text describing who the message is from. If you are sending a personal message you can alternatively press **[F1]** at the first line to enter your own name, and at the second line to enter your job title.

## Phone:

Enter up to a 15 character phone number.

Sent by:

Your user ID is automatically inserted into this field.

<u>System Functions</u> Samco Power Accounting

6.28

## Message:

Enter up to 999 lines of message. During the entry of the message the following keys are available:

- [F1] Exits the message editing portion
- [F2] Inserts a blank line from the position of the cursor
- [F3] Deletes a line of text

## **Option:**

Once you are finished entering the message text you are asked for message options. Message options will appear on both the list of messages, and in the message view. You can attach as many options as necessary to each message.

To select a message Option, press the following keys:

- P Phoned
- C Please call
- **R** Returned call
- S Wants to see you
- W Will call
- I Was in
- U Urgent

To clear the last Option entered, press the [Backspace].

When you are finished entering message Options, press [Enter] to continue.

## Send option

The following send options are available:

- **S** Send message to user
- **F** Forget the message all together and do not send
- A Get acknowledgement from the recipient once the message is read.

If a message is sent with the **A** option, a copy of the message is stored in the *Wait* folder until read. Once the message is read by the user a message will be displayed on the sender's screen advising them the message has been read. As well, the users' Ack folder will be updated once the message is read.

After the message is sent, a copy of the message is stored in the *Sent* folder, allowing you the option to view the message at a later date and time.

## **Printing Messages**

The *Message* function offers a flexible printing facility to handle even the most demanding user. While viewing a message, or from the *Folder* message list, press **[F5]**. A menu with some or all of the following options appears:

Р	Print this message immediately
Μ	Mark this message for printing or purging later
U	Unmark currently marked message
Α	Mark all messages for printing or purging
С	Unmark all marked messages
S	Print all marked messages
R	Remove (delete) all marked messages
[Tab]	Exit without making a selection

To print multiple messages at one time, you can either **M** Mark each message for printing and then select **S** to spool all marked messages to the printer, or press **A** to mark all messages and then **S** to spool all marked messages to the printer.

To print the current message you have highlighted or are viewing, press [F5] and select P.

### **Deleting Messages**

To delete a message from the system you must first mark it, and then remove it -- alternatively you can select to purge all messages in a *Folder* and purge <u>all</u> marked messages.

To remove messages out of any of the five *Folders* (New, Read, Sent, Waiting, and Acknowledge), do the following:

- 1. Select the *Folder* to purge the messages from.
- 2. Use the **[Up Arrow]** or **[Down Arrow]** keys to highlight the message you want to mark for deletion (to delete all you can skip this step).
- 3. Press [F5] for Print.
- 4. To mark one message to be purged press **M**, or, to mark all messages, press **A**. You are returned to the *Folder* list (you will notice that all messages marked for removal have an **m** beside them).
- 5. Press [F5] for Print.
- 6. To remove the marked message(s), press **R**. You will be prompted whether or not to continue with the deletion (answer **Y** to continue or **N** to abandon the deletion).

### Exit

To exit out of the messages function, press [Tab] from the messages list.

## **A. Find Valid Accounts**

Use this option to look up valid GL account information from the current company's valid GL account file. To start the *Find Valid Accounts* function, select **F8** option **A**. A screen similar to the following appears:

					Your Company	
Please se	lect	d Valid Ac	0000-000			CAD
	_	Law and	1090-023	;1sdkjf;1	sakdi	CAD
I. Accounts Receivable	_	-	1090-123	;1sdkjf;1		CAD
2. Inventory Management			1115-000		ing (Vendor Ve	
3. Billing			2000-000			
I. Sales Analysis		-	2000-000	Accounts		CAD
6. Accounts Payable		-	and the property of the local data of the local	Accounts	Contraction of the local distance of the loc	CAD
5. Payroll		and street of the local division of the loca	2000-123	Accounts	in the second second	CAD
. General Ledger		-	2000-500	Accounts	And the second distance of the second distanc	CAD
B. Fixed Assets		-	2001-000		Payable - Clea	a second second second
). Job Cost		-	2001-123		Payable - Clea	
0. Purchase Order			2003-000		Payable - US (	CleCADn
1. Bank Reconciliation			2002-000	Accounts	Payable - USD	CAD
2. Professional Invoicing		13)	2002-123	Accounts	Payable - USD	CAD
3. Custom Labels		14)	1100-500	Accounts	receivable	CAD
4. FishPro	-	15)	1100-000	Accounts	receivable - 0	CDNCAD
And and a state of the state of		16)	1100-023	Accounts	receivable - 0	CDNCAD
		17)	1100-123	Accounts	receivable - 0	CDNCAD
	F	1=nex	t ShF1=prev	F3=Search		1

In reviewing the window, you will notice that an '\*' appears in the left margin. This is the indicator of which Valid GL Account you are presently viewing. Next is the Valid GL Account number and the Valid GL Account name is the last column. The bottom of the screen offers several options:

**[F1]** or **[PgDn]** allows advancing to the next "page" of Valid GL Accounts. (Note that when advancing to the next "page," the last Valid GL Account on the previous "page" is the first Valid GL Account on the next "page").

**[Shift]** + **[F1]** or **[PgUp]** will return to the previous "page." (Note that the first Valid GL Account on the current "page" becomes the last Valid GL Account on the previous "page").

**[F3]** allows you to input all or any part of a Valid GL Account name to search upon. The system will display a "page" starting at the first Valid GL Account name close to your partial or full entry. Pressing **[Enter]** at the search field will switch the search method from Valid GL Account name to Valid GL Account number (again, a full or partial entry is allowed).

## **C. Find Customers**

This function is only available if you are using SAMCO Accounts Receivable module and have initialized the A/R data files for the active company.

Use this option to look up customer information from the current company's customer file. No matter where you are in the SAMCO system, you can look up information about a customer.

To start the Find Customers function, select **F8** option **C**. A screen similar to the following appears:

SAMCO Power Accounting			Your Company Nam	e Her
Zoom info ···· ACTIVE ····	T F	nd Customer (show active only)		
		01) 3322	21st Century Enterpr	-CAD
	]	02) SAM101	21st Technologies In	-CAD
		03) 900	Acme Computer Traini	-CAD
2216count	ry 📔	04) 100	Acme Wedding Planner	-CAD
Cont-1 Primary contact		05) KYLE	Acme Wedding Planner	-CAD
Phone1		06) 156	Add cust in rapid en	-CAD
Cont-2 (alternate)		07) 124	Another consol test	-CAD
Phone2		08) 125	Another one still	-CAD
Fax		09) 99	Anthony Jones, Inc.	-CAD
Balance 2,864.60		10) 600	Ariel Enterprises	-CAD
Cr.Lim 350		11) AUT05	Auto customer add	-CAD
Shp via UPS		12) 5	Bernard, Stephen	-CAD
Terms 5/10 net 25	Lvi 1	13) 300	Beverly Beauty Suppl	-CAD
Rep Thomas J. Finch		14) 102	Burrows Potatoe Farm	-CAD
Courier A/C 123456789	1	15) 123	Consolidated Orders	-CAD
Terr. "none"		16) 4	Elliott Ent Surre	-CAD
Type RET Dsc%5.00	ABCD	1=nxt ShF1=prv F3	=Search	
Customer comment 1	F	6=show inactive or	nly F7=Filter S=Ship-to	
Customer comment 2	A	=Age E=Email P=P	rice U=User-defined Z=Zoom	
Customer comment 3	1			

In reviewing the window, you will notice that an '\*' appears in the left margin. This indicates which customer you are presently viewing. Next is the customer number and the customer name is the last column.

The bottom of the screen offers several options:

**[F1]** allows advancing to the next "page" of customers. (Note that when advancing to the next "page," the last customer on the previous "page" is the first customer on the next "page").

[Shift] + [F1] returns to the previous "page." (Note that the first customer on the current "page" becomes the last customer on the previous "page").

**[F3]** allows you to input all or any part of a customer name to search upon. The system will display a "page" starting at the first customer name close to your partial or full entry. Pressing

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

6.32
**[Enter]** at the field to search will toggle the search method between customer name, customer number, or customer phone number (again, a full or partial entry is allowed).

**Z**, opens and closes the Zoom window on the left of your screen and displays some additional information for the record indicated by the '\*'. This information in the Zoom window will include: Address, Contact name, Phone number, Fax number, 'live' balance (this includes the posted and un-posted charges and credits), credit limit, and the three lines of comments in the file.

A, opens up a window which provides account aging and status information

**P**, when used in conjunction with *Inventory Management*, allows you to view customer specific pricing information for an item. Simply enter the item number and the customer's price will be shown along with other information.

S, displays a window with a list of ship-to addresses for the selected customer

U displays the user defined field information for this customer. This only applies when user defined fields are being used in *Accounts Receivable*.

[Enter] or [Up Arrow] / [Down Arrow], allows you to shift the item referenced by the "\*" to be moved down one line each time the key is hit.

[F8] + X to view contacts for the customer displayed.

### **E. Find Employees**

This function is only available if you are using SAMCO Canadian Payroll module and have initialized the P/C data files for the active company.

Use this option to look up employee information from the current company's employee file. No matter where you are in the SAMCO system, you can look up information about any payroll employee.

To start the *Find Employee* function, select **F8** option **E**. A screen similar to the following appears:

	Your Company Name
Find Employee (show all)	
01) AG01	Agnew, David
02) AB01	Alberta test company, Test compar
03) BC04	BC Test, Employee
04) BC03	BC test, Mr
05) BC02	BC test Employee, Test
06) BL02	Black, Robert
07) BL01	Blanchard, George
08) CH01	Charlesworth, Betty
09) MB01	Manitoba, Test Employee
10) NB01	New Brunswick, Test Employee
11) NL01	New Foundland, Test Employee
12) NT01	Northwest Territories, Test Emplo
13) NS01	Nova Scotia, Test Employee
14) NU01	NU Test Employee, NU
15) NU02	NU test employee #2, Test
16) ON01	Ontario, Test Employee
	O1) AGO1 O2) ABO1 O3) BCO4 O4) BCO3 O5) BCO2 O6) BLO2 O7) BLO1 O8) CHO1 O9) MBO1 10) NBO1 11) NLO1 12) NTO1 13) NSO1 14) NUO1 15) NUO2

In reviewing the window, you will notice that a '\*' appears in the left margin. This is the indicator of which employee you are presently viewing. Next is the employee number and the employee name is the last column.

The bottom of the screen offers several options:

**[F1]** or **[PgDn]** allows advancing to the next "page" of employees. (Note that when advancing to the next "page," the last employee on the previous "page" is the first employee on the next "page").

[Shift] + [F1] or [PgUp] will return to the previous "page." (Note that the first employee on the current "page" becomes the last employee on the previous "page").

**[F3]** allows you to input all or any part of an employee name to search upon. The system will display a "page" starting at the first employee name close to your partial or full entry. Pressing **[Enter]** at the search field will switch the search method from employee name to employee number (again, a full or partial entry is allowed).

**Z**, opens and closes the Zoom window on the top left of your screen and displays some additional information for the record indicated by the '\*'. This information in the Zoom window will include: Address, Phone number.

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

## F. Fax Memo

The Fax Memo function functions the same as the M. Electronic Mail function below.

# **G. Find GL Accounts**

This function is only available if you are using SAMCO General Ledger module and have initialized the GL data files for the active company.

Use this option to look up GL account information from the current company's account file. No matter where you are in the SAMCO system, you can look up information about any GL account.

To start the *Find GL Accounts* function, select **F8** option **G**. A screen similar to the following appears:

Pleases	alaa	nd Account	<b>1</b> 1		-
Fiedse s	elec	01)	1140-023	Accounts Receivable - Depos-C	AD
1. Accounts Receivable		02)	1140-123	Accounts Receivable - Depos-C	AD
2. Inventory Management	-11	03)	1140-500	Accounts Receivable - Depos-C	AD
3. Billing	-11	04)	1101-000	Accounts Receivable - US -U	SD
1. Sales Analysis		05)	1101-023	Accounts Receivable - US -C	AD
5. Accounts Payable	-11	06)	1101-123	Accounts Receivable - US -C	AD
5. Payroll	-11	07)	1310-000	Accumulated depreciation -C	AD
And the second	-1	08)	1310-023	Accumulated depreciation -C	AD
7. General Ledger 8. Fixed Assets	-1	09)	1310-123	Accumulated depreciation -C	AD
	-11	10)	6000-000	Administrative salaries -C	AD
). Job Cost	_	11)	6000-021	Administrative salaries -C	AD
0. Purchase Order	_	-	6000-023	Administrative salaries -C	AD
1. Bank Reconciliation	_	_	6000-123	Administrative salaries -C	_
2. Professional Invoicing	_	and an and a state of the	6000-500	Administrative salaries -C	-
3. Custom Labels		-	6900-000	Advertising and promotion -C	-
4. FishPro			6900-021	Advertising and promotion -C	-
			6900-021	Advertising and promotion -C	-
		11/)	6900-023	Advertising and promotion -C	AD
	F	1=nex	t ShE1=prev	F3=Search	

In reviewing the window, you will notice that a '\*' appears in the left margin. This is the indicator of which GL Account you are presently viewing. Next is the GL Account number and the GL Account name is the last column.

The bottom of the screen offers several options:

**[F1]** or **[PgDn]** which allows advancing to the next "page" of GL accounts. (Note that when advancing to the next "page," the last GL Account on the previous "page" is the first GL Account on the next "page").

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

6.35

[Shift] + [F1] or [PgUp] will return to the previous "page" (Note that the first GL Account on the current "page" becomes the last GL Account on the previous "page").

[F3] allows you to input all or any part of a GL Account name to search upon. The system will display a "page" starting at the first GL Account name close to your partial or full entry. Pressing [Enter] at the search field will switch the search method from GL Account name to GL Account number (again, a full or partial entry is allowed).

# I. Find Items

This function is only available if you are using SAMCO Inventory Management module and have initialized the IC data files for the active company.

Use this option to look up item information from the current company's inventory item file. No matter where you are in the SAMCO system, you can look up information about any item.

**— — X** 1 35: SF - Samco main menu File Edit AR IC OE SA AP PC GL FA JC PO BR PI CL FP PS RP TA TR EQ PER SM PA DX SR MS MP CM SF Help

To start the *Find Items* function, select **F8** option **I**. A screen similar to the following appears:

Ven GLO	GF	* 01)	3057	AUTOLIGHT MINIATURE
Retail .13		02)	COFFEEBEANS	Beans Coffee Roasted
Price-2 .12				Sumatra Blend
Price-3 .12		03)	RAW	Beans Raw Green
Cst (not available)	EACH	04)	3046	BLIND RIVETS
O/H 10.00- Lo	c	05)	RF35100	Block, single, swivel
Com .00		06)	55502	Blow down valve
Ord .00		07)	300	BROCCOLI : DECATHALON
B/O .00 (N	lormal)	08)	CHEESE-CH	Cheese, cheddar, yellow
		09)	5	Chisel, 5 Pc. Set
Avi 10.00- (I	tem)			search
Vol 0	т	10)	5-89974	Chisel, 5 Pc. Set
Code ACTIVE *				Wooden handles
				Tool box with carrier
12. Professional Invoicing		11)	BAG	Coffee Bag Material
13. Custom Labels		12)	BAG175	Coffee Bags 175gm
14. FishPro		F1=nex	t ShF1=prev F3=Sear	ch Z=Zoom D=Detl
		F6=InA	ctvF7=FilterU=User	defined P=P.O.info
		L=Labe	O=Order	

In reviewing the window, you will notice that an'\*' appears in the left margin. This indicates which item you are presently viewing. Next is the item number and description in the last column.

The bottom of the screen offers several options:

**[F1]** or **[PgDn]**, allows advancing to the next "page" of items. (Note that when advancing to the next "page," the last item on the previous "page" is the first item on the next "page").

[Shift] + [F1] or [PgUp] will return to the previous "page." (Note that the first item on the current "page" becomes the last item on the previous "page").

**[F3]** allows you to input all or any part of an item name to search upon. The system will display a "page" starting at the first item name close to your partial or full entry. Pressing **[Enter]** at the search field will switch the search method from item name to item number (again, a full or partial entry is allowed).

# **J. Find Orders**

This function is only available if you are using the Billing module and have initialized the OE/Billing data files for the active company.

Use this option to look up a list of open orders for the selected item. Similar functionality is available within *Find items*.

To start the Find orders function, select F8 option J. A window, similar to the one below, appears for you to enter an item to view order detail for. Enter a valid item number or use the [?] to bring up the Find Items window to search for the item.

Order information
Enter item number

Once a valid item is selected a screen similar to the following will appear:

		A AP PC GL FA 1P CM SF Help	JC PO BR	PI CL FP PS RP TA	TR EQ PER
Order line de	tail for item: 10				
Compress	or, Air				
Order #	Cust #	Customer nam	e	Qty-ordered Drp-sl	h Qty- <mark>shi</mark> p
0-000676	1	Smith's Reno	vations	2	2
0-000705	40	Washington	Barb	1	1
0-000744	200	Millenium En	terprises	2	2

The bottom of the screen offers several options:

**[F1]** or **[PgDn]** allows advancing to the next "page" of orders. (Note that when advancing to the next "page," the last order on the previous "page" is the first order on the next "page").

[Shift] + [F1] or [PgUp] will return to the previous "page." (Note that the first order on the current "page" becomes the last order on the previous "page").

[F3] allows you to select a specific warehouse to look at open purchase orders for.

[Tab] exits the window.

# K. Find Item Keyword

This function is only available if you are using SAMCO Inventory Management module and have initialized the Inventory Management data files for the active company.

Use this option to look up item information from the current company's inventory item file by keyword. A keyword being any word 3 characters or longer in the item's description, number, category, sub-category, vendor product number, or vendor number. (For further details on keywords, see the *Control Information* chapter in the IC user manual.)

To start the Find item keyword function, select **[F8]** option **[K]**. A screen similar to the following appears:

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

6.38



Within the Inventory Management » Setup » Control information function you will define up to **four** methods to use when searching by keyword. Valid choices include:

Full description	Description line 1
Description line 2	Sub-category
Category/sub-category	Vendor item #
Vendor #/vendor item #	

When *Items* in Inventory Management is used to enter or change item information that is used as a keyword method, the item keywords are updated in the Keyword file.

If you select "Full description" as a keyword method, each separate word of 4 or more characters (separated by a space or comma) in either line of an item's description is considered a keyword, and is stored in the Keyword file. Each keyword can then be used to search for the item in this and a few other functions.

When the keyword search window displays you can toggle between each of your search selections by pressing **[Enter]**.

**Example:** You want to find all items with the word "tool" in the description. To do this you would bring up the *Find item keyword* function, press **[Enter]** until *Full description keyword*: was displayed, and then type in **TOOL**. (Note that this function is not case sensitive so you could type in TOOL, tool, tOOL, etc. and still come up with the same search result.)

The window would display the following search results:

	Item number	Categ	Description-1	Description-2
1	7LD-52296	701	MOUNTING TOOL	
2	9BE-JCW28/410	912	WRENCH x CTUBE TOOL	28GA&410GA BE/OR
3	9GK-ST-05161	936	REAR SIGHT MOUNTING TOOL	FITS ALL GLOCKPISTOL GKOR
4	9GK-ST-17025	936	REAR SIGHT MOUNTING TOOL	M20,21 ONLY OBS
5	9PE-961949	972	HAMMER SPRING PIN TOOL	"AGO"-ITALIANO
6	1PA-060-03471	976	WIDGET TOOL FOR CT GVT	DISASSEMBLY
7	5GK-17169	105	ENTRENCHING TOOL NO POUCH	SHOVEL&SAW OR/GK
8	9BE-JCW-12/20	912	WRENCH TUBE TOOL PLASTIC	12GA&20GA BE/OR

Another note regarding the search is that you must start with the first letters of the keyword you are looking for. In other words, you could not search for "tool" if you typed in **ool**.

Also, you need only type in the first few letters of the word you are looking for. Again, in the above example we could have typed in **TOO**, and found the same items plus any others starting with these characters. For best results be precise with your keyword search.

## L. Item labels

This function allows the user to quickly print item labels. After selecting L. Item Labels you must enter an item number to print. Then you will see the following screen:

Quick label: 1" Steel bolts	
Label 1	Bin Labels
Def.printer	1 HP3800
Quantity	1
Warehouse	

You need to select the correct label code, a printer, the quantity of labels you wish to print and the warehouse to be printed in the label.

## **M. Electronic Mail**

This function is only available if you are using the eSend add-on and have setup and configured eSend in the active company.

The Electronic Mail functions allows users to send email messages from in the SAMCO Power Accounting system. As you can see many of the fields may be familiar if you already use email.

ate	8/10/15	Time	15:39	TSI	
end	15:39		15:39	Comp	
iority	Medium	Resn	Std	Fax	
	1.000			From	Lesley
x/Emi	kyle@samco	.com			
ontact	Куlе			Overlay	(none)
ompany	Samco			Printer	
ubject	Testing em	ail		Attach	
nis is a te	st!		Body		Stand-alone
nis is a te	sti		Body		Stand-alone
nis is a te	sti		Body		Stand-alone
nis is a te	sti		Body		Stand-alone

Fax/Eml: Allows you to enter the fax or email address of your recipient(s).

Contact: Enter the name of your recipient

**Company:** Enter the company name of your recipient

**Subject:** Enter a short description of your message contents.

TSI: stands for Transmitting Subscriber Identification and is used when sending faxes.

[F1]=Customer: You can select a customer from your AR file to use as the company.

[F2]=Vendor: You can select a vendor from your AP file to use as the company.

[F4]=Extra Functions: There are several functions available when sending a fax or email.

A: Attachments: This option will allow you to select the path of a file to attach. The "Print?" option requires **Y** or **N** and will print a copy of the attachment if set to **Y** when printing the outgoing message.

**C: Check fax status/cancel:** You can see a list of pending faxes and their sent status. You are given the following options:

F1=nxt: Goto the next page.

**ShF1=prv:** Goto the previous page.

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

6.41

F3=Search: Search for a message.

F4=Retry: Retry a failed message.

F5=Cancel: Cancel a pending message.

F6=Status: Review status.

L: Load Memo: Load a memo/message that you have saved in the past or [F3] to delete.

S: Save Memo: Save the current memo/message.

**O: Overlay Change:** Change the overlay image. Overlay forms are fax image files that combine with your fax so the two images appear together. Company letterhead is a commonly used *fax overlay* form.

P: Printer Change: Select a new printer.

[F6]=Send: Complete the message and send.

**[F7]=Group:** There are two options when using the group function. Use the VSI-FAX built-in groups or use a comma delimited file with names and fax numbers.

**[F9]=Exit:** Exit the eSend message screen. You will be prompted "Exit without sending?" if you have a message prepared that is unsent.

# **P. PO Information**

*This function is only available if you are using the Purchasing module and have initialized the P/A data files for the active company.* 

Use this option to look up a list of open purchase orders for the selected item.

To start the *PO information* function, select **F8** option **P**. A window, similar to the one below, appears for you to enter an item to view open purchasing detail for. Enter a valid item number or use the [?] to bring up the *Find Items* window to search for the item.



Once a valid item is selected a screen similar to the following will appear:

Narehouse	P.O.#	Seq#	Ord-date	Deliv-dat	Order-qty Drp-s
Central	300	1	04/24/15	"none"	1.000
**** No m	ore on file ****				

The bottom of the screen offers several options:

**[F1]** or **[PgDn]** allows advancing to the next "page" of orders. (Note that when advancing to the next "page," the last order on the previous "page" is the first order on the next "page").

[Shift] + [F1] or [PgUp] will return to the previous "page." (Note that the first order on the current "page" becomes the last order on the previous "page").

Pressing [Enter] will switch between additional information that is available for each order.

[Tab] exits the window.

### **Q. Quick Customer Labels**

This function is only available if you are using the Billing module and have initialized the O/E date files for the active company.

Use this option to setup customer shipping labels. To start select **F8** option **Q**. The extended functions window which will print customer labels using the Billing label formatting facilities (Billing  $\approx$  [F2]  $\approx$  Setup  $\approx$  Label formats). Only type **S** label formats (shipping labels) are valid for use with this new feature.

। © % © ≓ √ % ⊷ ≩ ≹   © © ©   Ai € Ø   4 ▶ ®   ⊟ क tup	Acme Enterprise
bel formats (Layout)	radine enterprise
1. Label #	
2. Description Customer Label	i
3. Label type Shipping	
General appearance of label	
4. # labels across page (max 4)	
5. # lines per label (max 66) 5 6. # lines between labels 1	
7. # columns per label (max 132) 80	
7. # Columns per laber (max 152)	
8. Starting column for 1st label 2	
ake changes, FI – next label layout, F3 – delete	

Before using this feature you will need to set up your quick customer label format and printer in Billing » [F2] » Setup » Control information.

To use this feature, press  $[F8] \gg Q$ . Enter a customer number, or press enter for a customer name. If ship-to codes are available for the customer you will be offered the option of selecting which one to use. Once the customer and shipping information is selected, enter the number of labels to print, and whether or not to use the default printer (Y or N). Other options include [F1] for the next customer, [F2] for the next ship-to address, or [F3] to manually edit / override the customer shipping information.

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

S3: SF - Samco main menu
e Edit AR IC OE SA AP GL PA SC CM SF Help
AMCO Power Accounting SAMCO (CURRENT) S3
Print Customer Label
Please selec
1. Customer *CASH
1. Acco Name
2. Inve
* 3. Billir 2. # of Labels 1
4. Sale 3. Use default printer
5. Acco
6. Gen Address - SHIP TO # 1
7. Pure 1ST STORE
8. Serv 123
9. Con
10. Sys
F1=next customer F2=next address
F3=Edit ship to address
ake a selection, or F11 for help at any time

# **R. Unit Conversion Table**

A conversion table utility has been added which allows you to convert from one unit to another. This is ideal for converting metric to imperial, calculating board feet, and converting linear yards to linear feet, etc.

Once you have the table set up, select F8 option R to bring up the list of conversion codes, select the conversion code, press [F4], and then enter the base value you want to convert from.

Using the above example, if you want to convert 125 miles to kilometres, you would press **[F4]** » **R**, select the **KM \* .62137 = MILE** code (this is what you are converting from and to), press **[F4]**, and enter **125**. The window will display 201.168.

<ol> <li>Reports from disk</li> <li>Company data</li> <li>Valid sections</li> </ol>		Fir	01) * 02) 30	M Q Ø on units /	Your Co	mpany Name He
I. Reports from disk Company data Valid sections Valid G/L accounts		Fir	01) *	on units /		
1. Reports from disk 2. Company data 3. Valid sections 4. Valid G/L accounts	ease select		01) *	on units /	.62137	P.M.
2. Company data 3. Valid sections 4. Valid G/L accounts				1	.62137	KM.
2. Company data 3. Valid sections 4. Valid G/L accounts			02) 30			= KM
2. Company data     3. Valid sections     4. Valid G/L accounts     5. Note types				/	.62137	= KM
4. Valid G/L accounts			03) KM	¥	.62137	- *
			04) KM	×	.62137	= 30
5 Note types			**** N	lo more on file	****	
6. Taxes						
7. Conversion codes						
8. Currencies						
9. Color schemes						
10. Users						
11. Stations						
12. Passwords						
13. Multiple companies						
		F	1=next Sh	1F1=prev F3=	Search F4=Cor	ער

# S. Scheduler

After Scheduler is installed you will need to add it to each Company ID it will be access from. This is done through the System Functions » Company data function. Once turned on, Scheduler will appear on the main menu.

Scheduler can be started from anywhere in the SAMCO system using the **F8** key, than option "**S**". Flexible reports are available, in detail or summary, listing the reservations resources, sales reps, customers, orders or statues. You can also generate an immediate list of reservations for a resource while viewing a day.

M PA DX SR MS MP		
▶ ◎ % @ ≡ ✔ X	<b>~ ☆ ∛   © © ©   #</b> Q Ø	
AMCO Power Accounting -	System functions	Your Company Name Her
PI	Scheduler	
	Resource	Status
1. Reports from disk	* 01) SPA1 Spa Tech #1	Active
2. Company data	02) SPA2 Spa Tech #2	Active
3. Valid sections	03) SPA3 Spa Tech #3	Active
4. Valid G/L accounts	04) TBA To Be Assigned	Active
5. Note types	**** No more on file ****	
6. Taxes		
7. Conversion codes		
8. Currencies		
9. Color schemes		
10. Users		
11. Stations		
12. Passwords		
13. Multiple companies		
	F1=next ShF1=prev F3=Search F4=Display	/
	F6=View schedule	

# **V. Find Vendors**

This function is only available if you are using SAMCO Accounts Payable module and have initialized the A/P data files for the active company.

Use this option to look up vendor information from the current company's vendor file. No matter where you are in the SAMCO system, you can look up information about any vendor.

To start the *Find Vendors* function, select **F8** option **V**. A screen similar to the following appears:

le Edit	AR IC	OE S	A A	P PC	GL	FA	JC	PO	BR	PI	CL	FP	PS	RP	TA	TR	EQ	PER
V PA D	X SR	MS N	1P C	M SF	Hel	р												
Þ 🛇 🛠	( 🌼 🚔	1	(م ک	1	₽	6	3 🕤			i O	۲.	1						
SAMCO Power Accounting Your Company Name Here.																		
oom Info					-	r	Find Ve	ndor (	shou	( acti	ve o	alv)	_	_	_	_	_	
oom mo				_		ſ		401	31101	dett	ve o	ny)						-CAD
						Ш	02)	*901	1			Acm	e Co	mpu	ter	Tra	aini	-CAD
						Ш	<u>نے</u>	250						<u> </u>				-CAD
Cont-1						11	04)	105						C1a				-CAD
Cont-2							05)	*BEF	RK			Ber	kley	/ Co	mpre	255	ors	-CAD
Phone1					_		06)	1010	)			Bun	smas	ster	Bal	ker	y	-CAD
Phone2							<mark>*</mark> 07)	CORE				Cor	e Fo	ods	Lir	nite	ed	-CAD
ax [					_		08)	517				Cus	tom	Hou	se			-CAD
Ref#					]		09)	500				E-Z	Rep	bair	s			-CAD
							10)	FAB1	100			Fab	Mal	ceup	Cor	npai	ny,	-CAD
							11)	143				Fin	ca F	ale	stir	na		-CAD
							12)	GLO				Glo	bex					-CAD
							13)	800				Han	son	Man	ufa	tu	ring	-CAD
							14)	102				Hil	lcre	est	Plur	nbiı	ng	-USD
							15)	900				Hyd	ro E	lec	tri	c Ce	ommi	-CAD
							16)	400				Jon	es F	rop	erty	/ Ma	anag	-CAD
							17)	104				Kwa	ntle	en C	011e	ege		-CAD
							E1=ne	xt Sh	F1=	prev (	F3=:	sear	ch					
	* 4		*				F6=sh	iow in	activ	e on	ly Z=	=zoo	mU=	Use	r defi	ned		
							A=Agi	ng E=	Ema	ail								

In reviewing the window, you will notice that a '\*' appears in the left margin. This is the indicator of which vendor you are presently viewing. Next is the vendor number and the vendor name is the last column.

The bottom of the screen offers several options:

**[F1]** or **[PgDn]** allows advancing to the next "page" of vendors. (Note that when advancing to the next "page," the last vendor on the previous "page" is the first vendor on the next "page").

[Shift] + [F1] or [PgUp] will return to the previous "page." (Note that the first vendor on the current "page" becomes the last vendor on the previous "page").

**[F3]** allows you to input all or any part of a vendor name to search upon. The system will display a "page" starting at the first vendor name close to your partial or full entry. Pressing **[Enter]** at the search field will switch the search method from vendor name to vendor number (again, a full or partial entry is allowed).

A, opens up a window which provides account aging and status information

**Z**, opens and closes the Zoom window on the top left of your screen and displays some additional information for the record indicated by the '\*'. This information in the Zoom window will include: Address, Contact #1 name, Contact #2 name, Phone number.

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

6.48

[F8] + Z to view contacts for the customer displayed.

## W. Warehouse detail

This function is only available if you are using Inventory Management module and have initialized the Inventory Management data files for the active company.

Use this option to look up the item warehouse stock on any inventory item from the current company's status file. No matter where you are in the SAMCO system, you can use this facility to look up information.

To start the *Warehouse detail* function, select **F8** option **W**. A window appears for you to enter an item to view warehouse detail for. The window displays quantities on order and quantities committed. Enter a valid item number or use the [?] to bring up the *Find Items* window to search for the item.

Line	Warehouse	Qty-on-hnd	Qty-commit	Qty-avail	Qty-on-ord	Qty-on-bo
	Total:	13,178	99	13,420	341	0
01)	Ce Central	2,668	99	2,910	341	0
02)	1 Main	10,281	0	10,281	0	0
03)	2 Elm St.	0	0	0	0	0
04)	22 Truck #22	0	0	0	0	0
05)	3 Main St.	229	0	229	0	0
06)	55 S.Cal	0	0	0	0	0
	**** No me	ore on file ****				
	**** No me	ore on file ****				
	**** No mo	ore on file ****				
	**** No me	ore on file ****				
	**** No me	ore on file ****				
	**** No mo	ore on file ****				

Once a valid item is selected a screen similar to the following will appear:

The bottom of the screen offers several options:

**[F1]** or **[PgDn]** allows advancing to the next "page" of warehouses. (Note that when advancing to the next "page," the last warehouse on the previous "page" is the first warehouse on the next "page").

[Shift] + [F1] or [PgUp] will return to the previous "page." (Note that the first warehouse on the current "page" becomes the last warehouse on the previous "page").

**[F3]** allows you to input all or any part of a warehouse name to search upon. The system will display a "page" starting at the first warehouse name close to your partial or full entry. Pressing

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

**[Enter]** at the search field will switch the search method from warehouse name to warehouse number (again, a full or partial entry is allowed).

**Z**, displays some additional information for the record indicated by the '\*'. The Zoom feature allows you to 'drill' down to the PO, receiving and sales information, as well as quantities on order and quantities on backorder.

Z again will toggle back to the Find Window, or hit the **[Tab]** key to close both windows simultaneously. You also may choose to scroll through the warehouse list while in the Zoom function.

# Alarms

Alarms are now available in the WINDOWS version of the software. This feature allows the user to set up reminders for a specified date and time. Access this feature from any screen with **[SHIFT/F8]** (Extended Functions). The **ALARMS MAINTENANCE** window will be displayed.

Use **[F2]** to add a new reminder. Enter the first **DATE** for the reminder, and the **TIME** (24 hour clock). Indicate if this reminder is to be **REPEATED** with either **[Y]** or **[N]**. If the reminder is to be repeated, indicate the frequency, with the options; **[H]** hour, **[D]** day, **[W]** week, **[M]** month, or **[A]** annual. Enter the **MESSAGE** text of the reminder. There is a maximum of 25 characters on each of three lines. Press **[Enter]** at the any change prompt.

Use [F1] to scroll to the next page of reminders if there are that many on file.

Use **[Up Arrow]** and **[Down Arrow]** to highlight any previously entered reminder. The [\*] next to the line indicates the active reminder. Once a reminder is highlighted, use **[F3]** to delete, or **[F4]** to edit. Editing is limited to the **REPEAT** and **MESSAGE** fields only.

This feature depends on the date and time that has been set on the server, do not confuse with date and time set on local workstation.

The message is user sensitive and will display only for the user that created the reminder in the first place.

Once the appointed day and time arrives, the message will be displayed on any open screen in use by the creating user. If the user is logged out at the appointed time, the message will appear as soon as the user logs back in. Once the message has been displayed and acknowledged (by the user pressing **[Enter]**), the message will be deleted as long as it has not been setup to **REPEAT**.

		# Period
dd F3 = delete F	4 = edit	-
	-1 - Com	
	udd , F3] - delete , F	xdd , F3 = delete , F4 = edit

#### **Pointers**

- You can also layer the *Extended Functions* window so that more than one function is active at one time. For example, if you were zooming in on a *Customer* records, you could press **[F8]** again and start up another function (normally, you can have up to 6 functions active at one time). Since each function is layered, pressing **[Tab]** returns you to the function you were using before you started the next layer (or function).
- Refer to the chapter titled *Find (?)* for other ways of using the *Find* windows.
- The *Extended Functions* window can be brought up anywhere in the SAMCO applications software, you <u>do not</u> have to exit out of your function to load it.
- Many of the *Find* functions are context sensitive. This means that they carry information from one area and react differently. For example, if you are in the *Find items* window, you can go into the *PO information* and see the open PO's for the selected item that was displayed in *Find item*. Another example would be if you are entering an order for a customer, the *System notepad* would default to the notepad for that customer.





# Chapter 7 Find (?)

At many points in SAMCO Power Accounting software you can use the *Find* function to bring up a window of available entries. These entries can include things such as customers, inventory items, ship via codes, tax codes, vendors, item categories, GL accounts, valid GL accounts, employees, a calendar, a calculator, etc.

For example, if you were entering an order in the *Billing* module and couldn't remember a customer's number, you could use the *Find* function to look it up.

The find function is activated by the use of the [?] in the fields where you would normally enter a value -- like the customer number in the previous example. Once the question mark [?] has been entered, you will be presented with a window displaying the information requested similar to the *Extended Functions'* window.

The [?] serves another purpose when entered as a value for a numeric field. Since numeric entries do not have a predefined list of entries like customers and vendors do, when you enter a [?] in a numeric field, the *Extended Functions: Calculator* is displayed instead, allowing you to make a calculation and paste the calculated value into the field you entered the [?] in (see the chapter titled *Extended Functions Window* for further details).

Here is a sample of a [?] entered in the ship via field in the Customers » Enter function in Accounts Receivable:

ile Edit AR IC OE SA M PA DX SR MS MF		JC PO BR PI CL FP PS RP TA TR EQ PER
▶ O % @ ≡ ✓ X		O ◎   # Q Ø   ◀ ▶ ■   ≣ ₪
Customers		Your Company Name Her
inter		Current period ending 9/30/12
For customer 332	2 21st	Find ship-via code
		× <mark>01) A Air</mark>
21. A/R account	1100-000	02) P Parcel post
22. Stmnt cycle	W	03) PC Paid by cust.
23. Crdt limit	500	04) PS Paid by shipper
24. Crdt rate	AA	05) R Red lin xpress
25. Fin chg?	Y	06) S Special courier
26. Back ordr ?	Y	07) T Truck
		08) U UPS
27. Part ship ?	M	09) W Will call
28. Discnt pct	5.00	**** No more on file ****
29. Invc copies	1	
30. PO# required ?	N	
31. Price level	1 Retail	
32. OE/PS form	"dflt"	F1=next ShF1=prev F3=Search F4=Copy
33. Default ship to	"None"	44 ABCD code
		45. Date added 9/24/09
ress F1 for next code		

All *Find* windows have the following basic functionality:

- · Scrolling or navigation abilities
- Searching
- Zooming
- · Copying or pasting

Other *Find* windows have special features such as instant aging, customer specific pricing, open orders, etc. For further details check the *Extended Functions Window* chapter.

### Scrolling / Navigating

Data in the find window can be scrolled forward or backward one window at a time using the **[F1] / [PgDn]** (Next) and **[Shift]+[F1] / [PgUp]** (Previous) keys.

Use of the **[Up Arrow]** or **[Down Arrow]** will move you forward or backward one data record at a time.

By entering the line number of the data record you desire, you will move directly to that record (e.g. typing **9** moves you to line nine (9) of the window).

Your current line is indicated by the asterisk (\*) to the left of the line number.

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

7.53

To exit out of the Find window without copying or pasting, press [Tab].

### Search

Once the find window is displayed on the screen, you may search for a specific data record. Use of the **[F3]** key takes you into the search function. At this point a list of different fields will be displayed and you can select that field to search in. (For example in Accounts Receivable you will see: Customer No, Customer Name, Customer's Phone, and Postal Code.) you can change the search method by pressing the **[Enter]** key, or complete the search by keying in as much of the field's information as you can.

Note that for the description fields (item description, customer name, vendor name, and so forth) proper use of capitalization is essential for the search criteria to work properly, as the search function is case sensitive.

## **Copy or Paste**

Once the correct data record has been found, it is far faster to let the system transfer it to the field where the find function was called. This copy is accomplished by pressing the **[F4]** key.

You will also be returned to the screen from which the find function was called and will continue with the next prompt on that screen.

### Active and Inactive

By using the **[F6]** key you can change what records are displayed. This feature is found in AR, AP and IC. You can show only active records, show inactive records or show all records. To mark a record active or inactive navigate to the module where the record is maintained and modify the record.

#### Filter

Using the **[F7]** key you can filter the list of records based on a keyword or regular expression. After pressing **[F7]** you will notice you can press **[F1]** to turn off the filter, **[F2]** to match the case exactly, and **[F3]** to use regular expressions.

### Zoom

For some of the data files in the find window, there is additional information available. This information is accessed by typing  $\mathbf{Z}$ . This will result in another window appearing on the screen to the left of the first find window.

As you move through the main find window, you will notice the zoom information changes to match the selected data record. To leave the Zoom Function, simply press  $\mathbf{Z}$  again.





# **Chapter 8 System Functions Menu**

SAMCO has expediently stored all system wide functions in the System Functions sub-menu. This sub-menu is directly reachable from the same main menu where you would select the module to start (Accounts Payable, General Ledger etc.).

From within the System Functions menu you can set up your company information, define printers, set up users, print reports from disk, plus a number of other useful functions.

All of the operations available under this menu are described in detail in the following chapters.

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

System Functions Menu





# **Chapter 9 Reports from Disk**

Throughout the Power Accounting system, when you choose to print a report, you were given a choice of printing it right away on a printer, displaying it on the screen, or printing it to disk. This function allows you to print reports, which you earlier selected to Print to disk, either to the screen or to one of your system or local printers.

Also, if you are using report mirroring (see *Company Data* for further details), you can use this function to re-print audit reports which may have been lost due to printer error.

**Printing to disk:** When you run a function that prints a report, you can indicate that you want it to be stored on disk for later printing. Doing this, you can save reports until a printer is accessible, and then print several or all reports at once. Printing to disk is quicker than printing directly to a printer.

**Printing from disk:** Afterward, when you wish to print the reports that have stored to disk, you can print one or all of them.

**Mirrored reports:** At any time you do a posting (cash receipts, end of day, inventory transaction, GL transactions, etc.) a journal(s) is generated for audit purposes. Quite often, a printer problem may occur which destroys the report or makes it unusable (out of ink, paper jam etc.). If turned on in *Company data* the system will "mirror" the report to disk for you to purge or print later on.

## Printing a list of disk reports

The following instructions describe how to print a listing of all reports available to be printed from disk.

To begin, select *Print list of disk reports* from the *Print reports from disk* sub-menu. The following report options screen appears:

▶ ⓒ X ⓒ # ✔ X ┙ ☆ ♣ │ O O O │ A1 ♥ O │ ◀ ▶ @ │ 目 № rint reports from disk	Acme Enterprise
rint list of disk reports	Autre Enterprise
Please enter	
Reports for which company	
Reports for which package	
Show only stacked reports ?	
nter company-ID, press F1 for next company, or F2 for "A11"	
inter company-ib, press 11 for next company, or 12 for	

# **Reports for Which Company**

Enter the company code for the reports you want to list, press **[Enter]** for the current company, press **[F1]** to scan the company file, or press **[F2]** to print a list of reports for "All" companies.

# **Reports for Which Module**

From the list displayed at the bottom of the screen, type the "2" letter code for the module whose reports you want to list, press **[Enter]** to default to the module you are now using; or press **[F2]** for "All" modules.

# Show Only Stacked Reports?

A "stacked report" is one which you have selected (using option 3, *Stack reports for printing*, below) to put in a "stack" to be printed as part of a group at a later time. Type **N** to show all reports, or type **Y** to show only reports in the stack. (There is only one stack of reports.)

A window appears for you to select how to print the report. Follow the screen instructions.

# Stacking reports for printing

The following instructions describe how to stack or tag reports to be printed later in a batch.

To begin, select *Stack reports for printing* from the *Reports from disk* sub-menu. The following screen is displayed:

Print reports from disk Stack reports for later printing	Acme Enterprises
Please enter	
Reports for which company	
Enter company-ID, press F1 for next company, or F2 for A11"	

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

9.57

### **Reports for Which Company**

Enter the company code for which you want reports stacked, press **[Enter]** for the current company, press **[F1]** to display the next company in order, or press **[F2]** to stack reports from "All" companies.

### **Reports for Which Module**

From the list of modules displayed at the bottom of the screen, type the two letter code of the module you want to stack reports for; press **[Enter]** for the module you are now using; or press **[F1]** for "All" modules.

You are asked "ANY CHANGE?" Answer Y -or else, answer N.

You then see a screen listing the reports for the company and module(s) you specified:

If there are more than 16 reports, you can press **[F1]** to see the next page of reports. From there, you can press **[F1]** to see the next page, or press **[Shift]+[F1]** to return to the previous page.

Select each report to be stacked by entering the line number from the left column on the screen which corresponds to the report you want to stack.

	reports reports	Acme Enterprise					
	Comp	Pkg	Rpt#	Report name	Pages	Stack?	Copies
1)	TC	AR	3037	Sales register	2		
2)	TC	AR	2995	Sales register	2		
30	TC	AR	2991	Cash journal	2		
40	TC	AR	2989	Cash journal	2		
5)	TC	AR	2931	Journal entries journal	1		
6)	TC	AR	2930	Journal entries journal	4		
70	TC	AR	2887	Journal entries journal	1		
8)	TC	AR	2886	Journal entries journal	1		
90	TC	AR	2885	Journal entries journal	1		
10)	TC	AR	2878	Journal entries journal	1		
11)	TC	AR	2876	Journal entries journal	2		
12)	TC	AR	2861	Journal entries journal	1		
13)	TC	AR	2856	Journal entries journal	1		
14)	TC	AR	2855	Journal entries edit list	1		
15)	TC	AR	2850	Journal entries journal	2		
16)	TC	AR	2849	Journal entries journal	1		

Type **Y** when the cursor is positioned in the *Stack?* -Column. Enter the number of copies of that report to be printed, or press **[Enter]** to select one copy to be printed.

To unselect a report that has been stacked beforehand, type **N** or a space when the cursor is positioned in the *Stack?* -Column.

To end stacking reports for this company, press **[Tab]**. The Stack reports for printing screen reappears.

To end stacking reports for later printing, press [**Tab**] once again. The Reports from disk menu reappears.

# **Printing stacked reports**

The following instructions explain how to print the reports previously selected for printing using the *Stack reports for printing* function.

To begin, select Print stacked reports from the Reports from disk sub-menu. You then see a screen similar to the following:

TC: SF - Print reports from disk	A STREET, STRE
Fine East AR IC OF SA AP PC GL FA IC PO BR PI FP PS TA PER PA DX SF Help ■ 🛇 🛠 🏶 ಈ 💞 🗶 🔊 🕈 🕂 丨 🖸 🗇 🗇 🗍 👫 🔍 🗭 🗍 🐇 🔛	
Print reports from disk Print stacked reports	Acme Enterprises
There are 2 reports on the print stack.	
The total number of pages to be printed is 4	]
Are you sure you want to proceed ?	

This screen shows you how many reports are stacked and how many pages will be printed, once you start printing.

Answer **Y** or **N** to "ARE YOU SURE YOU WANT TO PROCEED?" If you answer **N** the Reports from disk menu reappears. If you answer **Y** the printer select window appears for you to choose which printer to send the document(s) to.

The screen shows a display of which report is printing and the number of reports and pages remaining to print.

# **Printing a report log**

The following instructions explain how to print a log of reports printed from disk.

To begin, select Print report log from the Reports from disk sub-menu. The following report criteria screen appears:



Enter the data as follows:

- 1. Start Date: Enter the date for the report to start, or press [F1] for "Earliest".
- 2. End Date: Enter the last date to be included in the report, or press [F1] for "Latest'.

## 3. Include Ordinary Reports?

Answer  ${\bf Y}$  to include non-audit trail reports that have been printed in this report. Otherwise-answer  ${\bf N}.$ 

# 4. Purge File?

If the report file is to be purged, type Y. If it is not, press [Enter] to accept the N default.

The printer select window appears for you to choose which printer to send the document to.





# **Chapter 10 Company Data**

Use this function to make changes to the data in the company file. The company file stores some crucial information about your organization, what modules are available for this company ID, your GL account structure, and various defaults.

This function also allows the initialization of data files for newly added modules or for all or specific modules for a new company.

# **To Begin**

Select, System Functions >> Company data. The following screen appears:



Enter the following data:

# 1. Company Report Name

This entry holds the name you want displayed at the top of all reports, special forms, cheques and invoices. The name will automatically be centred as soon as you press **[Enter]**.

## 2. Company Display Name

Enter the name that you want to appear in the upper right hand corner of the screen for all functions. The name will automatically aligned to the right (right-justified) once you press **[Enter]**.

Address Line 1

- 4. Address Line 2
- 5. Country
- 6. City
- 7. Province/State
- 8. Postal Code/Zip Code
- 9. Phone Number
- 10. Fax Number
- 11. Website
- 12. Email

### 13. Tax registration #

Enter your GST tax registration number.

### 14. Allow protected changes?

When prompted *Field number to change*?, if you select a protected fields, the system will display the message "*Change not allowed*". You can change some protected field by pressing **[F2]** to override the protection. Since this feature can affect sensitive data and the system provides other means for updating the data, it is suggested that this feature only be used when all other alternatives have been exhausted. You can find other methods for updating fields in the manual for that module. If you elect to activate this feature, then also activate the feature *Use change log? So* that every change to a sensitive data field is recorded.

If you answer **[Y]**, changes will be allowed to protected fields by pressing **[F2]** when the message *Change not allowed* is displayed. If you answer **[N]**, the message is still displayed but pressing **[F2]** has no effect.

We recommend that this field should be **[N]** and that only someone with authority (e.g. system administrator) can change it when advised by SAMCO Support.

If you are not sure of the ramifications of over-riding a protected field, you should contact SAMCO Support before changing the field.

### 15. Company CDN or US?

Enter C (Canadian) or U (US) to identify the country of origin for this company.

### 16. Use GST/HST?

Enter  $\mathbf{Y}$  to permit the use of the Canadian Harmonized Goods and Services Tax functionality of the software.

## 17. Cut-off yr for current century:

This field is set to 35 and cannot be changed except by SAMCO. It is used to determine whether an entered date is in the  $20^{th}$  or  $21^{st}$  century.

### 18. Period end date?

Enter the current period end date for sales. This field is automatically updated when the *Close a period* function is run from within the *System Functions* menu.

The date itself is used by the tax codes set up in the *Taxes* function for tracking period-to-date and year-to-date statistics.

(See the chapters titled *Taxes* and *Close a Period* for further details.)

#### 19. Days beyond date

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

10.63

This field is used to check the accuracy of dates entered into transactions. Helping you avoid situations where a transaction gets posted with a date that's months or even years past / before the actual date.

Enter the maximum number of days past the system date that a user can enter into a date field without an error message being displayed. Options include **[F1]** for only the current date is valid or **[F2]** to disable date checking.

For example, if you enter 30 in this field, and a user enters a date 1 year before the system date, an error message will be displayed and the operator will have the option of re-entering the date or pressing **[F2]** to override.

# 20. Allow tax in price?

Answer Y if you include taxes in the selling price.

If you answer **Y**, the ability to handle tax situations where the percentage changes at a certain selling value is **disabled**; tax "A" is 7% on the first \$1,000 and 4% on the balance.

## 21. Use Change Log?

The Change Log is an option you can select if you want to keep a record of all changes made to essential data files. Enter **Y** here if you entered a Y for "Allow protected changes" above.

**NOTE:** If you answer **Y** to this question, a "Change Log" file for each master file will automatically be maintained by the system. Each of these files grows and grows as changes are made to each master file. The only way to reduce the size of these files is to print the Change Log from within the Maintain function for each master file, then answer **Y** to the "PURGE?" question.

After purging, the Change file can be re-initialized (create a new) to shrink it to a smaller size. (See the appendix titled *Initializing Data Files*.)

## 22. Use Stations?

Answer  $\mathbf{Y}$  if you want to take advantage of station IDs. Refer to the chapter titled *Stations* later on in this guide.

**25. Foreign currency?** Set the base currency.

### 26. Demo company?

### Do not set this flag to Y within a live company

By answering **Y**, all demo restrictions will apply (date and number of transactions/master file records) and demo versions of modules can be tested. When set to **N**, only live modules (those which you have a registered serial number and activation key) can be run within the company. (See the chapter on *Setting Up a Demo Company* for further details.)

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

10.64

14 35: SF - Company data File Edit AR IC OE SA AP PC GL FA JC SM PA DX SR MS MP CM SF Help	PO BR PI CL FP PS RP TA TR EQ PER
▶ <b>○</b> % @ # <b>√</b> X <b>↓</b> <del>4</del> ↓ C C	
Maintain company data	
27. Archive disk reports as PDF ?	
28. Archive by date or title ?	Date
29. Use title when archive by date ?	Y
30. Directory for archive files	rwarc
31. Auto clear alpha fields ?	Y
32. Menu style	Menu select
33. Colors for text version	"default"
34. Pause print to screen ?	N
35. Form UDF 1	
36. Form UDF 2	
37. Form UDF 3	
38. Default text directory	rwtxt/
39. Default pdf directory	rwpdf/
40. Default export directory	rwtab/
41. Local export directory (thin only)	C:\SSIDOCS\
Field number to change ?	

### **Document Management**

For all reports printed/mirrored to disk after this feature is activated, the system automatically archives a copy of each report to a PDF file. The archived copy remains when a report(s) is purged from disk until the PDF file is deleted.

**NOTE:** It is very important to note that access to reports archived to a PDF file is not restricted by the passwords in SAMCO Power Accounting. You must prevent access to the PDF (report) files by using security features in your operating system or other software that you have installed.

# 27. Archive disk reports as PDF? [Y] to activate or [N] to deactivate

### Before you get started with archived documents:

While both the *by date* and *by title* options are valid, we would recommend the *by date* method if you are going to manage the archived reports later on. In your archive directory, each day is a separate folder. By adding a new folder at the end of each month, you can move all of the related folders by date into the monthly folder. Then at the year-end, create another new folder and move the associated monthly folders into this yearly folder.

For example (group reports by date and include report title):

SAMCO directory	/u/ssi or C:\SSI
Archive directory	rwarc
Company # directory	KC

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

10.65

Group by date		20090703
Report module, name & number		AR_Sales_Register_2829.pdf
		GL_Gen'l_Journal_Trans_Register_2831.pdf
Group by date		20090704
Report module, name & number		AR_Sales_Register_2854.pdf
		GL_Gen'l_Journal_Trans_Register_2895.pdf
For example (group reports by title and include report time):		
SAMCO directory		/u/ssi or C:\SSI
Archive directory		rwarc
Company # directory		KC
Group by report module & name -		AR_Sales_Register
Report date & number		20090703_1244.pdf
		20090703_1246.pdf
Group by report module & name		GL_Gen'l_Journal_Trans_Register
Report date & time		20090703_1245.pdf
		20090703_1247.pdf
28. Archive by date or title?		Set to [D] to group reports by report date
		Set to [T] to group reports by report title
<b>29.</b> Use title when archive by date?		Set to <b>[Y]</b> to include the report title when grouping by date.
<b>30.</b> Directory for archive files		Do not change the Directory for archive files. It must remain as rwarc.

# 31. Auto clear alpha fields?

This field controls the behaviour when selecting an alpha field for editing.

When set to **Y**, a field chosen for editing will have its contents "selected". As soon as a movement key (such **[End]**, or the arrow keys) is pressed, the field contents is "unselected" and the user can edit accordingly. If a non-movement key is pressed the contents is erased and replaced by the user's entry.

# 32. Menu Style

Enter the number of the menu style to be used as default for this company. The menu styles available are:

• Pull Down

<u>System Functions</u> Samco Power Accounting

10.66

- Overlay
- Pop up
- · Original with highlight bar
- · Original

Keep in mind that this is only the default and can be set differently for each user.

### 33. Colour scheme

Enter the colour scheme to be used or press **[F1]** to use the "default". Refer to the chapter titled *Colour Schemes* later on in this guide.

## 34. Pause print to screen?

Answer  $\mathbf{Y}$  if you want reports printed to screen to be paused after the first page for the operator intervention. We usually recommend setting this to  $\mathbf{Y}$ .

- 35. Form UDF 1
- 36. Form UDF 2
- 37. Form UDF 3
- 38. Default text directory

rwtxt/ specify the default directory when printing a report to a F. Print to file (.txt).

### 39. Default pdf directory

rwpdf/ specify the default directory when printing a report to P. Print to pdf (.pdf).

### 40. Default export directory

rwtab/ specify the default directory when printing a report to X. Export (.tab).

### 41. Local export directory

(Thin Client only)...C:\SSIDOCS\ this refers to the local directory of a thin client user, instead of exporting to a directory on the server.

### 42. Are Passwords Used?

Password- protected access to the entire module is set by answering Y to this question.

NOTE: Ensure that you have at least one (1) password setup which can access password maintenance prior to turning this option on. If you do not you may not be able to get back into the software.

## 43. Use Automatic Passwords?

In an environment with Linux server, you may need a password for your Windows workstation, another for access to the server and yet another to access SAMCO Power Accounting. You may want to consider the use of an "automatic" password for access to the software. This is a

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

10.67

company file option that should be used with caution as it transfers the login name of the user to the password field for SAMCO Power Accounting software. Thus the password to the operating system becomes the key to whether a user can log on or not. You set access to main menu selections, module menu selections and module item selections for automatic passwords the same way that you do for "regular" passwords. Don't forget to set automatic password access to Extended Functions as well.

### 44. Password method

**NOTE:** Before setting this field refer to the chapter titled *Users*. You must make certain there are no duplicate user ids with different passwords.

This field allows you to enter the level of security that is required for the user. Two options are available "I"=independent (Log in with password), or "U"=User (Log in with user then password). The "U" user method is required to use the security settings recommended by SAMCO. You can see in the screen below when "U" is entered, several additional security features are available for user accounts.

The Admin/Super column defines the requirements for users with a role set to Administrator or Supervisor, Other-users is for user's role set to Normal users.



# 53. Screen saver?

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

10.68
Answer **R** for random message display (see *Screen saver text* below), **M** to have your message march across your screen (see *Screen saver text* below), or **N** not to use the screen saver.

When a key is pressed the screen which was previously displayed will reappear.

If you answer N to this field entry the following two fields are skipped and "n/a" is displayed.

### 54. Screen saver delay

Enter the number of minutes the system should wait before blanking your screen and voluntary displaying a message.

### 55. Screen saver text

Enter a short message to display on your screen while the screen saver is active.

### **Printing to the X Printer:**

In order to open reports printed to the 'X' printer, the user must have access to their local directory. If you are a ThinClient user, you must identify the directory in System Functions » Company data. The default is C:\SSIDOCS\.

Each report printed to the 'X' printer is assigned a default file name. After you select the 'X' printer, a pop-up window will prompt **[F1]** to accept the default filename displayed or enter your own filename. Remember to assign a distinctive filename to each report that you wish to keep as filenames can be reused and the data over-written.

**NOTE:** A report printed to disk cannot be later printed to the 'X' printer.

The first time that you select the 'X' Export "printer" from the pop-up Printer Selection window, the system may prompt you to identify which program should be used to open the file. The export files are designed to be opened with Excel. However, they can be opened with any software that can access tab delimited files.

Please note that there may be a delay between the time the report has 'finished printing' and the time Excel worksheet opens. This delay varies upon your system activity levels.



Enter the parameters for your report as you normally do. When the Printer selection popup window is displayed, select the 'X' printer.

### **User Interface**

You may wish to customize the new look at the company and / or user level. We suggest that you use different backgrounds and colours for each company.

To customize at the company level, go to System Functions » Company Data and continue to the fourth entry screen:

35: SF - Company data	
	C GL FA JC PO BR PI CL FP PS RP TA TR EQ PER
M PA DX SR MS MP CM	SF Help
laintain company data	
annum company data	
	Color and background selection for GUI
56. Main screen background	"from default"
57. Main screen text color	(not applicable)
58. Main screen input color	(not applicable)
59. Window background	"from windows theme"
60. Window text color	Black
61. Window input color	Bright-Magenta
62. User may choose bkgrnd?	
ield number to change ?	

**56. Main screen background** – this refers to the background colour or pattern of the screen display(s). The default is blue as can be seen in the example presented above. When you select this field to change, the options are:

- [F1] "SAMCO default"
- [F2] "from windows theme"
- [?] To display the Find background images pop-up selection window.

In this window, use Up or Down arrow keys to select a pattern for your background. Follow the prompts at the bottom of the screen as you normally would. As you move through the list of possibilities, each is displayed to the left of the list. Allow time for the system to display each sample as the files can be quite large. Use **[F5]** to preview a larger sample of the background.

**57. Main screen text color** is the colour that you select will be used for any system-displayed literals such as headings and field names. You must select Black or White. Select this colour in conjunction with the main screen input colour to determine the best contrast between the two.

**58. Main screen input color** is the colour used to highlight menu items and data input fields. Select this colour in conjunction with the main screen text colour to determine the best contrast between the two.

**59.** Window background refers to the background colour or pattern of the pop-up windows that normally contain selection lists of options available such as printers and searches for such things

System	Funct	ions	
Samco	Power	Accountin	۱a

10.71

as customers / vendors / items, etc. The default is grey-green. When you select this field to change, the options are:

[F1] "SAMCO default"

[F2] "from windows theme"

[?] To display the Find background images pop-up selection window. In windows use up or down arrow keys to select a pattern to use for your background. Follow the prompts at the bottom of the screen.

As you move through the list of possibilities, each is displayed to the left of the list. Allow time for the system to display each as the files can be quite large. Use **[F5]** to preview a larger sample of the background.

#### 60. Window text color

The colour you select that will be used in the pop-up window for any system-displayed literals. You must select Black or White. Select this colour in conjunction with the main screen input colour to determine the best contrast between the two.

### 61. Window input color

The colour that is used to highlight menu items and selection options. Select this colour in conjunction with the main screen text colour to determine the best contrast between the two.

### 62. User may choose background?

You may wish to allow individual settings for each user that is set up in the system.

**[Y]** To allow individual user settings

### [N] To disallow individual user settings

To customize at the user level, go to System Functions » Users and proceed to the second entry screen. Although the field numbers are changed, the fields that are available for System Functions » Company Data are also available here. The same rules apply. Refer to the foregoing for detail.

	P PC GL FA CM SF Help	JC PO B	R PI CL FP	PS RP TA	TR EQ PER
> 🛇 % 🏶 🖹 🗸 🗶 🔊	1 🛧 🦊   C	001	H R Ø	<b>4 &gt; 0</b>	
laintain company data					
	G/L account num	nber structure			
63. Number of sections	2				
63. Number of sections	Ľ				
Sections	1	2			
			_		
64. Section names	Main acct	Profit ct			
65. Section sizes 66. Section separators	4				
67. Section types		N			
68. Validate section?	N				
	_				
69. Profit center section 70. Main account section	2				
vo. main account section	Ľ				
Example:	9999-99	9			
ield number to change '					

This screen is used to configure the style of General Ledger account numbers you wish to use, for this particular company.

### **Account Number Structure**

**NOTE:** As the settings here have direct effect on <u>ALL</u> of the modules installed which contain data for this company, none of the values relating to structure of account number may be changed after being set. Be sure you are positive about your GL account structure before continuing.

### **63.** Number of sections:

Enter the number of sections (between 1 and 5) that make up your GL account.

A General Ledger account number may consist of one to five sections. Each of these sections is used to identify something unique about that particular section.

For users upgrading from previous releases of SAMCO Power Accounting, the account number has always been broken into two sections, the first being the main account number and the second being the department, or profit centre.

### 64. Section names:

Enter a name for each section of your GL account number.

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

10.73

The names of the sections are used to set up the valid sections as well as give the user a meaning for what each section is used for.

### 65. Section sizes:

Enter the lengths for each of your account sections.

Each account number section may be from one to eight. The maximum account number length may be 16 characters.

Each section of the account number may have a different length.

### 66. Section separators:

Enter the character you want to separate each account section; i.e. -, ., (, ) etc.

As you may have different meaning for various parts of the account number, the character(s) used to separate the sections may be specified by the user.

### 67. Section types:

The section types fields identify whether the sections of the account number are allowed to be numeric only (with a type of N), or alpha-numeric (with a type of A). Alphanumeric includes numbers and letters, while numeric is only numbers.

### 68. Validate section:

When an account number section is validated the system checks the valid sections file to make sure it can actually use the value you enter. This is used for consistency and when only a few section values are valid; i.e. you may have a section which relates to a department, and you only have a few departments which can be entered (for further details see the chapter titled Valid sections in this guide).

This flag should be set to N when setting up your accounts. If you set it to Y then the sections file will be checked each time you enter a portion of the account number for validity.

### **69. Profit centre section:**

This tells the software which section of the account number is used to identify the profit centre.

As the account number may be more than two sections long, and the main account number itself does not have to be the first section, there is no specific requirement that the profit centre is the second section of the account number.

Simply enter the section of the account number that you wish to be the profit centre.

### 70. Main account section

	Example:	9999-999	
System Functions			Comp
Samco Power Accoun	ting	10.74	

bany Data

Once you have entered values in all of the fields, you will see a prompt at the bottom of the screen saying "Field number to change?" If you must make any changes, do so now, otherwise this is the structure of the account numbers for this company, and it may not be changed.

When you have completed any changes, press [Enter] to proceed to the next screen.

IP ◇ ※ 録 営 ✓ X N 全 ◀ Maintain company data Packao	es to place on the main menu	
<ul> <li>71. Accounts Receivable</li> <li>72. Inventory Management</li> <li>73. Billing</li> <li>74. Sales Analysis</li> <li>75. Accounts Payable</li> <li>76. Payroll</li> <li>77. General Ledger</li> <li>78. Fixed Assets</li> <li>79. Job Cost</li> <li>80. Purchase Order</li> <li>81. Bank Reconciliation</li> <li>82. Professional Invoicing</li> <li>83. Custom Labels</li> </ul> Press F2 for all installed packages	<ul> <li>Y</li> <li>84. FishPro</li> <li>Y</li> <li>85. Point of Sale</li> <li>Y</li> <li>86. Report Writer</li> <li>Y</li> <li>87. Time and Attendance</li> <li>Y</li> <li>98. Trucking Manager</li> <li>Y</li> <li>90. Personnel Manager</li> <li>Y</li> <li>91. Service Manager</li> <li>Y</li> <li>92. Purchasing</li> <li>Y</li> <li>Y</li> <li>95. Global/DX</li> <li>Y</li> <li>Y</li> <li>96. MenuPoint</li> </ul>	

There are two ways of entering data from the screen. Press **[F2]** to automatically set up each module for this company for use. If a new module has been added for which there are no data files, this function will automatically initialize new data files.

Or, answer **Y** or **N** to each module you want available to this company. Enter **Y** beside a module and press **[Enter]** the function will create new data files for the module. To remove a module from a company ID's menu, select the module to be removed and enter **N**.

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

10.75





## **Chapter 11 Valid Sections**

This function is used to set up lists of genuine values for validated GL account sections.

### What is an account section?

GL accounts can consist of up to 5 parts called sections, with each section having a specific function. Setting up the number of sections your GL account has is done in *Company data*.

The most common reason for having multiple GL account sections is to be able to distribute assets, liabilities, income, and expenses to specific departments or divisions within an organization.

For example, a company might have a GL account structure such as ####-PPP-DD where #### is the general account (i.e. accounts receivable, sales etc.), PPP is the profit centre (i.e. Elm Street Store, Main Street Store, etc.), and DD is the department within the profit centre (i.e. Sales, Marketing, Administration etc.).

#### What is a validated section?

When setting up a GL account you must enter a value for each section. When a section is validated, the value you enter is <u>validated</u> against the list entered in this function.

For example, company XYZ uses a two section account number (####-PPP), where the second section is set up as validated in *Company data*. Before entering GL accounts XYZ must first set up a list of valid entries for the section account section in this function. The system will then only allow XYZ to set up accounts where the value in the second account section is in the Valid Sections file.

We highly recommend validating profit centre or departmental account sections to maintain consistency and control. When time comes for reporting you will be able to group your financial information in an organized and consequential manner.

**NOTE:** In this manual, any data entry field showing a [?] symbol at the front supports the *Find* function for data lookup (see the chapter titled *Find* for details).

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

11.76

Valid Sections





## **Chapter 12 Note Types**

Date sensitive notes (accessible using F6 within the master file maintenance screens such as Customers, Chart, Vendors, Items, etc.) support note types. In order to use this feature the Note Type codes need to be created and maintained.

Each note type consists of a module it applies to (AR,IC,OE,AP,PR,FA,GL PI,PO,BR,PS and PC), a 12 character type code, and a 25 character description.

When entering F6 notes you now have the option of entering or looking up by the note type code or pressing F2 and using the traditional date stamped note.

An example of note type in inventory would be a 'SPECS' (Specifications) note type that lists the details about your products. Rather than sifting through dated notes you simply bring up the SPECS note type and there's the information you need.



System Functions Samco Power Accounting 12.77

Note Types





## **Chapter 13 Taxes**

This chapter discusses the functions necessary for setting up and maintaining taxes. This chapter only applies if you have Accounts Receivable, and/or Inventory Management.

After reading this chapter, we suggest reading the appendix titled *Handling Taxes* for some useful information on how taxes can be implemented.

Support is provided not only for standard Provincial/GST tax situations, but also for value added, environmental, eco and fixed rate surtax (unit tax). Single taxes can even be layered to handle conditions where a different rate is charged at a predetermined price break; i.e. 7% on the first \$1,000 and 4% on the balance.

Within the Taxes function are four sub-functions - Tax types, Tax groups, Taxable codes and ship-to tax groups. Each is outlined below.

### **Tax Types**

This function is used to set up a list of the types of taxes you use and some basic information about how they are handled. The most common scenario would be to set up of the GST tax type, PST tax type and HST tax type. Some companies may also set up an environmental tax (car batteries, tires etc.), eco tax or any special tax specific to their industry.

### **Tax Groups**

Tax groups have two purposes:

- 1. To group the tax types (see above), that apply to customers by province.
- 2. To set the rate applied (except for unit or piece-rate taxes which are set using the *Taxable codes* function) to each tax type within the group.

Since many tax situations can apply to any one company, this function allows you to define more detailed information about a particular condition. If your company deals strictly with PST and GST for one province, you would simply set up a tax code setting the PST and GST tax type percentages. Identifying whether a customer or item is exempt for one or more taxes is done at either the customer or item record levels.

When setting up customers you would set the tax group code that applies to this customer (usually by province), and the taxable status of each tax type (see *Customer* in the Accounts Receivable user manual and the appendix titled *Handling Taxes* at the end of this guide for more details).

### **Taxable Codes**

This function is used in conjunction with Inventory Management.

The purpose of taxable codes is to handle conditions where a particular item does not adhere to the standard taxable situation, or to deal with customers/regions with different taxable situations. Below are a few examples to clarify this:

**Environmental Tax:** Under most circumstances environmental taxes are levied as a unit tax; i.e. \$ 15.00 per battery, or \$ 5.00 per tire etc. To handle this you would set up a "tax type" for environmental taxes, and enter a 0% rate for the environmental "tax type" in your "tax group". Next, you would set up "taxable codes" for the unit tax rates. When setting up the IC item, you enter the "taxable code" in the tax status field for the environmental "tax type". This gives you the ability to have multiple unit rates using the same tax type since you can set up an unlimited number of "taxable codes".

**Provincial Differences:** For companies that sell product across the country from regional warehouses, it is important to be able differentiate the taxable status of an item by warehouse. This is accomplished by utilizing "taxable codes". Simply set up a "taxable code" representing the taxable scenario for each province you have a warehouse in and then attach the taxable code to the inventory item.

**Different Percentage:** Some items may have a different tax rate for the same tax type. To handle this, a taxable code is set up for each different rate and entered in the inventory item's tax type status field.

### Ship-to Tax Groups

The purpose of ship-to tax group is to show list of province/state and allow change of tax groups for each pre-set province.

### **Tax Groups**

Tax groups are used by the system to group applicable tax situations for the sales sub-ledgers (Accounts Receivable, Billing, Point of Sale, Professional Invoicing, and Time and Billing). If you are <u>not</u> using any sales entry sub-ledger module(s) you can skip this function.

### What are Tax Groups?

Tax groups are used by the system to "group" applicable tax types (see *Tax Types* in the previous section) which are relevant to customers or sales. Tax groups are also used to set the tax rates and the appropriate GL account for distribution.

For example, if you only dealt with GST and PST you would probably only have one tax group listing the GST and PST tax types. The taxable status of each tax would be set in the customer's record (see *Customers* in the Accounts Receivable user manual as well as the in depth discussion on taxes in the appendix titled *Handling Taxes* at the end of this manual).

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

13.79

### **Taxable Codes**

**NOTE:** This function is only applicable if you are using Inventory Management and if Inventory Management is turned on in *Company data*.

Using Taxable codes, you can set up codes that allow for:

- · "Replacement" tax rates for specific items
- · A piece-rate tax amount for specific items
- · A piece-rate surtax amount for specific items
- · Single piece tax maximums for specific taxes
- · "Tax-on-tax" calculation for specific items
- · Warehouse specific taxes

Taxable codes are assigned to specific tax types for specific items, and are used by Point of Sale, Billing, and Professional Invoicing.

For a detailed explanation of how taxes are utilized and for various examples, please refer to the appendix titled *Handling Taxes* at the end of this manual.

#### **Tax Group Related Codes**

The purpose of tax group related codes is to handle scenarios where groups of customers (usually geographically) are taxed differently for specific items. Tax group related codes allow you to do the following:

- Change the taxable status of a tax type for an item for a customer
- · Change the percentage charged for a tax type for an item for a customer
- · Change the tax type's rate from a percentage to a unit-rate for an item for a customer
- · Implement a maximum taxable amount for a tax type for an item for a customer

Tax group related codes are not a common occurrence and are only applicable if you are using Accounts Receivable and a sub-ledger billing module such as Point of Sale, Billing, or Professional Invoicing.

Here is an example of how a tax group related code might be implemented:

XYZ Company has offices across Canada but does its billing and shipping out of a central office in Toronto, ON. The tax situation for XYZ Company is usually very simple (PST taxable / GST taxable) except for one particular group of items ("How to..." manuals).

Unlike all other XYZ products, "How to..." manuals are taxable at the full rate in some provinces, taxed at a lower rate in others, and tax exempt in others. To handle this, XYZ would set up tax group related codes for each province identifying the applicable tax group and tax change needed. Within each "How to ....." manual item, XYZ would attach the tax group related code to each provincial sales tax.

System Functions Samco Power Accounting Taxes

When a "How to....." manual is sold, the billing module will see that the item has a tax group related code attached to it. The system then looks to see if the customer's tax group matches up with that of the tax group related code. If it does, the tax group related code overrides the tax situation for that item. If not, nothing changes.

Using the above scenario (narrowing down the scope to B.C. and Ontario), let us say XYZ Company has set up the following tax types and groups:

Туре	<b>Description</b>		
GST	Goods & Services Tax		
PST	Provincial Sales Tax		
<u>Group</u>	<b>Description</b>	<u>Type</u>	<u>Rate</u>
ON	Ontario Taxes	GST	7%
PST			8%
BC	B.C. Taxes	GST	7%
PST			7%

XYZ Company sets up each customer in Ontario with the ON tax group and every customer in B.C. with the BC tax group.

"How to....." manuals in Ontario are charged at 4%, while they are exempt in B.C. To handle this, XYZ Company would set up the following tax group related codes:

### Taxable Tax

<u>Code</u>	<u>Group</u>	<b>Description</b>	<b>Change</b>
01	N/A"How	v to"	N/A
01	ON	ON - "How to"	4% tax rate
01	BC	BC - "How to"	Exempt

When setting up the "How to...." manuals, XYZ would attach the 01 taxable codes to the PST tax type.

When XYZ sells a "How to...." manual to a customer in Ontario, the system sees that the item has a tax group related code matching that of the customer / invoice, and changes the regular tax rate from 8% to 4%. Likewise, when a "How to...." manual is sold to a B.C. client, the system will make the item B.C. sales tax exempt.

### Setting Up Tax Group Related Codes

You will notice in the previous example there was a taxable code which was not a tax group related code (N/A under **Tax group**). In order to set up tax group related codes you must first set up a "header" code. This code is used for all subsequent *tax group related* codes to "group" them together. The code you enter for the "header" code would also be attached to a tax type in the item record.

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

13.81

Taxes

The information you enter for the "header" code does not matter since it is used only to "group" *tax group related codes* together and is not actually processed.

To set up *tax group related codes* press **[F5]** when at the **1. Taxable code**. Enter the following information:

### 1. Taxable code

Enter the "header" code for this *tax group related code*. When setting up inventory items you will attach this code to identify a different taxable situation for a particular tax type (i.e. PST, GST, HST, ENV etc.).

**NOTE:** You cannot have the same taxable code apply to both tax groups and warehouses. A unique code must be set up for each scenario.

### [?] Tax group

Enter a valid tax group code (see *Tax Groups* earlier on in this chapter), press **[F1]** for the next *tax group related code* on file, or press **[F2]** for the next tax group on file.

Remember that tax groups are attached to specific customers to "group" the applicable taxes for them. The number of *tax group related codes* you set up for each taxable code is limited only to the number of tax groups you have set up.

### 2. Description

Enter a description for this *tax group related code* or press **[Enter]** to default to the **1. Taxable code** description.

The remaining fields are identical to setting up a regular taxable code and were described at the beginning of this section of the chapter.

When setting up *tax group related codes* you must keep in mind that they apply to specific tax types (i.e. GST, PST, HST etc.) and not the tax groups as a whole. The tax groups themselves are used to identify which clients the change applies to.

### **Warehouse Related Codes**

Warehouse related codes are very similar to *tax group related codes* except that they are associated with inventory warehouses and not customer tax groups.

Use these codes in situations where the tax situation is different for an item for each warehouse. For example, item "A" is GST taxable / PST taxable to customers in Ontario and GST taxable / PST exempt in British Columbia. Since the taxable status of this item is independent of the customer, applying adjustments to tax types at the warehouse level is available.

#### **Setting Up Warehouse Related Codes**

Similar to *tax group related codes*, in order to set up warehouse related codes you must first set up a "header" code. This code is used for all subsequent *warehouse related* codes (with the same "header" code of course) to "group" them together. The code you enter for the "header" code would also be attached to a tax type in the item record.

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

13.82

The information you enter for the "header" code does not matter since it is used only to "group" *warehouse related codes* together and is not actually processed.

To set up *warehouse related codes* press **[F5]** twice when at the **1. Taxable code**. Enter the following information:

### 1. Taxable code

Enter the "header" code for this *warehouse related code*. When setting up inventory items you will attach this code to identify a different taxable situation for a particular tax type (i.e. PST, GST, ENV etc.).

**NOTE:** You cannot have the same taxable code apply to both tax groups and warehouses. A unique code must be set up for each scenario.

### [?] Warehouse

Enter a valid warehouse (see *Warehouses* in the Inventory Management user manual), press **[F1]** for the next *warehouse related code* on file, or press **[F2]** for the next warehouse on file.

The number of *warehouse related codes* you set up for each taxable code is limited only to the number of warehouses you have set up.

### 2. Description

Enter a description for this *warehouse related code* or press **[Enter]** to default to the **1. Taxable code** description.

The remaining fields are identical to setting up a regular taxable code and were described at the beginning of this section of the chapter.

### Print taxable codes list

Use this function to generate a listing of taxable codes. To begin, select *Print* from the *Taxable codes* sub-menu.

A screen appears for you to enter the following information:

### [?] 1. Start taxable code

### [?] 2. End taxable code

Enter a range of taxable codes to include in the report. Follow the screen instructions.

### Ship-to tax groups

Follow the screen instructions:

Ship to Province; tax group and description of tax group.



<u>System Functions</u> Samco Power Accounting

Taxes





## **Chapter 14 Conversion Codes**

To set a table of conversions, go to System Functions » Conversion codes and create a set of codes. A few particulars about the codes themselves:

- Enter a base code (KM for example), and a conversion code (MILE for example).
- Enter an \* or / conversion operator (\* for example) and then the conversion factor value (.62137 for example).
- Once entered press [F2] to create the inverse conversion code.
- To delete entry press [F3]

1-1 35: SF - Cor	version codes maintenacrie		0	80 22
Ele Ede A	E C CE SA AP RC G, FA K FO M P CL S = √X↓ + ↓   000   A < C	FP PS RP TA TR EQ PER SM PA DX 1 → ● ● ●   필 喩	SR MS MP CM SF Help	
Conver	sion code maintenance		Your Company Name	Here.
Enter (E	inter) * 1. Base Unit * 2. Conversion unit	CM IN		
	Conversion of base uni			
	3. Conversion operator 4. Conversion factor	9 . 39370	IN per CM	
F2 = Inv Field	rerse number to change ?			
em Functions			(	Conversion Co
nco Power Accounting		14.85		





## **Chapter 15 Color Schemes**

This function allows you to set up standard terminal color schemes for users.

### Linux / UNIX / AIX Set Up

If you are running a Linux / UNIX / AIX terminal or console, you must first tell SAMCO Power Accounting that you can support color. To do this, the following variable must be set up and exported through your .profile or login script:

SSIMODE=COLOR.LIB; export SSIMODE

Color Schemes





## **Chapter 16 Users**

This function is used to define the required menu access for users as well as the preferred menu style, preferred color, screen saver options, printer and station defaults for individual users of the SAMCO accounting system.

When you start up the SAMCO system you may be prompted to enter a "User id". This user id stores access rights as well as other personal preferences unique to the user (printers, colors etc.).

They also allow other users on the system to send you *Messages* through the *Extended Functions: Messages* function, identify who you are and what you are doing in the *Extended Functions: View User Activity* function, they are included on the top of reports to identify who they were printed by, and are used in the posting by user function in various applications.

### Upgrading the password security method

Before using the user name and password functions listed below, it may be necessary (and is highly recommended) to convert or upgrade the systems password method. Before this can be done you must remove duplicate users/passwords and then set the control flag in Company data from **I=independent login with the password** to **U=User (login with user then password)**.

The previous password method was driven by the password and often users would use a single user id with different passwords. To come in line with modern security practices (including credit card anti-fraud requirements) the user name now drives user accounts and users will not use different passwords for a single user id.

The password maintenance now has a report option for printing the list of passwords, including showing which ones will cause the upgrade to user password method to fail.

To make the change:

- 1. Run the password report.
  - a. Select System Functions » Passwords
  - b. Choose Print Password Report.
  - c. Complete the criteria, and print the report.

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

16.87

Users

Commented [A1]: From readme

ain passwords rt	Your Company Name
Please enter	
1. Sort by	Password
2. Starting password	"First"
3. Ending password	"Last"
4. Starting user	"First"
5. Ending user	"Last"
6. Duplicates only?	N

2. Delete duplicate users/passwords. At this point, you will see a report showing all the passwords. As the report states, duplicates are marked by \* next to user id. They must be fixed before the password method can switch to 'User.' Passwords with None as user will not exist after converting to the user method of password control.

For example, you might have a user id "KS" and the report will show that user has been used more than once, it will show two or most passwords for that user. One of these passwords must be deleted.

**3.** Change the password method. Once the report no longer contains duplicates you should go to Company Data and set the Password method field to **U**.



If you attempt to change this from I to U, prior to removing duplicate users the system will notify you of the first user/password that is a duplicate.

4. Finally, you can now select System Functions » Users and begin the steps below.

#### **Entering users**

To begin, select Enter user from the Users sub-menu. The following data entry screen is displayed:

Enter the following data:

### [?] 1. User id

Enter a unique user ID (usually a person's initials), or press [F1] for the next user on file.

While at *Field number to change*? Here you can make changes, or pressing **[F3]** to delete the user.

### 2. Name:

Enter the full name of this user.

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

16.89

### 3. System id:

This is the user name used to connect to your workstation or server.

### 4. Job title:

Optionally, enter the job title of this user.

#### 5. Street address:

Enter the user's street address.

### 6. City:

Enter the user's City.

### 7. Province:

Enter the users Province.

### 8. Postal code:

Enter the users Postal code.

### 9. Phone number:

Enter the address and telephone information for this user.

#### 10. Role:

Roles are used to define permissions for groups of users. There are three roles, Administrator, Supervisor and Normal User.

Supervisors and Normal Users are only used for organizing users. However, only users with the Administrator role can do the following:

- · Change user passwords and/or access control
- Change any value for a user other than themselves. ie) A user may go into their own record and change most fields (some are administrator locked, like password and access control) but cannot change anything in records belonging to other users. They can view but not change.
- · Add or delete users.
- For user maintenance, change login id, role, new password flag, active flag, access control, station id, order type access flags, show-profit flag, hide cost flag, eSend fields (TSI, company name, from fax, default printer) SMS sales rep #, default directories,
- · In company maintenance, change the password fields.
- In OE control, change the credit card fields.
- In OE tills, change the credit card fields.
- In P/S registers, change the credit card fields.

### 11. Password:

If you are logged in as an Administrator you can set the users password.

### 12. New Password Required?:

Does the user need to enter a new password next time they login.

### 13. Login Allowed?

Set if the user is allowed to use the system with that login.

### Access Control

### 14: Access Control:

Set which functions the user will have access to.

After selecting this menu you will see the following screen:

sers		Your Company Name Here
Isers (Enter)		Pick access area
	1. User id	
	2. Name	Ky1 3. Printers access
• •	3. System id	Ky1
19	4. Job title	Admin
	5. Street address	
39	6. City	
	7. Province	
	8. Postal code	
	9. Phone number	
1	0. Role	Administrator
1	1. Password	**************************************
1	2. New password required?	N
1	3. Login allowed?	Y
1	4. Access control	(set and in use)
	Last login	none
	Last login attempt	none

Choosing Menu access will allow you to set the menus that this user can see and enter.

<u>System Functions</u> Samco Power Accounting

rs, ac	cess controls		Your Company Name Her
Ку	le		
Aenu:	Main Menu		
əs	*Accounts Receivable	Yes	*Chit Manager
es	·Inventory Management	Yes	<ul> <li>Trucking Manager</li> </ul>
'es	Billing	Yes	•Equity Manager
es	•Sales Analysis	Yes	•Personnel Manager
'es	Accounts Payable	Yes	Time & Billing
es	Payroll	Yes	Sales Management Solutions
es	•General Ledger	Yes	*CrossRoads
es	•Fixed Assets	Yes	•Purchasing
es	·Job Cost	Yes	Global/DX
es	•Purchase Order	Yes	*Service Control
es	Bank Reconciliation	Yes	Scheduler
es	Professional Invoicing	Yes	Multi-site
es	Custom Labels	Yes	MenuPoint
es	•Fish Processor	Yes	Contacts Manager
es	•Point of Sale	Yes	System Functions
es	•Report Writer		
es	•Time and Attendance		
es	•Humane Society Manager		
es	N=no S-some F1=all yes	F2=all no	

Your company may have a different number of menus.

Use the Up or Down arrow keys on your keyboard to move up and down from module to module.

- Y Yes.... By pressing the Y key beside a module, you have said that the current password allows complete access to the current menu selection, as well as the entire sub menu's underneath.
- **N** No.... By saying **N** to a menu selection, you had said that the user may not use this menu selection, or any of the sub menu selections underneath.
- **Some....** As the name implies, typing an **S** allows you to select individual sub menu options. This option is only available for a selection if the menu name is accompanied by an asterisk (\*) to the left of the module or menu name. Selection of the 'some' criteria will automatically move you into the next menu level down, so that you may choose which of the options you wish to be available for the password.
- **[F1]** all yes.... Press **[F1]** to set all modules to "Yes". Each module set to "Yes" will have all of its functions available to this password.
- **[F2]** all no.... Sets all modules to: "No". Each module set to "No" will not be accessible by this password. In fact, the menu items will not even appear on the user's screen.

System Functions Samco Power Accounting There are several levels of user access, which greatly enhance the flexibility and security of your accounting information. The current menu level is indicated on the screen just above the list of available modules, or menu options.

#### Main Menu

The main menu level contains all of the modules possible to have installed. You do not need to set up access for those modules which are not installed, however you may do so if you wish.

### **Module Menu**

This level of menu allows you to individually select which menu options within a software module this user will have access to.

#### **Module Function Menu**

This level of the program is where you would be choosing which functions for the particular module are accessible.

Module functions which contain additional menus will be marked with an asterisk (\*), you may enter those menus to set access controls for the items in them.

### **Extended Function Access**

The Extended Function Access menu option allows you to control access to the SAMCO *Extended Functions* activated with the **[F8]** key from any menu in the system.

To begin, select Extended Function Access from the Access Control sub-menu. You will see the following screen:

ari	cess controls		Your Company Name H
lenu:	Extended		
0	System gateway	No	Find inventory
0	Calculator	No	PO information
0	Personal notepad	No	Quick customer labels
0	System notepad	No	Conversion codes
0	Calendar	No	Scheduler
0	View user activity	No	Find vendors
0	Phone book	No	Find warehouses
0	Messages	No	Find customer contacts
o	Find valid acounts	No	Find vendor contacts
0	Find customers	No	Supervisor passwords
0	Find employees	No	Alarms
0	Fax memo	No	Cores
0	Find G/L accounts	No	Find foreign currencies
o	Find items	No	View image
0	Find orders	No	Save files open table
o	Find item keyword	No	Reverse phone lookup
0	Item label		
0	Electronic mail		
es	N=no F1=all yes	F2=all no	

System Functions

Samco Power Accounting

Users

Enter one of the following keys to allow or disallow access to each of the extended functions available to the user,

**[Y]**=yes, by pressing the **Y** key beside a function, you have said that the current user to have access to the current function.

**[N]**=no, by pressing the **N** key beside a function, you have said that the current use will not be allowed access to the current function.

[F1]=all yes, the user is given access to all functions.

[F2]=all no the user is given access to no functions.

#### **Printer Passwords**

In the same way that Extended Function Access is set for individual or all of the extended functions a user's printer access can be set.

To Begin, select the Printers Access sub menu from the Access Control menu.

Now, using the same keys you can set which printers the user has access to.

**[Y]**=yes, by pressing the **Y** key beside a printer name, you have said that the current user to have access to the current printer.

[N]=no, by pressing the N key beside a printer name, you have said that the current use will not be allowed access to the current printer.

[F1]=all yes, the user is given access to all printers.

[F2]=all no, the user is given access to no printers.

**[O]**=Opt'l, set the printer to "Optional". When the printer selection screen is displayed the user can choose to include or exclude "Optional" printers in the printer list using the **[F2]** key as a toggle.

### Printing a User List

Use the Print user list function to print a list of user IDs.

To begin, select Print user list from the Users sub-menu. Enter a range of user ID's to include in the report. Follow the screen instructions.





## **Chapter 17 Stations**

This function is used to set up and maintain stations within a company. Each station can have a different display and report name, address, or telephone number. For forms in *SAMCO Billing*, the system automatically uses the station report name and address if other than "Main".

For *SAMCO Billing*, each station can have a different invoice and order number sequence, or default to the invoice and order numbers maintained in the *O/E control file*.

Each station can also have a different tax registration number or default to the number stored in the company file.

In order for this function to be available, you must answer **Y** to the **Use stations?** field in the Company data function. For information on this, please refer to the chapter in this guide titled Company Data.

### Entering stations

Select [F2] » Stations » Enter.

Enter the following data:

### [?] 1. Station number

Enter the ID for a new or existing station, or press [F1] to display the next record on file.

If a station record is displayed, you have the option of making changes or pressing **[F3]** to delete the station record.

#### 2. Station display name

Enter a name that you want to appear in the upper right hand corner of the screen for all functions. The name will be automatically aligned to the right (right-justified) as soon as you press **[Enter]**.

### 3. Station report name

This entry holds the name you want displayed at the top of all reports, on special forms, on cheques and on invoices. You are allowed up to 50 characters, including spaces and punctuation.

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

17.95

To use the default report name from the company file, press **[F1]** "*Main*" is displayed as the field value.

The name will automatically be centered as soon as you press [Enter].

### 4. Station address

This entry holds the address you want printed on special forms, on cheques and on invoices. Enter up to 2 lines of station address, or to use the default company address from the company file, press **[F1]** *"Main"* is displayed for the field values.

### 5. Country

Enter the country, or to use the default country from the company file, press **[F1]** "*Main*" is displayed for the field values.

### 6. City

Enter the city, or to use the default city from the company file, press **[F1]** "Main" is displayed for the field values.

### 7. Province

Enter the province, or to use the default province from the company file, press **[F1]** "*Main*" is displayed for the field values.

### 8. Postal Code

Enter the postal code, or to use the default postal code from the company file, press **[F1]** *"Main"* is displayed for the field values.

### 9. Station phone number

This entry holds the telephone number you want printed on special forms, on cheques and on invoices. Enter the telephone number for this station, or press **[F1]** to default to "main", where the telephone number will be taken from the company file. Up to 12 alphanumeric characters are allowed. This field is optional.

#### 10. Station fax number

Enter the station fax number for this station, or press **[F1]** to default to "main", where the station fax number will be taken from the company file.

### 11. Website address

Enter the website address for this station, or press **[F1]** to default to "main", where the website address will be taken from the company file.

### 12. Email address

Enter the email address for this station, or press **[F1]** to default to "main", where the email address will be taken from the company file.

### 13. Tax registration #

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

17.96

Enter the tax registration number for this station, or press **[F1]** to default to "main", where the tax registration number will be taken from the company file.

A second screen appears if you have Billing/Order Entry installed:

ation ation B	illing fields			npany Name He
ation	S1 Sales Station #001			
	14. Station invoice number	"Main"		
	15. Station order number	"Main"		
	16. Station quote number	"Main"		
	17. Station RMA number	"Main"		
	18. Default warehouse	Central		
	19. Paper invoice form	"Main"	20. Paper printer#	"Main"
	21. eSend invoice form	"Main"	22. eSend printer#	"Main"
	23. Profit center	"Main"		

Enter the following:

### 14. Station invoice number

Enter the next invoice number for this station, or press **[F1]** to default to "main" where the next invoice number will be taken from the Billing/Order Entry control file.

#### 15. Station order number

Enter the next order number for this station, or press **[F1]** to default to "main" where the next order number will be taken from the Billing/Order Entry control file.

#### 16. Station quote number

Enter the next quote number for this station, or press **[F1]** to default to "main" where the next quote number will be taken from the Billing/Order Entry control file.

### 17. Station RMA number

Enter the next RMA number for this station, or press **[F1]** to default to "main" where the next RMA number will be taken from the Billing/Order Entry control file.

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

17.97

### 18. Default warehouse

Enter the warehouse for this station, or press **[F1]** to default to "main" where the warehouse number will be taken from the Billing/Order Entry control file.

#### **19. Station invoice form**

Enter the invoice form id or press **[F1]** to default to "main" where the invoice form will be taken from the Billing/Order Entry control file.

### 20. Paper printer#

Enter the paper printer# or press **[F1]** to default to "main" where the paper printer# will be taken from the Billing/Order Entry control file.

### 21. eSend invoice form

Enter the eSend invoice form id or press **[F1]** to default to "main" where the eSend invoice form will be taken from the Billing/Order Entry control file.

### 22. eSend printer#

Enter the eSend printer# or Press **[F1]** to default to "main" where the eSend printer# will be taken from the Billing/Order Entry control file.

### **Printing a station list**

To begin, select *Print station list* from the *Stations* sub-menu. The printer select window appears for you to choose which printer to send the document to.

### 23. Profit Center

Enter the profit centre for this station, or press **[F1]** to use the default taken from the Billing/Order Entry control file.

NOTE: A third screen appears if you have Fishpro installed:

Station		Your Company Name Here
Station F	ishpro fields	
Station	1 My User Station	
	24. Print tickets default	Immediate
	25. Ticket printer number	"Main"
	26. Ticket format	
	27. Next check number	
	28. Print checks default	
	29. Check printer number	"Main"
	30. Next receipt number	
	31. Print receipts default	
	32. Receipt printer number	"Main"
	33. Default delivery loc	
	34. Default gear type	
ield n	umber to change ?	

<u>System Functions</u> Samco Power Accounting





## **Chapter 18 Multiple Companies**

You can use the SAMCO accounting modules to perform accounting functions for more than one company. This function is provided for you to designate each company by a two character code.

If you do not use multiple companies, you don't have to do anything, and this feature will not affect you in any way.

If you do use multiple companies, use this function to enter a code that identifies each company. Once you have set them up, you will be asked for company-ID (company identification) when you begin running any of the SAMCO accounting modules.

Multiple Companies





## **Chapter 19 Printers**

For optimum flexibility, the function of setting up printers is divided into four components:

- · Printer feature types
- Printer types
- eSend formats
- · System printers
- Local printers

Fortunately, printers are system wide independent of company ID numbers. This means you only have to set up printers once. If you add another company ID, the printers you set up previously will be available to this new company.

### **Setting up Printers**

Note: Printer Compatibility: We require: Laser printers; PCL5 and Postscript compatible

The first step to setting up printers is to tell the system the types of features your printers have that you may want to access; i.e. italics, a particular type face, a specific font size, etc. This is done through the Printer feature types function.

Next, you will want to set up the different models of printers you have available. This is done through the Printer types function. For your convenience, SAMCO has already set up a number of the more popular printer types.

Now that you have the models of printers and the features you wish to use set up, you now need to tell the system where these printers are located. This is done through the System printers and Local printers functions.

The four components to setting up printers are found within the Printers selection on the System Functions menu. Each component will be described in a separate section of this chapter.

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

19.101

Printers

### **Printers Features Types**

This function is used to *generally* describe the types of features your printers have that you want to access when creating user definable forms. Each feature you set up here will be listed when you set up your *Printer types*. From there you can tell the system how to access these features for your printers.

For example, you may want to set up a features list that looks something like this:

### TYPE DESCRIPTION

IT-ON Italic Print - ON

IT-OF Italic Print - OFF

BD-ON Bold Print - ON

BD-OF Bold Print - OFF

When defining your printer types, the above list would appear for you to enter the control code sequences to access each feature. Be sure that for every feature you turn on (bold, italic, special type face etc.) there should be a corresponding feature to turn it off.

As was mentioned earlier, printer feature types are used in the design and use of user definable forms (such as invoices, A/R customer statements etc.). When designing these forms you can insert a printer feature at any point on any line. For example, to print the total on an invoice in bold, you would enter a printer feature code (using the above examples) of **BD-ON** to turn bold print on, the code for printing the invoice total, and then the printer feature code of **BD-OF** to turn bold printing off.

If you do not have a module which supports the creation of user definable forms (Accounts Receivable, Billing/Order Entry, Point of Sale, Purchasing, Accounts Payable, and Professional Invoicing currently have user definable forms) you can ignore this section all together as regular reports do not use these codes.

### Printing a features type list

Select Print from the Printer feature *type* sub-menu. A printer selection box appears for you to select which printer to send the report to.

### **Printers Types**

# NOTE: Printer Compatibility: We require: Laser printers; PCL5 and Postscript compatible

This function is used to set up and maintain printer types. Up to 99 different printer types can be set up for the system. SAMCO provides several standard printer types including dot matrix, inkjet, and laser. A complete listing of the printer types supplied with the SAMCO applications software is provided in report format at the end of this chapter.

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

19.102

Printers

The standard printers provided start with number one. If you are adding your own printer definitions, you should start with a printer type number of 50 or higher to ensure that your defined printers are not overwritten by a future release of the software.

To set up printer types you must supply the control codes used to manipulate your printer(s) (except for PostScript style printers). The codes associated with each printer type can be obtained from your printer manual. If you do not know what the codes are or cannot find them in your printer manual, contact your printer supplier for assistance.

### **PostScript Printers**

Unlike dot matrix printers which generate output on a character by character basis, PostScript laser printers generate output on a page by page basis extracted from a file written in the PostScript page definition programming language. For this reason, PostScript printers are handled substantially different from regular dot matrix or HP compatible laser printers.

To handle the differences, a separate section is provided on setting up PostScript printers (see *PostScript Printer Definitions* later on in this section).

#### **Entering Control Codes**

The balance of the data entered for each printer type requires you to enter the control codes for putting your printer into a particular mode. These codes can be found in your printer's user manual.

Printer control codes are, in simple terms, a string of codes (or a code), which are attached to the printed output to control the way the printer reacts. There are various ways of entering printer control codes in this function:

- ASCII characters
- · Decimal values
- · Hexadecimal values
- Special values (ESC = Escape, NUL = null character, and SPC = space)
- Control characters can be entered with a leading ^ symbol followed by the character. For example, if the control code required is a <CTRL><G>, you could enter ^G.

To make things a bit easier, we have included the ability for you to press the **[F1]** key while entering printer control codes to bring up a table to select the appropriate code. This is most helpful when the printer's user manual provides codes that you do not have an equivalent to. It also eliminates you from having to search around for an ASCII table to find the equivalent code.

Below is an example of the control code to set an Epson LX-810 into condensed mode:

ASCII	ESC SI or ESC ^O
Decimal	27 15
Hexadecimal	1B 0F

When entering this into the printer type, it could be entered any one of the following ways:

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

19.103

ASCII	ESC SI
Or	ESC ^O
Decimal	27 15
Hexadecimal	1BH 0FH

You will notice in the hexadecimal entry that an  $\mathbf{H}$  was added. This advises the system that the entry is in Hexadecimal format.

Since ASCII equivalents are generally easier to read, for display purposes all entries are translated into their ASCII output equivalent. Using the above example, the hexadecimal entry when displayed will show as **ESC ^O** rather than **1BH 0FH**. The only exception to this is high level decimal characters (above 127) which are displayed as entered; i.e. 132 is displayed as 132.

When entering the control codes, each code should be followed by **[Enter]**. To complete the entry of a control code sequence, press **[Enter]** rather than entering a control code.

### 4. Initialize printer

### 5. Reset printer

Enter the initialization and reset printer escape code sequences. Press **[Enter]** to leave the last code blank to finalize entry for each sequence.

Options include **[F1]** to look up codes from a table, **[F2]** to insert a code between two codes, and **[F3]** to delete a code.

Initialization strings are most commonly used to set the printer to a particular mode. For example, if you are using an NEC LC890 laser printer and want to set it to Epson mode, you would enter the initialization escape codes here. The reset string is used to reset the printer back to its normal state. Using the previous example, this would be used to set the NEC LC890 laser printer back to its normal emulation mode.

#### 6.80 column reports

7.132 column reports

### 8. 200 column reports

Enter the # lines and Codes for these different sizes of reports.

The **# lines** prompt is used to tell the system how many lines of text you want printed before sending a page break. On an 80 column report printed on standard 8.5" x 11" paper the normal amount is 60 (physically the page would hold up to 66 lines however you would want to set the number to print to 60). 132 and 200 column reports on the other hand are normally printed in a smaller (usually condensed) type face. For this reason these reports generally are capable of printing more horizontal lines per page.

The **Codes** prompt is used to enter printer control codes for printing each type of report format. Since 132 and 200 column reports usually require a smaller type face, you would normally enter the escape code sequence to print in the appropriate type size.

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

19.104

Printers
# 9. Forms

Enter the printer control code sequence for printing to special forms. The most common use for this would be to set the printer to a particular type face.

At the "Field number to change?" prompt, make any necessary changes and press **[Enter]** to continue.

The next screen displays a complete listing of <u>all *Printer features types*</u> set up. Below is a sample screen:

rinters				Your Company Name Here
rinter types (E	Enter)			
		Printer name	NEC	
0. Feature	Size	Bytes		
.1DN	0	"none"		
.1LFT	0	"none"		
. 1RGT	0	"none"		
.1UP	0	"none"		
01DN	0	"none"		
01LFT	0	"none"		
01RGT	0	"none"		
01UP	0	"none"		
05CPI	0	"none"		
06CPI	0	"none"		
06LPI	0	"none"		
OSLPI	0	"none"		
108P	0	"none"		
10CPH	0	"none"		
10CPI	0	"none"		

### 10. Feature

For each feature, enter the printer control codes to activate that feature. Remember, the only purpose for using printer features is for user definable forms (A/R statements, invoices, etc.) where you have the ability to specify a feature for a given print area.

# Size

Enter the number of character positions taken up by running the printer control codes to follow or press **[Enter]** for 0.

Normally, this is set to 0 as you are probably simply changing the type face or type style. If, however, you were going to insert a copyright symbol for example, this would take up 1 character so you would enter 1 as the number of characters taken up by the copyright symbol.

### Bytes

A window is displayed for you to enter the printer control codes to execute this feature. You can also press [F1] to select a control code from an ASCII / Hexadecimal / Decimal table, [F2] to insert a control code between 2 existing codes, or press [F3] to delete a control code.

# PostScript Printer Definitions

# What is PostScript?

PostScript is a standard programming language used specifically for creating text and graphics on a printed page.

Simply, PostScript is made up of two parts: a PostScript file defining what is to be printed (in human readable format) and an interpreter (which is usually built into the printer). When a PostScript file is sent to a PostScript compatible laser printer, the built in interpreter translates the file into printed text and graphics using small dots.

There are three distinct advantages to the PostScript language. First, it allows for dramatic manipulation of both text and graphics. Second, it has become a standard which printer manufacturers develop and use. And finally, it is virtually device independent, meaning that any page description file written in the PostScript language can be run on any printer equipped with a PostScript interpreter.

# How PostScript is used in SAMCO applications

Reports generated from within SAMCO application software are simply a series of spaces and characters. In order to handle this on a PostScript equipped laser printer a fixed space font must be used. In other words, every character of the font used takes up the same amount of space that is why the default in Samco Power Accounting is Courier.

SAMCO provides default PostScript files which are used for report and form printing. When a print job is sent to a PostScript printer, a header file (init file) is attached to the beginning of the printout, and a footer file (reset file) is attached to the end of the printout. The resulting output file is mildly manipulated and then sent out to the printer as a pure PostScript output file.

The header file sets certain parameters for the print out. While the footer file basically is used to close off the print job and reset the printer back to its original settings.

We highly recommend that you use the PostScript files supplied by SAMCO. If you are technically capable of creating your own header and footer files, please use the files we supplied as working models as there are a few definitions used which we require.

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

## **Setting up PostScript Printer Definitions**

As was mentioned earlier, PostScript printers are handled slightly different than dot matrix, ink jet, or regular HP compatible lasers. The following are detailed instructions on using the *Printer types* function for setting up this type of printer. For your convenience, SAMCO provides a default PostScript printer type (**20. PostScript Laser** to use.

**NOTE:** Unless you are technically capable of programming in PostScript we highly recommend that you use the "20. PostScript Laser" printer type without any changes (except maybe to the # Lines).

Enter information in fields **1. Printer type**; **2. Printer name**, answer **Y** at **3. PostScript?** The screen displays as follows:

Printers				Your Company Name Here
Printer types (Enter)				
			(122)	
	1. Printer ty	All second	133	t Londonno (100)
	2. Printer n		Postscript Landscape(166)	
	3. Postscrip	ptr	Ľ	
	#Lines	Init-file	Reset-file	
4. 80 column reports	60	init801.ps		reset80.ps
5. 132 column reports	60	init1321.ps		reset132.ps
6. 200 column reports	60	init1661.ps		reset220.ps
7. Forms	n/a	ifrmlp.ps		resetfrm.ps
Make changes, F1 = next	. ShF1 = prev	vious. F3 = delete. F	-4 = copy	
Make changes, F1 = next Field number to char		vious, F3 = delete, F 	-4 = copy	
field number to char		rious, F3 = delete, F 	<sup>2</sup> 4 = copy	
		rious, F3 = delete, F	<sup>2</sup> 4 = copy	
field number to char		rious, F3 = delete, F	<sup>2</sup> 4 = copy	
field number to char		vious, F3 = delete, F 	<sup>-</sup> 4 = copy	
field number to char t lumn reports		vious, F3 = delete, F	54 = copy	
field number to char t lumn reports olumn reports		vious, F3 = delete, F	<sup>2</sup> 4 = copy	
field number to char t lumn reports olumn reports olumn reports		vious, F3 = delete, F	<sup>2</sup> 4 = copy	
field number to char t lumn reports olumn reports olumn reports		vious, F3 = delete, F	54 = copy	

Enter the **# lines**, **Init-file**, and **Reset-file** for the different sizes of reports.

The **# lines** prompt is used to tell the system how many lines of text you want printed before sending a page break. The field defaults to 60.

The **Init-file** prompt is a file, which resides in the SAMCO home directory, which is attached to the beginning of the report printout. This is also called the PostScript header file, and it tells the printer how to go about printing the text. The default **Init-files** supplied by SAMCO are INIT80.PS (80 column), INIT132.PS (132 column), and

INIT200.PS; (200 columns). c

The **Reset-file** prompt is a file, also residing in the SAMCO home directory, which is appended to the end of the print out. This tells the printer that the print job is complete and to go back to its normal settings. The default **Reset-files** supplied by SAMCO are RESET80.PS (80 column), RESET132.PS (132 column), and RESET200.PS (200 column).

#### 9. Forms

Since the number of lines special forms print is predefined, you need only enter the **Init-file** and the **Reset-file**. The default **Init-file** for forms is INITFRM.PS, while the default for **Reset-file** is RESETFRM.PS.

The following is a sample screen for the **"133. PostScript Laser"** printer type supplied by SAMCO:

	1. Printer typ 2. Printer na		133 Postscrip	t Landscape(166)
	3. Postscrip		ĭ Ƴ	
	#Lines	Init-file I	Reset-file	
4. 80 column reports	60	init801.ps		reset80.ps
5. 132 column reports	60	init1321.ps		reset132.ps
6. 200 column reports	60	init1661.ps		reset220.ps
7. Forms	n/a	ifrmlp.ps		resetfrm.ps
		ous, F3 = delete, F4		

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

19.108

The next screen displays a complete listing of <u>all Printer features types</u> set up. Below is a sample screen for the PostScript laser definition supplied:

nters nter types (E	inter)		Your Company Name He
		Printer name	Postscript Landscape(166)
. Feature	Size	Command-string	
.1DN	0	ssipt1dn	
.1LFT	0	ssipt11ft	
.1RGT	0	ssipt1rgt	
.1UP	0	ssiptlup	
01DN	0	ssi01dn	
01LFT	0	ssi01lft	
01RGT	0	ssi01rgt	
01UP	0	ssi01up	
05CPI	0	ssi05cpi	
06CPI	0	ssi06cpi	
06LPI	0	ssi061pi	
08LPI	0	ssi081pi	
108P	0	"none"	
10CPH	0	ssi10cph	
10CPI	0	ssi10cpi	

# 8. Feature

For each feature, enter the printer **Command-string** to activate that feature. Remember, the only purpose for using printer features is for user definable forms (A/R statements, invoices, etc.) where you have the ability to specify a feature for a given print area.

# Size

Enter the number of character positions taken up by running the printer control codes to follow or press **[Enter]** for 0.

Normally, this is set to 0 as you are probably simply changing the type face or type style. If, however, you were going to insert a copyright symbol for example, this would take up 1 character so you would enter 1 as the number of characters taken up by the copyright symbol.

# **Command-string**

"Command strings" are PostScript commands which are defined in the **Init-file** to trigger a PostScript feature. Due to the nature of PostScript printers, SAMCO does not supply any special **Command-strings**.

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

19.109

Printers

The only way to take advantage of the features is if you are creating customized **Init-files** and **Reset-files**. Again, please do not attempt to enter **Command-strings** unless you are technically capable.

## Print a printer type list

Select *Print* from the *Printer type* sub-menu. A printer selection box appears for you to select which printer to send the report to.

### eSend formats

This function is used to set up and maintain eSend formats. eSend format can be accessed by all users running the SAMCO accounting software applications.

eSend allow you to receive invoice, statements and other documents via fax or email.

## **System Printers**

This function is used to set up and maintain system printers. A system printer is one which can be accessed by all users running the SAMCO applications software.

The SAMCO accounting applications software supports a maximum of 99 system printers at one time.

## Print system printers list

To begin, select *System printers list* from the *System printer's* sub-menu. The printer select window appears for you to choose which printer to send the document to.

#### **Local Printers**

This function is used to maintain local printers, and is only available for the Linux, UNIX, XENIX, SunOS, and AIX versions of SAMCO accounting applications.

## Local Printers vs. System Printers

Unlike system printers which can be accessed by any user on the accounting system, local printers are only accessible by a user logged on to the terminal the printers are attached to. This allows users to have their own personal printers which they alone can access.

When setting up local printers you tell the SAMCO system which device the printers are attached to. When a user logs into the accounting system, the software checks to see what device the user is attached to. It then looks to the local printers file to see if there are any printers matching the same device. If matches are found, these printers will be made available to the user when he/she goes to print a report.

Up to 9 local printers can be configured per terminal, each having their own printer type.

#### **Print local printers list**

To begin, select Local printers list from the Local printers sub-menu. The printer select window appears for you to choose which printer to send the document to.

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

19.110

Printers





# **Chapter 20 File Utilities**

The File Utilities selection from within System Functions allows you to:

- · Export data files to flat ASCII format
- · Restore data files from flat ASCII to their indexed format
- · Rebuild your data files should a file become corrupt
- · Run utilities specific to various modules
- · Print a report of program release levels

In this chapter we will explain the File utilities for the System Functions only. For information relating to the use of the File Utilities function for other modules ( such as Inventory Control Plus, Accounts Receivable ) refer to the user manual for that module for details.

# Exporting a data file

The *Export a file* function is used to convert the listed data files from the internal format to a "flat" ASCII file. The data file is read in and an output file is created in the SAMCO root directory with the name "xxxxxnn.EXP". Where 'xxxxx' is the file name, and where 'nn' is the company number the file came from. If you are not using multiple companies the company number will be 00.

For a detailed listing of the files available for conversion for each module please refer to the appendix in that module's user manual titled *File Utilities*.

To begin, select *Export a file* from the menu displayed. A screen similar to the following is displayed:

File utilities (Inventory Management)		Your Comp	any Name Here.
Export a file			
Please sele	ect file		
1. Alternate item file (ALTIT	гм35) 15.	Item changes file	(CNGITM35)
2. Component file (CMPF)	IL35) 16.	Item RCM file	(ITMRCM35)
3. Component cost file (CMPCS	ST35) 17.	I/C notes file	(ICNOTF35)
4. Customer item file (ICCIT	TF35) 18.	Keyword file	(KEYWDF35)
5. I/C control file (ICCTL	LF35) 19.	Kit file	(KITFIL35)
6. I/C codes file (ICCOD	0\$35) 20.	Kit trx file	(ICKTXF35)
7. I/C distribution file (ICDIS	5Т35) 21.	Tracked inventory file.	(ICTKIF35)
8. Inventory account file. (INVAC	ст35) 22.	Label format file	(ILBFMT35)
9. I/C transaction file (INVTR	ex35) 23.	Label table file	(ICLBTF35)
10. I/C trx aux file (INVAL	JX35) 24.	Layer file	(LAYFIL35)
11. I/C history file (ICHIS	ST35) 25.	Multi level item file	(MULLEV35)
12. I/C fuel reading file (ICFRC	DF35) 26.	Physical count file	(ICPHXF35)
L3. Item file (ITMF)	IL35) 27.	Physical count section.	(ICPHXS35)
14. Item auxiliary file (ITMAL	JX35) 28.	Physical count workshee	(ICPHWF35)
Please enter device for export file			
Please enter device size in kilobytes			

Enter the following data:

# Please select file

Enter the file number, from the list provided, of the file to be converted to an ASCII backup format, or press **[F1]** for all.

### Please enter device for converted file

This is the drive letter of the backup device that the ASCII version of the data file will be written.

#### UNIX/XENIX users

The drive letter entered here will be attached to the front of the file name. The letter A is recommended for consistency. The ASCII backup file name in the SAMCO root directory will read A: xxxxxnn.EXP.

# Please enter the device size in kilobytes

Enter the size of the disk the exported files are to be written to or press **[F1]** to save to the hard disk drive.

If you enter a specific device size, once the disk is filled you will then be asked for another disk. This process will be repeated until all the data is written to the disk.

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

20.112

The screen will then prompt you "Any change?" Enter **Y** and all the entries that you have made will be cleared and you will be returned to the "Please select file" prompt. Press **[Enter]** to accept the default of **N**.

**NOTE:** If you choose to convert "All" files, the screen will move immediately into displaying the file and record being backed up. It skips past the "(C) CREATE NEW CONVERTED FILE OR (A) ADD RECORDS TO EXISTING CONVERTED FILE", "STARTING FILE KEY", and "ENDING FILE KEY" prompts

Next, you will be prompted for a starting and ending record to backup. This screen will be displayed only if you did not select "All" files at the "Please select file" prompt.

Enter the following data:

## 1. Starting file key

Enter the starting file key for the data file selected for conversion, or press **[F1]** for "First". Up to 37 alphanumeric characters may be entered. Unless you know the exact key for the records in the data file it is recommended that you press **[F1]**.

## 2. Ending file key

Enter the ending file key for the data file selected for conversion, or press **[F1]** for "Last". Up to 37 alphanumeric characters may be entered. Unless you know the exact key for the records in the data file it is recommended that you press **[F1]**.

At the "Field number to change?" prompt, enter the field number you wish to change and press **[Enter]**. The following message is displayed:

"(C) create new converted file or (A) add records to existing converted file"

Enter C to create a new backup file and over-write any pre-existing ASCII export for this data file, or enter A to add the records selected for conversion to any pre-existing ASCII export file on the device specified.

After selecting which type of backup file to create the screen then clears and the ASCII export file name is displayed along with a counter of the number of records converted.

If you had selected ALL at the "Please select file", it is assumed that you wish to create a new converted file. After the "Any change?" prompt, the screen clears and the ASCII export file name is displayed along with a counter of the number of records converted for all files.

The 'Export a file' screen reappears after the file or files selected have been converted so that you may convert another file.

After you have completed running the convert routine, press **[Tab]** at the "Please select file" prompt. A window will appear for you to select how to print the export log. An export log shows the file(s) exported, the number of records per file, the date and time.

Once the report is printed you are returned to the File utilities menu.

<u>System Functions</u> Samco Power Accounting

20.113

## **Restoring an exported file**

The *Restore an exported file* function is used to restore one or more of the listed data files from the "flat" ASCII file format to the internal format. The ASCII export file is read in and an output file is created in the company sub-directory with the name "xxxxxx.DAT". Where "xxxxxx" is the file name.

For a detailed listing of the files available for restoration for each module please refer to the appendix in that module's user manual titled *File Utilities*.

To begin, select Restore an exported file from the menu displayed. A screen similar to the following is displayed:

ile	utilities (Inventory Management)		Your Comp	any Name Here.
Res	tore from an export file			
	Please select file			
1.	Alternate item file (ALTITM35)	15.	Item changes file	(CNGITM35)
2.	Component file (CMPFIL35)	16.	Item RCM file	(ITMRCM35)
3.	Component cost file (CMPCST35)	17.	I/C notes file	(ICNOTF35)
4.	Customer item file (ICCITF35)	18.	Keyword file	(KEYWDF35)
5.	I/C control file (ICCTLF35)	19.	Kit file	(KITFIL35)
6.	I/C codes file (ICCODS35)	20.	Kit trx file	(ICKTXF35)
7.	I/C distribution file (ICDIST35)	21.	Tracked inventory file.	(ICTKIF35)
8.	Inventory account file. (INVACT35)	22.	Label format file	(ILBFMT35)
9.	I/C transaction file (INVTRX35)	23.	Label table file	(ICLBTF35)
10.	I/C trx aux file (INVAUX35)	24.	Layer file	(LAYFIL35)
11.	I/C history file (ICHIST35)	25.	Multi level item file	(MULLEV35)
12.	I/C fuel reading file (ICFRDF35)	26.	Physical count file	(ICPHXF35)
13.	Item file (ITMFIL35)	27.	Physical count section.	(ICPHXS35)
14.	Item auxiliary file (ITMAUX35)	28.	Physical count workshee	(ICPHWF35)
Plea	se enter device for export file			
Plea	se enter device size in kilobytes			
Pres	s F1 for "All", press F4 for more files			

Enter the following data:

# Please select file

Enter the file number, from the list provided, of the file to be restored from an ASCII backup format, or press **[F1]** for all.

# Please enter device for converted file

This is the drive letter of the device that the ASCII version of the data file will be read from.

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

20.114

### Linux/UNIX/XENIX users

The drive letter entered here will be attached to the front of the file name. The letter A is recommended for consistency. The ASCII backup file name in the SAMCO root directory will read A:xxxxxnn.EXP.

#### Please enter the device size in kilobytes

Enter the size of the disk the ASCII backup files are to be read from or press **[F1]** for the hard drive.

**NOTE:** If you choose to restore "All" files, the screen will move immediately into displaying the prompt "THIS FUNCTION WILL NOW INITIALIZE ..." (see below). It skips past the "(C) CREATE NEW DATA FILE OR (A) ADD RECORDS TO EXISTING DATA" prompt.

The screen will then prompt you "Any change?" Make any necessary changes, then press **[Enter]** in response to "Any change?" The following message is displayed:

"(C) Create New Data File Or (A) Add Records To existing Data File".

If you answer C (Create new file), all of the existing data records in the original file will be destroyed, and the data records contained in the converted file will be transferred to the original file.

If you answer **A** (Add records to file), all of the existing records in the original file will remain, and the data records contained in the converted file will be added to the original file.

**NOTE:** The restore facility is intelligent enough not to duplicate records that already exist when adding to an existing file. Consequently if the function encounters a duplicate record in the existing file it will skip over that record.

If you selected to C create a new file the following message will display:

"This function will now initialize the data file used in production. Its contents will be fully replaced with data from the converted file. Please make sure you want to do this. Are you sure?"

Answer Y or N, as appropriate.

The file will now be restored. A message will be displayed on the screen, showing the count of the records as they are restored.

When the restoration of the file or files is complete the *Restore an exported file* menu will be displayed.

A window will appear for you to select where to print the restore log. A restore log shows the file(s) restored, the number of records per file, and the date and time.

**NOTE:** You can use the *Convert* and *Restore* functions on an entire data file to recover disk space from a file that has been purged or compressed (or from a file that has had many

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

20.115

deletions). First do a full (first record to last record) *Convert* of the file. Then do a full *Restore the converted file*, using the (C) Create new data file option.

# Rebuilding a file

There are two reasons for rebuilding a data file(s):

- To reconstruct a data file(s) which has become corrupted, re-establishing the file's integrity. Most forms of corruption can be fixed with this utility.
- During the course of daily operations, data files have information deleted from them. Unfortunately, although the data is no longer available to you, the space each record took up is still there. This utility permanently removes the deleted records, freeing up valuable disk space.

**NOTE:** This utility will create a temporary file on your computer's hard drive. If you are running low of disk space, you may want to free up an amount equivalent to the existing size of the data file you are rebuilding.

To begin, select Rebuild a file from the System Functions File Utilities sub-menu. The following screen is displayed:

	ties (Inventory Management	t)		Your Company Name Here		
Rebuild		ase select file	1			
	ternate item file	to an at the contract of		tem changes file.		(CNGITM35)
	mponent file	A DESCRIPTION STATE		tem RCM file		(ITMRCM35)
	mponent cost file			/C notes file		(ICNOTF35)
	stomer item file			eyword file		
	c control file			it file		
114	c codes file			it trx file		
S10 - 54	c distribution file			racked inventory		
	ventory account file.			abel format file.		
12.22 SA	C transaction file			abel table file		and a second state of the
12 33	c trx aux file	the second state of the second		ayer file		100 March 1
	c history file			ulti level item f		
12. I/	c fuel reading file	(ICFRDF35)	26. P	hysical count file	e	(ICPHXF35)
13. It	em file	(ITMFIL35)	27. P	nysical count sec	tion.	(ICPHXS35)
14. It	em auxiliary file	(ITMAUX35)	28. P	hysical count work	kshee	(ICPHWF35)
14. It	em auxiliary file	(ITMAUX35)	28. P	nysical count worl	kshee	(ICPHWF

#### Please select file

Enter the number of the file you wish to rebuild or press [F1] to rebuild all files.

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

20.116

At this point, the system executes the "vutil" program (supplied from AcuCobol) and begins rebuilding each file you selected. When completed, you are returned to the *Rebuild a file* screen.

To exit, press [Tab] as your selection.

#### Rebuild a keyword file

Use this function to reconstruct the keyword file which contains keyword cross references to customers, and items, as well as multiple barcodes for one item.

To begin select *System Functions » File utilities » System Functions » Rebuild a keyword file.* When prompted, select **Y** to continue with the rebuild.

Please note that all users must be out of the entry function within *Customers* and *Items* for the function to run.

#### **Print company file levels**

This function generates a listing of data file names, current release level, date updated, and previous level. This is an excellent diagnostics tool for SAMCO Help Desk personnel.

To begin select *System Functions » File utilities » Print company file levels* and then choose a printer to send the report to.

Depending on the number of modules you have this may end up being rather lengthy.





# Chapter 21 Change Company Number

If more than one company ID has been set up in the SAMCO Power Accounting, (see *multiple companies*), this function will provide the operator with a method for moving in and out of the different company IDs without having to exit the system.

\_\_\_\_\_

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

21.118

Change Company Number





# **Chapter 22 Update Programs**

**NOTE:** All users must be out of the SAMCO Power Accounting system before using this function.

This function is used for loading an update or upgrade from physical media or a file acquired via the internet.

<u>System Functions</u> Samco Power Accounting

22.119

Update Programs





# **Chapter 23 Update Licensed Users**

**NOTE:** All users must be out of the SAMCO Power Accounting system before using this function.

This function is used for updating the maximum number of licensed users / sessions your SAMCO Power Accounting system can support.

<u>System Functions</u> Samco Power Accounting

Update Licensed Users





# **Chapter 24 View/Print License Agreement**

The SAMCO Power Accounting Software is licensed to you for your use. The full license agreement is now available within the software. Go to System Functions » View/Print License Agreement. Follow the system prompts to view and/or print the agreement.



System Functions Samco Power Accounting

24.121

View/Print License Agreement





# Chapter 25 Create Demo Company

The System Functions module makes two references to "demo" companies / modules.

In Company data you must specify if the company is a Demo company. If you answer **[Y]**, then you can load demonstration (un-serialized) modules for evaluation purposes. The company and report names for a "demo" company are DEMO COMPANY and cannot be changed.

**NOTE:** <u>Never change the status of your live company</u> to "demo company". The software will permanently change the company report names to "DEMO COMPANY" and you will not be able reverse the change.

If you wish to create a new company ID for demo purposes using the data files from your live company you can do this by using the feature provided in System Functions » Create Demo Company or call SAMCO Support for assistance.

Create Demo Company





# **Chapter 26 Serialize Modules**

SAMCO incorporates a serialization scheme which protects against the illegal reproduction and distribution of our application software. In addition, this also allows us to provide you with time sensitive demonstration versions of the software for evaluation at no extra cost (see the chapters titled *Company information* and *Create demo company* for details).

This function allows you to serialize a module, turning it from a demonstration only to a live module ready for everyday use. Using this function may be necessary under one of the following two circumstances:

- You have upgraded a demonstration module into a live module,
- · After an update your applications are no longer serialized

**NOTE:** If you accidentally try to serialize a module that is already serialized, don't worry if you make a mistake or have to exit out prematurely. The system does not make any permanent changes unless a valid serial number and activation key are entered.

Serialize Modiles





# **Chapter 27 Customization**

This function is used for turning on SAMCO Options and various specialty utilities. The information required for utilizing this function is provided with the instructions for the SAMCO Option or utility as supplied by SAMCO Customer Support Team.

\_\_\_\_\_

Customization





# **Chapter 28 Run Special Programs**

This selection System Functions » Run special update is only needed by SAMCO Support when a special update program needs to be run.



<u>System Functions</u> Samco Power Accounting

28.125

Run Special Programs





# **Chapter 29 Close Period by Module**

Running this function takes the place of running the **Close a period** feature in each of the appropriate modules. It resets the period-to-date data within the specified module(s) and the year-to-date data should the period also be the year end. Amounts already accumulated for the new period (if any) are set as the new period-to-date amounts.

The General Ledger period is only advanced within the current fiscal year. Manually entered fiscal period dates are required when closing fiscal period 12.

<u>System Functions</u> Samco Power Accounting

Close Period by Module





# **Chapter 30 Workstation Setup**

The functionality of this feature allows you to reset the cursor and modify the start up colors if you are a Windows user.

Go to System Functions » Workstation setup to bring up the entry screen.

F-1 35: SF - Workstation setup	
File Edit AR IC OE SA AP PC GL FA	A JC PO BR PI CL FP PS RP TA TR EQ PER
SM PA DX SR MS MP CM SF Help	
Setup Workstation setup	Your Company Name Here.
vvorkstation setup	rwstn/keception.ini
1. Fix Windows XP Cursor?	N
2. Start-up colors	"default"
3. Field mode ?	
-	
	"none"
5. Retail mode ?	Both order/retail entry
6. Using Windows emulator like "Cross Ove	or"? N
6. Using windows emplator like Cross Over	
Field number to change ?	

- 1. Fix Windows XP Cursor? Y(es) or N(o)
- 2. Start-up colors use the search [?] to choose from the selection window.

#### For Windows and Thin Client installations:

- 1. *Field mode* is the <u>preferred method</u> if you have an external network connection (working away from the office over the internet)
- 2. *Character mode* is the <u>preferred method</u> if you have an internal network connection (working from within your office)
- 3. Samco Software automatically defaults to Flied Mode as Character Mode is slower

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

30.127

Workstation Setup

- 4. O/E till# Enter the OE till number for this workstation to operate as.
- 5. Retail Mode? Enter "R"= Retail entry only, "O"= Order entry only, "B" = both retail and order entry.
- 6. Using Windows emulator like "CrossOver"? Answer Y or N.

<u>System Functions</u> Samco Power Accounting Workstation Setup





# Chapter 31 SAMCO Automated Manuals (SAM)

NOTE: For the most up to date documentation visit www.samco.com

SAM provides you with access to all of the SAMCO application user manuals from within the software. To access the manuals press **[F10]** (**[F11]** for the Windows version) from anywhere within your SAMCO system. In this chapter we will show you how to navigate through SAM's screens to quickly access the information you want.

#### How SAM is structured

The first screen will list all of the modules you currently have installed on your system, along with manuals not specific to a module.

Similar to other SAMCO Power Accounting applications, each menu item consists of levels of sub-menus. Each item is made up of:

- Chapters
- · Headings and Sub-headings
- Fields

This allows you to easily zoom in on the specific information you want.

## **Navigating through SAM**

From the screen displayed above, select the module manual you wish to read by selecting the corresponding menu item number or by using the **[Up Arrow]** or **[Down Arrow]** to highlight the item and pressing **[Enter]**.

If there are more menu items than can fit on one screen, you can use the **[PgUp] [PgDn]** keys to page up and down through the selections.

After making a main menu selection, the chapter headings will

Select a chapter, END for modules, or press [F2] for more detail

From this screen you can either select or highlight the chapter to have SAM display and press **[Enter]**, or highlight the selection and press **[F2]** to view another menu, listing heading / sub-heading level information for the highlighted item.

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

31.129

SAM Automated Manuals

For example, if Chapter 11A: General Journal (without Job Cost) was highlighted, you could either press **[Enter]** to display the chapter for reading, or press **[F2]** to view the chapter's headings.

If you press [F2] a screen with Headings/Sub-headings appears.

Select a chapter, TAB for modules, press [F2] for more detail, or [F7] for print

The headings and sub-headings screen shows the headings within the chapter. If a chapter has no headings or sub-headings, you will be prompted "Detail not available....Press ENTER to continue".

Select the item you wish to view and press **[Enter]**, highlight the item and press **[F2]** to view the fields for that particular heading / sub-heading, press **[F7]** to print the content of the heading.

If you press [F2] a screen showing entry fields appears

Select a field, END for sections

This screen displays field entries that would either appear on a data entry screen or are related to data entry requirements.

From this screen, select the field you wish to view information on and press [Enter].

The information displayed on the screen is an exact facsimile of the information contained in it's respective user manual, and is presented one chapter at a time.

NOTE: SAM can only display one chapter at a time.

To navigate through the chapter displayed use the following options:

[Home]	To go to the beginning of the chapter.
[F4]	To go to the end of the chapter.
[PgUp][PgDn]	To go forward and backwards one screen of information at a time.
[F2]	To search for a particular string of text within the chapter.
[F3]	To repeat the last search done with the [F2] key.
[Tab]	To exit from the chapter currently being viewed.

## Searching for information

If you press **[F2]** while viewing a chapter, a prompt is displayed for you to enter the string of text you wish to search for. Enter the text and press **[Enter]**. SAM will search through the chapter for the text you entered. If SAM finds what you are looking for, you will be brought to the section the word(s) was found and the text will be highlighted (press **[F3]** to repeat the same search).

If SAM cannot locate the text you are looking for, SAM will display "Not found" in the search string box, and you will be prompted to enter another string of text.

SAM Automated Manuals

When you are finished with SAM, press [Tab] until you are back to the original point within the SAMCO application you called SAM from. To exit from the chapter currently being viewed.

<u>System Functions</u> Samco Power Accounting SAM Automated Manuals





# **Appendix "A" Technical Information**

This chapter is a quick reference of various technical details which you should become familiar with. Subjects covered in this chapter include:

- File error codes
- Error Handling
- · Configuration files (config)
- Printers
- · Terminal management for Linux, UNIX, VMS, and AOS/VS
- · Comments & Ideas
- File utility programs (vio and vutil)
- ASCII Conversion Chart

#### File Error Codes

When a program can't do what it's supposed to do, it will frequently describe the problem with a message containing a number. A table of these numbers is listed below. Some advice that your computer is broken; others indicate that a file can't be found, and occasionally they report that a file is corrupted because the computer was shut down before it could write everything out. Many of the numbers below point to programming errors we trust you will never see one of these.

#### **StatusCondition**

Code

- 21 Primary key was written out of sequence, or the primary key on a rewrite does not match the last record read. This error occurs only for an indexed file open with the sequential access mode. (write, rewrite)
- 22 Duplicate key found but not allowed. (write, rewrite)
- 23 Record not found.

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

A.132

- 24 Disk full for relative or indexed file. (write)
- 24, 01 A sequential WRITE statement was executed for a relative file, and the number of digits in the relative record number was larger than the size of the relative key data item. (write)
- 30, xx Permanent error. This is any error not otherwise described.

The secondary code value is set to the host system's status value that caused the error. See your operating system user manual for an explanation.

- 34 Disk full for sequential file or sort file. (write, sort)
- 90, 01 File not open for input or I-O.
- 90, 02 No current record defined for a sequential access mode file. (rewrite, delete)
- 90, 07 User does not have appropriate access permissions to the file. (open)
- 91, 02 File not open.
- 93 File locked by another user. (open)
- 93, 03 File previously closed with LOCK by this run unit. (open)
- 94, 10 Too many files open by the current process. (open)
- 94, 20 File not found. (open, sort)
- 94, 62 One of the LINAGE values for this file is illegal or out of range.
- 94, xx Existing file conflicts with the COBOL description of the file. (open)

The secondary error code may have any of these values:

- 01 mismatch found but exact cause unknown (this status is returned by the host file system)
- 02 mismatch found in file's maximum record size
- 03 mismatch found in file's minimum record size
- 04 mismatch found in the number of keys in the file
- 05 mismatch found in primary key description
- 06 mismatch found in first alternate key description
- 07 mismatch found in second alternate key description

The list continues in this manner for each alternate key.

- 92 File is already open. (open)
- 91 File not open. (close)
- 91 File not open. (unlock)

- 95, 01 The file being opened is not on a mass-storage device, which is required for the file type or the requested open mode. (open)
- 95, 02 Attempt to open a sequential file with fixed-length records as a Windows spool file.
- 95, 08 Attempt to open a print file for INPUT. (open)
- 95, 09 Attempt to open a sequential file for I/O and that file has automatic trailing space removal specified. (open)
- 95, 99 A Windows or Windows NT runtime that is not network-enabled tried to access a file on a remote machine.
- 96 No current record. This usually occurs when the previous operation on the file was a START that failed, leaving the record pointer undefined. (read next)
- 97 Record size changed. The record being rewritten is a different size from the one existing in the file, and the file's organization does not allow this. (rewrite)

This status code can occur also if the record is too large or too small according to the RECORD CONTAINS clause for the file. (write, rewrite)

- 98, xx Indexed file corrupt. An internal error has been detected in the indexed file. The secondary status code contains the internal error number. The file should be reconstructed with the appropriate utility.
- 99 Record locked by another user.
- 9A Inadequate memory for operation. This most commonly occurs for the SORT verb, which requires at least 32K bytes of free space. (any)
- 9B The requested operation is not supported by the host operating system. For example, a READ PREVIOUS verb was executed, and the host file system does not have the ability to process files in reverse order. (any)
- 9C There are no entries left in one of the lock tables. The secondary error code indicates which table is full:
  - 01 operating system lock table
  - 02 internal global lock table (see the MAX\_LOCKS configuration variable)
  - 03 internal per-file lock table (see the LOCKS\_PER\_FILE configuration variable)
- 9D,xx This indicates an internal error defined by the host file system. The "xx" is the host system's error value. This is similar to error "30", except that "xx" is specific to the host file system instead of the host operating system. Refer to the specific Acucorp product documentation for more details on the host file system's error codes.
- 9E,xx This indicates an error occurred in the transaction system. The exact nature of the error is shown by the contents of TRANSACTION-STATUS.

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

A.134

9Z This indicates that you are executing the program with a runtime that has a restriction on the number of records it can process. You have exceeded the record limit.

# **Error handling**

If a SAMCO module reports an error in one of your files, we suggest that you make a copy of the data as it now stands, but be sure the backup is in a new location and not using your regular backup location. It is also a good idea to take notes of what you do and how it was done along with any error messages. Be sure to at least record the error message exactly was it appears. Then refer to the section later in this chapter titled *File Utility Programs* for instructions on rebuilding data files using the "vutil" command.

If nothing seems to work (your computer needs repair), you will still have your original backup and the separate copy of current bad file to work with when it is returned. If you need help, feel confident in contacting SAMCO Support.

# **Configuration File: Technical Data**

You can customize many aspects of the runtime system by entering changes in the configuration file. It is a standard text file that can be edited. RUNCBL or WRUNCBL (the AcuCobol runtime) uses the configuration file to determine what options will be used.

The configuration file is named "config" and is kept in the top-level SAMCO directory (usually C:\SSI in Windows, or /usr/ssi under Linux/UNIX/XENIX).

Each entry in the configuration file consists of a single line. All entries start with a keyword or file name in column one, followed by one or more spaces or tabs, and then a value. The value consists of the rest of the line. Comment lines can be inserted by placing a # in column one.

# **File Name Assignments and Search Paths**

You can specify multiple directory names in your configuration file that you want RUNCBL to use, as it locates program and data files.

Program "object" files are located using the CODE-PREFIX configuration variable, while data files are located by the FILE-PREFIX variable. Each of these variables can specify a series of one or more directories to be searched.

Specify the directories as a sequence of space - delimited prefixes to be added to the file name.

**NOTE:** Any character required to separate the directory name from the file name must be present  $(\backslash, /, :, \text{ etc.})$ . The current directory can be indicated by a period (regardless of the host operating system). For example:

FILE-PREFIX . /u/ssidata

specifies that data files should first be searched for in the current directory and then in the /u/ssidata directory. The example below is frequently specified for Microsoft Windows systems to locate programs stored in the \payroll directory:

CODE-PREFIX C:\PAYROLL\

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

A.135

### **Accessing Printers**

SAMCO applications use the following names for printer files: PRINTER1, PRINTER2, PRINTER3, PRINTER3, etc., as well as SPRINTER1, SPRINTER2, SPRINTER3, etc.

The operator decides the value of x when a report is being printed by selecting a printer number on the screen. The value for "x" in PRINTERx comes from the *System Printers* file.

If you have multiple printers on your computer, you must edit entries in the configuration file to identify them.

The names of your printers will depend on your operating system and generally will fall into two classes: direct and spooled.

Direct printers make the program wait for each line to be printed, while spooled printers cause the program to write everything on disk, and the operating system program prints the disk file later.

Most Microsoft Windows printers are direct: PRN, LPT2, etc. When you match these names up to the PRINTERx names, precede the PRN, LPT2, etc. with a -D for device.

Likewise, a similar rule applies for direct UNIX devices such as /dev/lp. Sample entries for direct printers should look like the following, depending on your operating system:

Microsoft Windows "Direct" devices:

PRN
LPT2

UNIX/XENIX "Direct" devices:

PRINTER1	-D /dev/lp0
PRINTER2 -D	/dev/tty1a

It is important to insure that the users have access permissions to the named devices on UNIX and other multiuser systems.

The installation of spooled print devices is only slightly different. Because these are normally spooled, you will want to use the -P flag to specify a program to receive the print output.

On UNIX systems, the name should be translated to the appropriate system spooler. This is usually either lp (for System V) or lpr (for Berkeley UNIX). You will usually need to specify additional flags to access devices other than the default one.

If you are using the lp spooler, you should also specify the -s flag to suppress the "request id is . . ." message from appearing in the middle of your program (any such parameters are passed straight through to the spooler).

For example, suppose the site has two printers, a high-speed line printer (the default) and a laser printer. Furthermore, suppose System V UNIX is being used and the laser printer is accessed with the flag - dlaser. The following two lines should then be placed in the configuration file:

# UNIX/XENIX "Spooled" devices:

PRINTER1 -P	lp -s -dprinter1
PRINTER2 -P	lp -s -dprinter2

On Microsoft Windows systems, some versions of the print spooler program, PRINT, have problems associated with it. It displays messages that will scramble your screen, does not delete the disk file once it is printed, and AcuCobol cannot tell if the last job has finished printing and so may overwrite a first report with another.

For this reason, we recommend that you forgo using the spooler and write directly to all printers.

WE understand that there are several third-party print spoolers available. If you have access to one that avoids these problems, then you may want to specify it in a fashion similar to that shown below for network printers. Other third-party print spoolers replace the standard direct Microsoft Windows drivers, and in this case you may not need to make any changes to the configuration file to use them.

On Microsoft Windows Networks we have succeeded in spooling and directing printouts to all the printers on the system using a combination of:

1) Entries in the psconfig file

2) Entering commands in batch files

For example, you want to use one local printer as the direct printer and you want to access a laser printer and a label printer on the network as spooled files.

PRINTER1 would be the direct printer and will work that way "out of the box." The example below sets it up on a Novell network so that when the operator selects printer 2, it will go to the laser unit, and printer 3 goes to the label unit.

Config entries:

PRINTER1	-D	PRN
PRINTER2	-P	PPPP02 P2
PRINTER3	-P	PPPP03 P3

Batch file entries:

P2.BAT:

NPRINT PPPP02 JOB=LJPICA

DEL PPPP02

P3.BAT:

System Functions

Samco Power Accounting

A.137

#### NPRINT PPPP03 JOB=LABELS

#### DEL PPPP03

The file names to hold the spooled print lines could be anything we picked PPPP0x. Likewise, the batch file names P2 and P3 can be changed.

NPRINT is a print program on Novell networks it may be different on yours. And finally, yes, you control the names LJPICA and LABELS, too they match printer parameters your System Administrator has established for your network installation.

You may simply prefer to capture the printouts to the network spooler. You must do that before you start SAMCO. All printing will then be diverted to the designated printer. No entries are needed in config, nor do you require the Px.BAT files. However, you can't change printers mid-stream this way, and there is a limitation to how many printers are available at any one time.

# **Other Configuration File Entries**

In the previous section, configuration file entries to change file names used by SAMCO applications and printers were explained. There are over three dozen other entries possible.

These options are discussed briefly as follows:

**BELL** - Turns off all terminal bells (or beeps) if zero (BELL 0). The default is BELL 1 which lets the program send beeps to the terminal.

**BUFFERED-SCREEN** - If set to 1; displays to the screen are delayed and sent in groups which may improve overall performance on some UNIX systems. The default is 0.

**CODE-PREFIX** - Directory name(s) to be searched when loading programs (i.e. c:\psobj). The default value is "." which stands for the current directory. Samples of this entry are shown in a previous section, above.

**COLOR** – **MAP** - a variable to assign colors to programs that do not contain explicit color settings.

**FILE-PREFIX** - Directory name(s) to be searched when opening data files. The default value is "." which stands for the current directory. A further explanation of this entry can be found in a previous section, above.

**FILE-SUFFIX** - A variable to be appended to data file names that do not already have an explicit suffix such as DAT or FIL, etc.

**FLUSH-COUNT** - If set to zero (the default), system buffers are only flushed when an indexed file is closed. When set to some value, 10 for example, it directs that the buffers be flushed to disk when this number of records has been updated. Low numbers decrease performance but increase chances of recovering a file after power failure.

**FLUSH-ALL** - If set to zero (the default), MASS-UPDATE files buffers are not flushed. When set to 1, both the local and operating system caches for these files are flushed, this is safer but slower.

**FLUSH-ON-OPEN** - If set to 1 (the default on Microsoft Windows), the buffers are flushed after the first record is worked on to keep the "user count" accurate, this is safer but slower. If set to zero (the default on other systems), no special flush after open occurs.

**FLUSH – ON - ACCEPT -** If set to 1; the buffers are flushed each time data is accepted from the console. If zero (the default), other rules apply. This option may be useful for Microsoft Windows sites but penalizes performance on multiuser systems.

KEYBOARD - One or more variables can be included following this keyword:

**DATA-RANGE**= Two numbers separated by a comma that define the lower and upper ASCII values allowed as data input. The default is DATA-RANGE=32,255 which allows all the standard letters and numbers as well as European letters.

**EXCEPTION-RANGE**= Two numbers separated by a comma that define the lower and upper ASCII values processed as exceptions in the program. The default is EXCEPTION-RANGE=1,31 which defines the control codes on most keyboards.

**KEYSTROKE** - One or more variables can be included following this keyword to define and/or redefine the meaning of any key on the keyboard. The last entry on each KEYSTROKE line must be a two-character key name (its "termcap" name). The complete set of default values is laid out below in the terminal section. Some valid variables are:

**DATA**=nnn where nnn is the decimal value to be assigned to this key. This can be used to assign an alternate key when the key called for by the program isn't to be found on the keyboard.

**EDIT**=xxxxx where xxxxx is a third keyword that defines the editing action for this key such as: Backspace, Down, Home, Right, etc. A complete list is found below.

**TERMINATE**=nnn if present it indicates this key (enter, tab, etc.) terminates data entry and is not an exception key. The decimal value used (13, 09, etc.) is the value returned to the program.

**EXCEPTION**=nnn if present it indicates this key (F1, Up and Down Arrow, etc.) is what is called an exception by the program. The decimal value (1, 52, 53, etc.) is the value returned to the program.

**LOCK - OUTPUT** - If set to 1; it locks output files on multi-user systems for exclusive use of the current user and may dramatically improve performance. The default is 0.

**LOCKS-PER-FILE** - The default is 10. If an error is reported because this is inadequate on larger systems, change the value.

**MAKE-ZERO** - When set to zero, causes a numeric data item that contains non-numeric data to treat the data "as is". When not set to zero (the default), it changes non-numeric information to zero.

**MASS-UPDATE** - If set to 1; it will improve file performance at a risk of possible file corruption if a program is killed before it completes. The default is zero.

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

A.139

**MAX-LOCKS** - The default is the sum of all the locks-per-file, but if this causes an error, the correct value can be inserted.

**PAGE-EJECT-ON-CLOSE** - If set to 1; a blank page is produced at the end of each job. The default is zero which relies on the program to advance the paper at end of job.

**RESTRICTED-VIDEO-MODE** - Defines rules attempt to handle reverse video on "Magic Cookie" terminals such as Televideo 925 and Wyse 50. Codes of 1, 3, 5, and 7 direct the terminal handler in ways to work around the extra space taken by the reverse video attributes on the screen. These are not normally successful for SAMCO applications.

**SCROLL** - If set to zero; entries can prevents data on the screen from scrolling up and off the top (needed for SAMCO applications). If not zero (the default), entries on the last line of a screen can trigger scrolling.

**V-BUFFERS** - The number of indexed block buffers to allocate. The default is 32. Each buffer is 512 bytes. Setting this number larger will generally improve file performance. Setting it smaller will save memory. Any value from 0 to 256 is permitted.

**V-BUFFER-DATA** - If set to 0 less information will be lost if the power fails. If set to 1 the data blocks will be buffered and performance will usually improve.

**WARNINGS** - If set to 1; the runtime will warn when a numeric field contains non-numeric data.

#### Terminal Manager for Linux / UNIX, VMS, and AOS/VS

ACUCOBOL's runtime contains a terminal manager program that handles both the screen display and keyboard input. On Microsoft Windows systems the terminal rules are set automatically. On other operating systems the terminal rules come from the a\_termcap file.

Most of this section applies only to UNIX, VMS, and AOS/VS sites. These operating systems support a wide range of terminals.

It is not always easy to understand "who's in control" when working in this area. First, there are the terminal manufacturers (Wyse, IBM, NCR, Altos, DEC, etc.) who produce terminals that may or may not have all the necessary keys, and may or may not display all the desired graphics. Even if everything is available on a terminal, its internal codes may be quite different from the codes used by another manufacturer.

This difference in codes is rarely a problem for the letters and numbers, but it becomes quite a problem for special keys like PgUp and PgDn, INS, and the Function keys. Some terminals allow the user to define the values transmitted by their Function keys, so SAMCO applications cannot predict what it will see when these keys are pressed.

The second level of "who's in control" is the operating system. It normally passes all keys through to the program, but reserves a few to cancel a run, switch windows, or pause the application.

These assignments may conflict with codes SAMCO applications expect in this case the operating system wins and SAMCO applications will not see them.

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

A.140
The third level of control is established by a file called a\_termcap. It is distributed with the ACUCOBOL runtime (for non-DOS operating systems) and contains definitions for several popular terminals. You may have to make entries in this file. Each special code on a particular terminal's keyboard is converted to a predefined two letter code in the a\_termcap file. For example, PgUp is always matched to kP, Insert to KI, and Function Key 1 to k1.

The a\_termcap file lets you have a mix of terminals connected to your computer. This file is installed on UNIX and XENIX systems as "a\_termcap" and can usually be found in the "/usr/ssi" directory.

Sample entries are outlined below. If an editing key isn't defined in "a\_termcap", SAMCO applications may not see it.

The fourth level of control is established in ACUCOBOL's runtime configuration file (called "config" and found in the "/usr/ssi" directory). This file defines how RUNTIME handles the two-letter code passed to it by a\_termcap.

You can add KEYSTROKE instructions to this file to affect the way all terminals on the system process a particular code.

The fifth level of control is established in the SAMCO applications. The RUNTIME intercepts some keys such as backspace, right and left arrow, enter, but passes all the others through to SAMCO application. SAMCO applications behave identically on DOS and UNIX systems.

## **Defining Terminals in a\_termcap**

The a\_termcap file is similar to the "termcap" file supplied with many UNIX systems. You need a text editor to change it. Its editing rules are:

- 1. Each line of the file is: a) blank, b) a comment marked by a "#" in column 1, or c) the definition of a terminal.
- 2. A line may be continued on following lines by ending the continued line with a "\".
- 3. Terminal definitions consist of several fields. Each field is separated by a colon (:).
- 4. The first field must be the name of the terminal. Several names can be shown in this field. Each terminal name is separated by a vertical bar (|).
- 5. The remaining fields consist of two character codes that describe various terminal functions. Most of these codes are followed by an equals sign (=) and a coded string that describes what the terminal sends or expects to see. The coded string lets you define keyboard and display characters that most text editors won't easily handle, the single character is defined by the coded strings shown below:

\Ean escape character

\na newline (control-J)

\ra carriage return (control-M)

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

A.141

\t a tab (control-I)
 \ba backspace (control-H)
 \fa form-feed (control-L)
 ^XX is any character, treated as control-X
 \nnnthree digits treated as an octal value
6. The terminal definition ends on the first line with no continuation character, "\".
 3151|ibm3151|IBM 3151:\
 :is=\E"9 \$a\E!90 a:\
 :cm=\Ey%I%I:al=\EN:DL:LO=\E4@:HI=\E4H:\

:GO = E < A:GF = E < @:GM = qxlkmjvtwun:

:kB=\E2:kE=\EI:KX=\EQ:KI=\EP 010:\

:k1=\Ea^M:k2=\Eb^M:k3=\Ec^M:k4=\Ed^M:\

 $:k5 = Ee^M:k6 = Ef^M:k7 = Eg^M:k8 = Eh^M:k6 = Eh^M:k6$ 

 $:k9 = Ei^M:k0 = Ej^M:K1 = Ek^M:K2 = El^M:$ 

 $:\!K3 = \!\! \ \ E!a^M:\!K4 = \!\! \ \ E!b^M:\!K5 = \!\! \ \ E!c^M:\!K6 = \!\! \ \ E!d^M:\! \ \ \ \ A$ 

 $:K7 = E!e^M:K8 = E!f^M:K9 = E!g^M:K0 = E!h^M:$ 

:kL = EO:kA = EN:cd = EI:cl = EK:

:kd = EB:ku = EA:kr = EC:kl = ED:ku = ED:ku

:kh=\EH:nd=\EC:up=\EA:dl=\EO:

The sample a\_termcap entry for a terminal above shows many of the entries you will find in such files. For example, notice on the 4th line the entry RV = E4!a. This tells the terminal manager to send Escape,4,!, and a before each reverse video field. Likewise, notice on the last line the entry kh = EH. This tells the terminal manager that when it sees Escape and H to treat it as though the user has pressed the Home key.

The Runtime program supports over 70 two-letter function codes. Lower case function codes are identical to ones found in the "termcap" file on many UNIX systems. They can be taken verbatim from termcap and included in a\_termcap when adding a new terminal. The upper case functions may be unique to the ACUCOBOL runtime. Not every function and key code listed below needs to be defined for each terminal!

Output to terminal:

AC Attributes used by clear screen

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

A.142

B1-B8	Background color 1-8
BL	Blink
C1-C8	Foreground color 1-8
DI	De-initialization string
DL	Default intensity is low
DP	Disable print mode
EP	Enable print mode
GA	Graphics are attributes
GF	Graphics off
GM	Graphics map
GO	Graphics on
GX	Graphics movement glitch
HI	High-intensity, normal video
LO	Low-intensity, normal video
NM	Normal Video (only if "sg" set)
RA	Reverse video, alt (low) intensity
RB	Reverse video, blink
RU	Reverse video, underline
RV	Reverse video
UL	Underline
W3	Set terminal width to 132 columns
W8	Set terminal width to 80 columns
al	Insert (add) line
bc	Backspace cursor (defaults to ^H)
cd	Clear to end-of-screen
ce	Clear to end-of-line
cl	Clear screen
cm	Cursor positioning
со	Number of screen columns (default 80)

<u>System Functions</u> Samco Power Accounting

dl	Delete line
do	Down one line (defaults to ^J)
is	Initialization string
is	Additional initialization string
li	Number of screen lines (default 24)
nd	Non-destructive space
sg	Standout-mode glitch (uses magic cookies)
tc	Continue description with another entry
up	Cursor up one line

The Key Codes below define what key or keys have been pressed on the terminal. The key is converted to the two-letter function code. Sometimes a pair of keys have to be pressed simultaneously; i.e. control-Home, or Alt-K, to generate the code for the desired Key Code. Some of the Key Codes shown below are not currently honored by SAMCO or the runtime, but may be added later. They are shown to explain the entries you may find in the existing a\_termcap file distributed with the program. Note that the entries below are very case sensitive: kL, kl, and Kl have different meanings.

Code	Terminal Key	Microsoft Windows Key
k1-k0	Function keys 1-10	F1 - F10
kA	Insert line key(s)	Alt-I
kB	Tab left key(s)	Shift-Tab
kE	Clear to end of field	Ctl-End
kL	Delete line	Alt-L
kN	Page Down key	PgDn
kP	Page Up key	PgUp
kd	Down arrow key	Down
kh	Home key	Home
kl	Left arrow key	Left
kr	Right arrow key	Right
ku	Up arrow key	Up
K1-K0	Function keys 11-20	Shift F1-F10
KC	Clear field key	Ctl-Home

KE	End key	End
KI	Insert character	Ins
KP	Print	Alt-P
KX	Delete character	Del
Kc	Cancel	Alt-X
Kl	Word left	Ctl-Left
Kr	Word right	Ctl-Right

The entries below can be referred to in config by the Key Code shown, but they are not defined in a\_termcap; the value of the key comes right on through (unless intercepted by the operating system). SAMCO applications use the control-x codes as alternates to editing and cursor movement keys that may be missing on some terminals.

^[	Escape	Esc
127	DEL	Ctl-BkSp
^A	Control-A to	Ctl-A to
^Z	Control-Z	Ctl-Z
		Also: Control plus the following: ],^, and _
ZB	Host's Backspace	BkSp
ZK	Host's Line Kill	-

Needless to say, this may appear to be a bit daunting. If you have to define a terminal from scratch, we recommend you refer to a UNIX/XENIX User's Reference manual and study the rules for TERMCAP or TERMINFO which you will find under miscellaneous features and files. You will also need the technical manual that comes with the terminal.

Armed with that information plus this appendix, you can sit back, roll up your sleeves, and work on it like a big jigsaw puzzle, one piece at a time.

We have available a large library of termcap descriptions in a file called a\_tlib. You may find what you are looking for there. We did not put all these entries in a\_termcap because reading such a large file could introduce delays when you start up SAMCO applications.

You will have to use the block-save and read-a-second-file commands in your favourite text editor to move an a\_tlib entry to a\_termcap.

#### **Designing a\_termcap entry**

This is a brief tour of rules used by the terminal manager when reading and working with the information in your a\_termcap file. Four functions must be defined for before a terminal will operate:

- cm Cursor-positioning,
- cl Clear-screen,
- ce Clear-to-end-of-line, and
- cd Clear-to-end-of-screen.

Clear- screen should clear the whole screen and home the cursor. If your screen is not 24x80, use li# and co# to correct the size. Note these settings use # instead of = before the number.

Cursor- positioning (cm) coding is complex: row and column numbers from the program replace %-sign parameters. Percent- sign parameters also direct how cm works. Other codes can surround the row and column values. The default rule is that the first %-sign value is the row and the second is the column.

cm codes to insert values:

- %d Row or column number in ASCII, 0 origin.
- %2 Like %d but is always two digits.
- %3 Like %d but is always three digits.
- % Like %d but is one byte binary, Hex 0 origin
- %+x Adds x to % value to change origin.

cm codes that direct operation but output nothing:

- $\gg xy$  If value > x, add y.
- %r Reverse order, column first, then row.
- %i Make values relative to 1, not 0.

If %% used, cm sends one % to terminal. If binary values sent (%), then Cursor-up (up) and Backspace-cursor (bc) must be defined.

These functions should be included if supported for efficient display handling:

**Insert-line**;(al) to add a blank line at the cursor and move remaining lines down.

**Delete-line** (dl) to delete the cursor line, move remaining lines up, and add a blank line at the bottom.

Non-destructive- space (nd) to move cursor right one column.

Backspace (bc) to move cursor left one column.

Cursor-down (do) down one line.

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

A.146

Cursor- up (up) up one line.

Set- width-132 (W3).

Set- width-80 (W8).

SAMCO applications and the editing functions in the runtime use several more. These are the most useful ones:

- kl Left arrow key
- kr Right arrow key
- kd Down arrow key
- ku Up arrow key
- k1 k0 Function keys 1-10
- KI Insert character
- KX Delete character

These will work if defined and are available:

- kE Clear to end of field
- kN Page Down key
- kP Page Up key
- kh Home key
- KC Clear field key
- KE End key

The upper-case video attributes improve screen appearance. "RV" turns on reverse video, "HI" sets high intensity, "LO" sets low intensity.

If the terminal defaults to low intensity, "DL" without a value should be present. If a it is a "magic cookie" type terminal, see below, the entry "sg" (without a value) should be present and the "NM" function will be needed to restore normal video. If clear screen leaves the screen set to reverse video occasionally, the "AC" should be included to prevent this.

If the function keys on the terminal need to be initialized to return a predictable value to "k1-k0", you can do this by placing information after "is, is1, and is2". As an alternative you can use IS to initialize and DI to de- initialize the terminal at end of job. The codes to use a local printer connected to the terminal, EP and DP, are used to dial through a modem.

If adding a terminal that is just like another, you can point to the original terminal with the "tc" function. It must be the last entry. Entries in the new description override the old. Entries with no value, ":AL=:", remove the function from the old.

Low intensity

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

A.147

If you can't get low intensity attributes to work, you can forget them and still be a happy user of the system. We have found that an attribute reset string must sometimes precede the low intensity information to prevent an old reverse display from carrying forward. Sometimes high and low are reversed as the default brightness. You may have to play with it.

#### What are Magic Cookie terminals?

Most are based on the Televideo 925 and Wyse 50 units. You know you have one if a\_termcap has an sg entry: screen glitch. To display reverse video, these units require a cookie, or dead attribute position, before and after the reverse field. The cookies either move everything to the right or they blank out valid data. The default mode of operation for these terminals is to ignore the attributes other than intensity (RESTRICTED-VIDEO-MODE 0). To activate the NM, RA, RB, RU, RV, and UL functions, you must set RESTRICTED-VIDEO-MODE to 1, 3, 5, or 7. We have no value to recommend at this time.

#### **Function keys**

We have seen function keys be off by one position and track it to a common problem in this industry: do you start counting at one or at zero? Like the USA telephone dial, 0 means 10. Secondly, you can function without the function keys by selecting the control-x codes shown as alternatives.

Sometimes control codes can be dicey: for example, control-z causes a system pause on some UNIX systems. In this case, if the function keys work, tell the operators to never use these troublesome control keys. As a last resort, some relief may be possible using the runtime KEYSTROKE command.

#### **Insert and Delete Characters**

PC users are accustomed to inserting and deleting characters using **[Insert]** and **[Delete]** However, under UNIX-type systems some terminals don't have an **[Insert]** key and if you press the **[Delete]** key, the job may abort. This presents a problem.

Other terminal manufacturers have addressed this by adding Insert Character and Delete Character keys to the keyboard. We have seen as many as three different codes defined in one terminal book for this function.

We can't predict what you will find. Put the best alternative for Insert in the KI entry. The screen prompts to press the Del Chr or ^Y key to delete a character. You fill in the best option for the Del Chr key as the KX entry. This can be the dreaded DEL key if you have diverted the interrupt processing function to ^c as part of your startup procedure or script.

#### **Entries not honoured**

Invalid entries may be ignored by the terminal manager and/or your terminal. If the termcap file is too large (over 1K) on some older systems, entries at the end of a terminal's description may be ignored.

As some entries are almost redundant, you may have mistakenly defined a function by the wrong code. In some cases you must specify two or more terminal functions to get the desired a\_termcap function to work, but you don't want to send codes that reset and start fresh with each command because it will slow things down, so, just do it to solve problems.

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

A.148

The fastest way to get to the bottom of this is to find a terminal that allows you to go into program mode. It will display every character it receives in a string while honouring none of them. This lets you see exactly what is being sent.

Likewise, entering information into a text editor such as vi when the terminal is defined as a very dumb unit may let you see what the equipment is really sending.

#### **Redefining and Intercepting Keys in Runtime**

The runtime handles some editing and cursor- movement keys, SAMCO applications handle others. Some keys should be defined in a\_termcap, others as a KEYSTROKE in the runtime configuration file, and some not at all, let them pass through.

KEYSTROKE	Edit=Delete	KX
KEYSTROKE	Edit=Auto-Insert	KI
KEYSTROKE	Edit=Left	kl
KEYSTROKE	Edit=Right	kr

We add the entries below in our distributed configuration file so the runtime will intercept and handle some of the control codes we display, too:

KEYSTROKE	Edit=Delete	^у
KEYSTROKE	Edit=Auto-Insert	^f
KEYSTROKE	Edit=Left	^b
KEYSTROKE	Edit=Right	^r

The remaining control codes should be allowed to flow through. You can use KEYSTROKE entries to reassign some of these, but we recommend you proceed with caution. See the complete table of codes in the next section.

#### **ASCII Conversion Chart**

In the column headings, HEX means hexadecimal, DEC means decimal, and ASCII means the character used by the American Standard Code for Information Interchange.

HEX	DEC	ASCII	HEX	DEC	ASCII	HEX	DEC	ASCII
00	000	NUL	2B	043	+	56	086	V
01	001	SOH	2C	044	,	57	087	W
02	002	STX	2D	045	-	58	088	Х
03	003	ETX	2E	046		59	089	Y
04	004	EOT	2F	047	/	5A	090	Ζ
05	005	ENQ	30	048	0	5B	091	]

Syste	m Functions
Samo	o Power Accounting

HEX	DEC	ASCII	HEX	DEC	ASCII	HEX	DEC	ASCII
06	006	ACK	31	049	1	5C	092	١
07	007	BEL	32	050	2	5D	093	]
08	008	BS	33	051	3	5E	094	^
09	009	HT	34	052	4	5F	095	-
0A	010	LF	35	053	5	60	096	`
0B	011	VT	36	054	6	61	097	а
0C	012	FF	37	055	7	62	098	b
0D	013	CR	38	056	8	63	099	с
0E	014	SO	39	057	9	64	100	d
0F	015	SI	3A	058	:	65	101	e
10	016	DLE	3B	059	;	66	102	f
11	017	DC1	3C	060	<	67	103	g
12	018	DC2	3D	061	=	68	104	h
13	019	DC3	3E	062	>	69	105	i
14	020	DC4	3F	063	?	6A	106	j
15	021	NAK	40	064	@	6B	107	k
16	022	SYN	41	065	А	6C	108	1
17	023	ETB	42	066	В	6D	109	m
18	024	CAN	43	067	С	6E	110	n
19	025	EM	44	068	D	6F	111	0
1A	026	SUB	45	069	Е	70	112	р
1B	027	ESCAPE	46	070	F	71	113	q
1C	028	FS	47	071	G	72	114	r
1D	029	GS	48	072	Н	73	115	s
1E	030	RS	49	073	Ι	74	116	t

HEX	DEC	ASCII	HEX	DEC	ASCII	HEX	DEC	ASCII
1F	031	US	4A	074	J	75	117	u
20	032	(sp)	4B	075	K	76	118	v
21	033	!	4C	076	L	77	119	W
22	034	"	4D	077	М	78	120	х
23	035	#	4E	078	Ν	79	121	у
24	036	\$	4F	079	0	7A	122	z
25	037	%	50	080	Р	7B	123	{
26	038	&	51	081	Q	7C	124	1
27	039	,	52	082	R	7D	125	}
28	040	(	53	083	S	7E	126	~
29	041	)	54	084	Т	7F	127	DEL
2A	042	*	55	085	U			

# **File Utility Programs**

Two utility programs are provided to manage and transport the indexed files used by SAMCO Applications. These are called "vutil" and "vio."

Program "vutil" is used to recover corrupted files as explained below, while "vio" is used to copy files between different operating systems. We use it to create files to be installed on machines which we do not have in-house. A brief outline of these programs is provided below.

## VUTIL

This program performs several diverse functions:

**vutil -info** [-xp] [files] returns basic information about indexed files. The x option provides extended information and the p option pauses between files.

**vutil** -check [-af] [files] tests a file for internal consistency. The a option tests files with a non-zero user count more thoroughly and the f option tests all files thoroughly.

**vutil -rebuild** [-b #] [-ac] [+ce] [-d dir] [files] rebuilds or recreates indexed files. The b option and number identify a new blocking factor for greater performance than provided by the default one or two sectors per block. The a option automatically replaces the original file without asking. The + or - c option adds or removes record compression. The + e adds record encryption to the file, it can't be removed. The d option identifies an alternate directory to place the rebuilt file.

**vutil** -zero [files] resets the user count to zero. This user count is supposed to tell how many users are currently accessing the file.

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

A.151

**vutil** -extract file prints selected records. You are asked which key you want to use and a starting value for that key.

**vutil** -gen list directory initializes or creates an empty file using technical data provided in the list file.

**vutil -unload** source destination creates a binary sequential destination file from a source indexed file ordered by its primary key.

**vutil -load** [-ln] source destination creates an indexed sequential destination file from a source binary sequential file. A destination file must already exist as the result of Initialization or a -gen run above. This will add records to an existing file. Option n empties the destination file first. Option 1 turns off record locking during this run.

**vutil** -size [files] gives disk usage information that is useful when looking for candidates to rebuild when disk space gets tight.

**vutil -tree** file produces a listing of the internal B-tree of a file and is used by the maintenance staff to debug problems.

#### VIO

This program is a file transfer utility similar to UNIX's cpio. You can archive and extract files to disks, tapes, or other hard disks using Microsoft Windows, UNIX, VAX/VMS, and MV/AOS.

Multiple volumes are handled. Indexed data files are converted to the appropriate format for the target machine. Newline characters are translated to match the convention used by the receiving operating system (unless the file is designated binary). Byte- swapping is adjusted for.

It operates in two modes: output (-o) and input (-i). Output mode places files in the archive. Input mode extracts files from previously created archives. The formats of these two modes follow:

vio -o[bfghklprsv] < name-list > archive

vio -i[cdfghkmpstv] < archive [file ...]

In output mode, vio reads its standard input for a list of files to archive (unless the -l option is specified naming a disk file with the list in it). The archive files are written to its standard output (unless the -f option is specified permitting identification of the device name to be used).

Then later in the input mode, vio reads the archive from its standard input (unless the -f option is specified permitting a named device to be used) and extracts all the files with the same names, permissions, and owners. If you specify files on input, just those files are extracted, the name must match exactly and wild cards are not allowed.

For example, if you have a list of files, listfile, you want to copy to a disk drive, device, you could use the following command:

vio -ovblf listfile device

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

A.152

Then later, you can read this archive with:

vio -ivndf device

In the case of DOS machines, you specify the device as the drive name plus a disk type code from the table below:

- H 1.2 MB High-density 5.25"
- 3 1.44 MB High-density 3.5"
- 9 720 KB, 9-sector, low density 3.5"
- 8 320 KB, 8-sector, low density 5.25"

If you were reading the archive example above on a DOS machine with a 1.2 MB floppy, the command would be:

vio -ivndf a:h

Vio has a number of options described below:

- -b Block records during output, 10 records per block. A record is normally 512 bytes.
- -c Force all files to be placed in the current directory during input, ignore directory specifications on the archive.
- -d Create any needed sub-directories during input.
- -f Allows naming archive file in the next command-line argument instead of letting vio use its standard input or output as archive file/device. This avoids rekeying file name in multi-volume runs and is virtually required for DOS to name x: devices correctly.
- -g Rings bell when new volumes needed.
- -h Controls header processing when required on some media. During input you specify the number of bytes to skip from beginning of each archive volume. During output you specify name of a file to be copied to beginning of each archive volume.
- -k Change record size from 512 bytes to 1024, if required. Specify on both output and input when used.
- -1 Allows naming list of files to be archived as then next command-line argument. Vio uses this list instead of standard input. Each entry in list must be on a separate line.
- -m Restore file modification time and other attributes from archive.
- -n Assign current user as new user during input. Ignore user id on archive.
- -p Treat non-indexed files as pure binary or programs, do not perform newline and other text conversions. Designate this on both output and input command lines.
- -r Treat indexed files as raw data, do not analyze for conversion. Speeds running time, vio used as backup program supporting one type of machine.

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

A.153

- -s Establishes size of media. How many records will fit during output is shown as next command-line argument. During input, this option allows you to skip over volumes in order to recover data if errors occur on an early volume.
- -t To print titles of files found on archive.
- -v Verbose progress messages desired.

In addition to the examples shown above, vio can be used to create disk files which can be transmitted between two incompatible machines and then converted back to valid files on the new computer. For example:

vio -ovbl listfile > diskfile

Will create diskfile which is ready for transmission between machines. Then:

vio -ivnd < diskfile

will create the needed files from diskfile on the new machine.

The samples below will back up and restore program files on a DOS machine.

vio -ofpv < listfile a:8

Backs programs identified to disk in a:

vio -idfmpv a:8

Restores programs from disks.





# **Appendix "B" Handling Taxes**

In the chapter *Taxes* we discussed the functions used to create tax types, tax groups, taxable codes and ship-to groups. Taking this a step further, this appendix will give you some practical tips on setting up taxes for some of the more common situations.

Before continuing on, we highly recommend that you pull out the chapter titled *Taxes* and keep it as a handy reference when reading this appendix.

We will assume throughout this appendix that you already have a fairly good understanding of your company's common and not so common tax collection situations. Keep in mind that the percentages and tax statuses used in this chapter are only for example and may or may not be the actual situation in their respective provinces.

**NOTE:** If you <u>are not</u> using a billing module such as Accounts Receivable, Point of Sale, Billing, or Professional Invoicing, setting up taxes is not necessary as you would have no means of calculating them.

# Alberta Taxes (GST Only)

Alberta businesses that sell only to clients in the province of Alberta are one of the easiest scenarios to set up since a retail provincial sales tax (for the most part) is not levied. Under the assumption that only GST is charged on sales we will use this as our first example.

## **Tax Types**

Since the only tax that is being levied is GST, you need only set up one tax type using the *Tax Type* function. A sample code for this is shown below:



## **Tax Groups**

Again, since the only tax that is being levied is GST, you need only set up one tax group using the *Tax Groups* function. Here is a sample of the screen for a GST tax group:

File Edit AR IC OE SA A	P PC GL FA JC P	O BR PI CL FP PS RP	TA TR EQ F	
SM PA DX SR MS MP (	M SF Help			
Taxes Tax groups (Enter)		Yo Current period	ur Company Nam December,	
* 1. Tax gro 2. Descrip		a Tax Group		
3. Percent On-amt-over GST 5.00 .00	Account 2230-000 GST/HST_COLLECT	Tax-on-prev-tax	Misc Frght	Disc N
PST .00	USI/HST COLLECT			
HST .00	2230-000 GST/HST_COLLECT		$\mathbf{X}$	N
ECO.00				
ENV .00	2210-000 Environmental T	NNNN ax Collected		
Make changes, F1 = next tax g	oup E2 = delete E4 = -	Change screen		
Field number to change		Change screen		

#### **Taxable Codes**

The purpose of a taxable code is to identify a situation where an item (or group of items) has a different tax scheme for a customer (or groups of customers) or warehouse. Since the GST is levied the same across the country there would normally be no need to set up any taxable codes.

The only situation where a taxable code might be set up would be where an item has a different GST tax percentage compared to everything else. In this case you would set up a taxable code like the following:

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

B.156

• 1.			
	Faxable code	01	
2.1	Description	2.5% GST Tax Rate	
3.	Fax method	Percent	
	Tax percent 1 Tax percent 2	2.50 on amount over .00	
6. (	G/L account #	2170 GST/HST PAYABLE	
7.	Maximum taxable amount per unit	None	

In addition to this, a similar taxable code could be used where the GST percentage changed based on the selling price. For example, GST is charged at 7% on the first \$ 10,000 and 4% on the balance (or vice versa). To set this up you would set the first percentage of 7% and a cut-off amount of .00 and then a second percentage of 4% with a cut-off at \$ 10,000.

Handling GST exempt or zero rated situations is discussed below.

#### **A/R Customers**

When setting up A/R customers you must identify which tax group they belong to. Since we only have one tax group in this example, all customers would belong to that group.

The group each customer belongs to is set in field **29. Tax group**, of the customer record. To identify that a particular customer is GST exempt, you would change the taxable status of a customer using field **30. Default tax ?** and enter their GST exemption number.

(See Customer in the Accounts Receivable manual.)

#### **Inventory Items**

When setting up inventory items, field Default tax ? allows you to change the taxable status for each tax type set up in the Tax Type function. Since we only have GST in this example you could change the GST taxable status to taxable, exempt, zero rated, or included in the selling price.

To handle the scenario where an item has a different GST rate applied to it you would select Default tax ? and then add the taxable code for the different tax rate to the GST tax type. Below

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

B.157

is an example of an item that is charged only 2.5% GST. For this example we will use the taxable code example set up earlier.

ems				Acme Ente	erprise
iter					
Item number	Tax setup		CUADUTE		
32. Default tax?	Тур	Included?	Status		
33. Mfg part #	HST *	"n/a"	01		
34. Commis code					
35. Stock code					
36. Primary vendor	CP				
37. Vendor prod #		8			
38. Min order gty					
39. Lead time					
40. Alt-1 vendor#					
41. Alt-2 vendor#					
			43. Case factor	(Not applicable)	
42. Account numbers			44. Price list?		
			45. ABC code		
			46. B/O code	6	
			47. Warranty 1	(Not applicable)	
			48. Warranty 2	(Not applicable)	
ess F2 to enter tax status					Pg 1

When this item is sold, the system sees that it has a taxable code which overrides the default for the tax type. The system will use the percentage set up in the taxable code.

# **GST + Provincial Sales Tax**

Probably the most common tax situation in Canada is the charging of GST and PST. We will use the example of a company in the province of BC which sells to companies across Canada from a central warehouse in BC. For companies needing to handle multiple warehouses in different provinces, we recommend that you read over this section and then refer to the section titled **Multiple Warehouses** later on in this appendix.

#### **Tax Types**

To set up a GST/PST tax situation you need to first set up a GST and a PST tax type using the *Tax Types* function. Below is a sample code for this:

00   <del>4 6</del> 6 × v = 0 × 0 4	0 400		1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 -	
axes ax types (Enter)			Acme Enterp Main setup scr	
eq Cod Description HST HST/GST PST Provincial Sales Tax	Track exempt?	Track zero-rated? M	Distribute tax? N Y	

# **Tax Groups**

Similar to the Alberta tax handling only one tax group really needs to be set up. The changing of a customer's taxable status is best handled through the *Customer* function by flagging them as exempt for GST and/or PST.

Here is a sample of the group that should be set up:



If you are in a province that charges PST on top of the sub-total plus GST, you would set the flag **Tax-on-prev-tax** for PST to **Y** 

## **Taxable Codes**

A common purpose for using taxable codes in GST/PST only tax situations is to identify an item(s) that has a different GST or PST calculation method (percentage, ceiling amount, split calculation etc.).

For an example of how taxable codes can be applied to change a tax type, and the use of taxes for A/R customers and inventory items, please refer to the previous section titled **Alberta Taxes** (**GST Only**).

#### **Multiple Provinces**

In this section we will discuss how taxes might be set up for a company with sales offices (not warehouses) in multiple provinces and a central warehouse for shipping.

The problem which occurs in this situation is that each inventory item might have a different tax situation when sold out of different provinces.

For example, XYZ Company has offices across Canada but does its billing and shipping out of a central office in Toronto, ON. The tax situation for XYZ Company is usually very simple (PST taxable / GST taxable) except for one particular group of items ("How to..." manuals).

Unlike all other XYZ products, "How to..." manuals are taxable at the full rate in some provinces, taxed at a lower rate in others, and tax exempt in others. To handle this, XYZ would

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

B.160

set up tax group related codes for each province identifying the applicable tax group and tax change needed. Within each "How to ....." manual item, XYZ would attach the tax group related code to each provincial sales tax.

When a "How to....." manual is sold, the billing module will see that the item has a tax group related code attached to it. The system then looks to see if the customer's tax group matches up with that of the tax group related code. If it does, the tax group related code overrides the tax situation for that item. If not, nothing changes.

Using the above example we will narrow down the scope to sales in Nova Scotia and Ontario. In Nova Scotia "How to..." manuals are PST tax exempt, while in Ontario, "How to...." manuals are charged a lower rate of 4% (from 8%).

# **Tax Types**

XYZ Company would set up tax types for GST, and PST using the *Tax Types* function as follows:

	C PO BR PI PP I	PS TA PER PA DX	JE SF Help 院
Taxes			Acme Enterprises
Tax types (Enter)			Main setup screer
	Track	Track	Distribute
Seq Cod Description	exempt?	zero-rated?	tax?
HST HST/GST	Y	Y	N
2 PST Provincial Sales Tax		N	Y
TAB - exit, ENTER - change, F2 - add	1, F3  - delete	Pg 1	

You will notice that only one PST tax type is set up. This is because it simply relates to the type of tax it is and not where it is applicable or how it is implemented. The applicability of a tax in a province is determined at the *tax group* level where you set the rate and exemption information.

## **Tax Groups**

To handle the two provinces, one tax group would be set up for Ontario, and another tax group for Nova Scotia. The following two screen show how this might be done:

ax groups (En	ter)		Current perio	1.1	me Ente Augus t	, 201
	* 1. Tax grou 2. Descripti		] F - ON			
3. Percent	On-amt-over	Account	Tax-on-prev-tax	Misc	Frght	Disc
	1	GST/HST PAYA	ABLE		0	
ST .00		2168	N	×	×	N
		PST PAYABLE			-	-
		PST PAYABLE				



# **Taxable Codes**

In order to handle the taxable situation for "How to...." manuals where both the Nova Scotia and Ontario taxes are different from their normal setting, XYZ Company would set up a taxable code "header" for the "How to...." manual tax situation and *tax group related codes* with the "header" for each tax change. The following three screens show examples for each:

0 2 4   0 0   H)		Acme Enterprise
able code	01	
cription	"How to" Manuals Taxes	
method	Txb1-cod	
able status	Taxable	
cimum taxable ount per unit	None	
ext taxable code, nange 7	F3 – delete	
	cription method able status imum taxable ount per unit ext taxable code,	cription "How to" Manuals Taxes method Txb1-cod able status Taxable ount per unit None ext taxable code, F3 = delete



<u>System Functions</u> Samco Power Accounting

xable codes	s (Enter)		Acme Enterpris
	1. Taxable code	01 "How to" Manuals Taxes	
	A/R tax group	ON HST - ON	
	2. Description	ON 4% Tax	
	3. Tax method	Percent	
	4. Tax percent 1	4.00 on amount over .00	
	5. Tax percent 2		
	6. G/L account #	2168 PST PAYABLE	
	7. Maximum taxable amount per unit	None	

How these taxable codes are used is discussed under Inventory Items below.

#### **A/R Customers**

For each customer XYZ sets up, they must attach a tax group code to the customer record in field Tax group. For Ontario customers they would attach the **ON** tax group code, while the **NS** tax group code would be applied to customers in Nova Scotia (see prior examples).

Customers that are exempt for any one tax can be set using field Default tax ? field.

### **Inventory Items**

Getting back to taxable codes, in our previous example we set up a taxable code "group" to handle "How to...." manuals. Below is the second screen of a "How to...." manual item:

You will notice that the taxable code **01** has been attached to PST tax type.

When this item is sold to an Ontario client that is PST taxable (for example), the system sees that the PST tax type in the item record has a taxable code. The taxable code is looked up in the tax file and identifies that there is a *tax group related* code for the Ontario tax group overriding the tax to 4%. The system will now charge 4% rather than the normal 8%.

items Enter			Acme Ente	rprise
Item number 32. Default tax? 33. Mfg part #	Tex setup Typ Included? HST "n/a" PST <sup>®</sup> "n/a"	Status [Txb]		
34. Commis code 35. Stock code 16. Primary vendor				

# **Multiple Warehouses**

In this section we will discuss how to best handle a situation where a company sells and ships product out of multiple warehouses. The problem for this situation is very similar to that of our previous examples in the section **Multiple Provinces**, individual items can have different tax situations for the same tax type.

For example, XYZ Company has a sales office and a warehouse in Toronto, and a warehouse only in Vancouver. When items sold to B.C. companies are shipped out of the Ontario warehouse they are PST tax exempt. When the same items are shipped out of the BC warehouse, they are PST tax payable.

The only difference between handling this situation from handling multiple provinces (as discussed in the previous section) is taxable codes. For this reason we will only tackle that portion, please read over the previous section in order to understand how the tax types, tax groups, and A/R customers are handled.

#### **Taxable Codes**

In order to handle the taxable situation for items sold out of the two warehouses, XYZ Company would set up a taxable code "header" for the BC warehouse and *warehouse related codes* with the "header" for each tax change. The following screen show how to set up a *warehouse related taxable code* to deal with the BC warehouse:



## **Inventory Items**

When setting up inventory items, the above taxable code would be attached to the PST tax type.

# **Environmental Taxes (Unit or Piece Taxes)**

This section will assist you in setting up unit / piece rate taxes. A prime illustration of this type of tax is an environmental tax; such as that charged on car batteries, tires etc.

For example, XYZ Auto Repairs sells car batteries. Each battery that is sold is levied a \$ 10.00 environmental tax. To handle this tax, XYZ Auto Repairs would set things up as follows:

#### **Tax Types**

An environmental tax type must be first set up in the Tax types function. A sample of this is shown below:

axes ax types (Enter)			Acme Enterprises Main setup screer
	Track	Track	Distribute
eq Cod Description	exempt?	zero-rated?	tax?
PST Provincial Sales Tax	M M N		
ENV Environmental Tax	N		N N

System Functions Samco Power Accounting

B.166

### **Tax Groups**

For each tax group, the environmental tax type should be set to 0%. The reason for this is that it is a unit tax and unit taxes are configured through the taxable codes function. The system handles piece rate taxes this way because it is most common for something like an environmental tax to be different from one item to the next. Essentially, the tax type within each group simply identifies that it is a valid tax. The actual rate is handled on the item level by including the *taxable code* with the environmental tax type.

Below is an example of a tax group that would include an environmental tax:

Taxes Tax groups (Er	iter)		Current peri	1.1	me Ente Augus t	
	* 1. Tax grou 2. Descripti		3 5T - AB			
3. Percent	On-amt-over	Account	Tax-on-prev-tax	Misc	Frght	Disc
HST 5.00	.00	2170		T	T	M
		GST/HST PA	ABLE			
PST 7.00	.00	2168	N	T	×	M
		PST PAYABLE				
ENV .00		2167	NN	×	×	N
		Environment	t Tax Payable	-		-
			and a second			
	- 10 M	1000	ete, F5 = Change screen			

## **Taxable Codes**

As was mentioned earlier, the rate set for the environmental tax is set up using the *Taxable codes* function. By doing this you would only have to set up one environmental tax type, and then set up all applicable tax rates using this function.

The following example screens show you a sample taxable code for an environmental tax type, and how it would be set up for the item:

TC: SF - Taxable codes, ente				And	
			PS TA PER PA DX IE SF	F Help	
	010100				
Taxes				Acme Enterprises	
Taxable codes (En	ter)				
* 1 Ta	xable code	EN			
2. De	scription	Environmen	tal Paint Tax		
3. Ta	x method	Unit-amt	J		
4. Pe	4. Per-unit tax amt		2,50		
5. G/	L account #	2167			
		Environmen	t Tax Payable		
Make changes, F1 -	next taxable cod	e, F3 = delete			
Field number to d	CONTRACTOR OF CONT				
	_				
4					
Barra; Enter				0	
	FA AT DO DE M C	I FP PS RP TA TR	EQ PER SM PA DX SR N	IS MP CM SF Help	
			※		
80×1×0++			<b>目</b> 除	Your Company Name	
X 8 = √ X J 2 ♣   				Your Company Name	
X 8 = √ X J 2 4   	000   #4			ITEM HAS ALTERNAT	
% S ≍ V X J 全 ♣ Type Item number	Item 8		≌≌ [" 1" Steel bolts	ITEM HAS ALTERNAT	
X S = ✓ X J ⊉ ♣ Type Item number Default tax?	Item 8			ITEM HAS ALTERNAT	
X © # V X Q ⊉ \$ Type Item number Default tax? Mfg part #	Item 8 N Tax unitup Typ		1" Steel bolts	ITEM HAS ALTERNAT	
% © # ♥ X ↓ ♥ ↓ Type Item number Default tax? Mfg part # Weight	Item 8 N Tarisetup Typp 1 GST	Included?	1" Steel bolts Status	ITEM HAS ALTERNAT	
X © # V X ↓ ♦ ↓ Type Item number Default tax? Mfg part # Weight	Item 8 N Teristrup 1 GST	Included? "n/a" "n/a"	" 1" Steel bolts Status	ITEM HAS ALTERNAT	
X © # V X J ♥ ♥ Item number Default tax? Mfg part # Weight Volume	Item 8 N Tristing 1 GST 2 PST HST (*	Included? "n/a" "n/a"	1" Steel bolts Status Z Txbl	ITEM HAS ALTERNAT	
X S # V X J Y A Type Item number Default tax? Mfg part # Weight Volume Commis code	Item 8 N Tristan 1 GST 2 PST 4ST (*	Included? "n/a" "n/a" "n/a"	1" steel bolts Status Z Txbl ZZ *** Not	ITEM HAS ALTERNAT	
X S # X X X A A Type Item number Default tax? Mfg part # Weight Volume Commis code Stock code	Item 8 Tarintop 1 GST 2 PST 4 ST 0 C ECO C ENV	S <>> Included? "n/a" "n/a" "n/a" "n/a"	1" Steel bolts Status Z Txbl ZZ *** Not of Txbl	ITEM HAS ALTERNAT	
X S # V X J Y A Type Item number Default tax? Mfg part # Weight Volume Commis code Stock code Primary vendor	Item 8 Tarintop 1 GST 2 PST HST 0 C ECO C ENV 1	S <>> C <->	1" Steel bolts Status Z Txbl ZZ *** Not of Txbl	ITEM HAS ALTERNAT	
X © # ✓ X ↓ ♦ ↓ Type Item number Default tax? Mfg part # Weight Volume Commis code Stock code Primary vendor Vendor prod #	Item 8 Tar step 1 GST 2 PST 6 C ECO C ENV 1 8888	o < • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	1" Steel bolts Status Z Txbl ZZ *** Not of Txbl	ITEM HAS ALTERNAT	
X S = X X X X Y Item number Default tax? Mfg part # Weight Volume Commis code Stock code Primary vendor Vendor prod # Min order qty	Item 8 Tarintop 1 GST 2 PST HST 0 C ECO C ENV	S <>> C <->	1" Steel bolts Status Z Txbl ZZ *** Not of Txbl	ITEM HAS ALTERNAT	
<ul> <li>Solution</li> <li>Solution</li> <li>Type Item number</li> <li>Default tax?</li> <li>Mfg part #</li> <li>Weight</li> <li>Volume</li> <li>Commis code</li> <li>Stock code</li> <li>Primary vendor</li> <li>Vendor prod #</li> <li>Min order qty</li> <li>Lead time</li> </ul>	Item 8 Tar shap 1 GST 2 PST 6 C ECO C ENV 1 88888 10.00 20 Days	o < • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	1" stel bolts Status Z Txbl ZZ *** Not ( Txbl Txbl	ITEM HAS ALTERNAT	
<ul> <li>S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S</li></ul>	Item 8 Tar shap 1 GST 2 PST 6 C ECO C ENV 1 88888 10.00 20 Days	CASE	1" stel bolts Status Z Txbl ZZ *** Not ( Txbl Txbl	ITEM HAS ALTERNAT	
<ul> <li>S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S</li></ul>	Item 8 Tar shap 1 GST 2 PST 6 C ECO C ENV 1 88888 10.00 20 Days	CASE	1" stel bolts Status Z Txbl ZZ *** Not ( Txbl Txbl	ITEM HAS ALTERNAT	
X S X X X X X X Y Item number Default tax? Mfg part # Weight Volume Commis code Stock code Primary vendor Vendor prod # Min order qty Lead time Alt-1 vendor# Alt-2 vendor#	Item 8 Tar shap 1 GST 2 PST 6 C ECO C ENV 1 88888 10.00 20 Days	CASE	1" stel bolts Status Z Txbl ZZ *** Not of Txbl Txbl Txbl	on file ***	
<ul> <li>S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S</li></ul>	Item 8 Tar shap 1 GST 2 PST 6 C ECO C ENV 1 88888 10.00 20 Days	CASE	1" steel bolts Status 2 Txbl 22 *** Not of Txbl Txbl Txbl 49. Case factor 50. Price list?	I.00	
<ul> <li>S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S</li></ul>	Item 8 Tar shap 1 GST 2 PST 6 C ECO C ENV 1 88888 10.00 20 Days	CASE	1" steel bolts Status 2 Txbl 22 *** Not of Txbl Txbl Txbl	ITEM HAS ALTERNAT	
<ul> <li>S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S</li></ul>	Item 8 Ta whee Typ 1 GST 2 PST HST C ECO C ENV 1 88888 10.00 20 Days 105 E	Included? "n/a" "n/a" "n/a" "n/a" CASE Ballet Class	1" steel bolts Status 2 Txbl 22 *** Not of Txbl Txbl Txbl 5 5 5 6 7 5 7 5 1. ABC code	I.00	
<ul> <li>S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S</li></ul>	Item 8 Ta where 1 GST 2 PST HST (P C ECO C ENV 1 88888 10.00 20 Days 105 E	Included? "n/a" "n/a" "n/a" "n/a" CASE Ballet Class	1" steel bolts Status 2 Txbl 22 *** Not of Txbl Txbl Txbl 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 6 5 7 5 1. ABC code 5 2. B/O code 5 3. Warranty 1	ITEM HAS ALTERNAT	
	Item 8 N Tarrender 1 GST 2 PST HST (P C ECO C ENV 1 88888 10.00 20 Days 105 E N (Not app	Included? "n/a" "n/a" "n/a" "n/a" CASE Ballet Class	1" steel bolts Status 2 Txbl 22 *** Not of Txbl Txbl Txbl 5 5 5 5 5 6 5 7 5 1. ABC code 5 2. B/O code	ITEM HAS ALTERNAT	

The above example shows that the environmental tax for this item will be charged out at the rate specified in the *taxable code*.

<u>System Functions</u> Samco Power Accounting

B.168

# **Reporting Taxes**

If you are reporting taxes for multiple provinces, this is done at two levels. Since GST is not province dependent, you can generate a report using the aggregate total for the GST tax type levied through all *tax groups* regardless of what province they were charged to.

Provincial taxes are a little bit different since they must be remitted to the respected provinces. Within the various billing modules, a tax collected report can be generated for a tax type by responsible tax group.

For example, XYZ Company collects PST from clients across Canada via sales through their regional offices (see **Multiple Provinces** earlier in this chapter). For each province they have set up a *tax group* which, for all except Alberta, collect taxes for each regional government. XYZ generates the reports necessary for tax remittance by printing a tax report for the PST tax type for each tax group.